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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
BURR R

Dear Shareholders,

The Board of Directors presents the Annual Report of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 for shareholders’ review.

With the full lifting of the restrictions on the COVID-19 pandemic in early
2023, the Chinese economy has demonstrated a solid recovery. In the
process, although the pandemic had certain impacts on some of our sales
channels and business partners, the Group was able to effectively mitigate
these impacts with our resilience and flexible response strategies. In 2023,
we continued to deepen our efforts in the water resources industry and
beer industry in Tibet, committed to enhancing customer experience,
optimizing channel layout and striving to promote Tibet's quality products
to a wider consumer market.

Looking back at the past year, although the market environment was full
of challenges, unlimited business opportunities abounded. Our packaged
drinking water products saw a steady recovery in consumer flow in the
market channel, with sales volume growing significantly by 51% and
revenue increasing by 32.9% year-on-year. In the beer business, we firmly
implemented the strategy of enhancing our own brand, and barley beer,
our main category, accounted for 87% of our beer business revenue.
Through a series of strategic adjustments, the proportion of collaborative
products in total sales declined significantly, from 43% in 2022 to 0.1%
in 2023. This shift has resulted in a significant increase in the overall sales
volume and sales revenue of beer products of our own brand.

In order to promote the Group's continuous progress in the new journey,
we have formulated the following development strategies: firstly, base
ourselves on the Tibetan market, further optimize the national layout,
consolidate and expand market share; secondly, follow with the trend
of healthy consumption, strengthen product research and development,
and launch more products to meet the needs of consumers; meanwhile,
pay attention to the dynamics of the international market, and actively
explore the overseas market to seek more room for development; finally,
we always care about environmental protection and insist on sustainable
development, and continue to contribute to the building of a better future.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
HRRRHF

The management of the Group firmly believes that returning to the essence
of the products, enhancing customer experience, ploughing deep into the
value of the brand and maximizing returns for the shareholders are the
core drivers of our sustainable development. We will continue to focus on
the mass market and drive the Group’s business forward with a spirit of

pragmatism and innovation.

We would like to express our sincere gratitude to all our shareholders,
customers and other business partners. It is thanks to your unfailing
support that we have been able to grow in spite of the challenges.
Meanwhile, we would also like to express our sincere gratitude to our
senior management and staff at all levels of the Group. In the past year,
you had made significant contributions to the development of the Group
with your high sense of responsibility and dedication.

Looking ahead, we will continue to work hard to return the expectations

of the shareholders and society with even better results. Let's work hand in
hand to create a better future.

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
BRRBERIFHBHRE

| Y —

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=t—-HLEE

2023 2022 Change
—E-=fF —EC-CF e
(RMB'000) (RMB'000) %

(AR®FR) (AR®TT)

Revenue WA 314,428 311,947 10.8%
Operating loss REER (83,387) (83,984) 10.7%
Adjusted EBITDA* HEERETE (24,612) (34,672) 1 29.0%
K SHA B R
Loss for the year attributable to RATHEA AEMN (352,867) (102,466) 1244.4%
owners of the Company FEEE
Loss per share BREE
— Basic and diluted (RMB cents) —BEALEE(ARES) (8.97) (3.69) 1143.1%
Gross profit margin EFE 24.7% 29.1% | 4.4% point
B

[ W —

As at 31 December

R+=-—H=+-H
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-=
(RMB'000) (RMB'000)

(AR®FR) (AREBTR)

Total assets BERHE 3,985,556 4,140,133
Equity attributable to RRABHE AELER
owners of the Company 2,855,761 2,859,460
* Adjusted EBITDA is not an accounting measure under IFRS which should be read in * FEERR SR E R AR 3F B R A
conjunction with Note 6(b). BmEENBTH G REIE  FHEME

6(b) —ERHE
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

PHERERTFHRHE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t-HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
=t “E--F  -E-%E —E-NE
PROFITABILITY DATA (RMB million) EFEB(AREEEL)
Revenue WA 314 312 456 493 721
Gross profit e 78 91 191 215 404
Operating (loss)/profit me(BR)/FHE (83) (84) 37 81 133
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(ER)/FE (353) (102) 47 17 (745)
PROFITABILITY DATA (%) BFERE (%)
Gross profit margin ESIES 24.7% 29.1% 41.9% 43.6% 56.0%
Operating profit margin TEMEx NA RER  NATER 8.2% 16.4% 18.4%
Net profit margin FHEE NA TER  NATER 10.3% 34%  NATER
Return on total shareholders' equity R faprt Al mhe NA RER  NATER 1.7% 06%  NATER
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES DATA EEHAREE
(RMB million) (\R®FET)
Non-current assets FnBEE 2,329 2,605 2,631 2,115 2,305
Current assets THEE 1,657 1,535 1,518 2,037 1,958
Current liabilities nBERE 1,061 954 929 1,280 1,376
Non-current liabilities FRBER 69 327 389 150 184
Equity attributable to owners of RRAEBA
the Company ElbER 2,856 2,859 2,831 2,722 2,702
ASSETS AND WORKING EEREEAGHE
CAPITAL DATA
Current assets ratios TMEEELX 41.6% 37.1% 36.6% 49.1% 45.9%
Gearing ratios EXEBLE 20.9% 21.1% 21.3% 25.1% 27.1%
note: MsE -

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

8 TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2023

LRI MR GRS AV BREN 7 -



MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IR &)

T




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2023, the Group continued to be committed to the development of
Tibet's water resources industry and beer industry, strived to enhance
customer experience and optimized channel expansion so that Tibet's
unique and quality products could reach more consumers and potential
consumers.

In 2023, the global economic situation showed a complex recovery pattern,
and after three consecutive years of pandemic, domestic consumption
performance shows a recovery trend. The major market channels of
packaged drinking water products of the Group, including airlines,
hotels, cinemas, restaurants and entertainment venues, saw a recovery in
consumer flow across the board, with sales volume increasing significantly
by 51% and revenue growing by 32.9% year over year. The beer business
segment had been implementing further strategies to promote our
own brand, with green barley beer being the main source of revenue,
accounting for 87% of the revenue of the beer business. At the same time,
the Group also segmented its market consumers, developed and enriched
product categories such as “Tibet Beer”, which is a non green barley beer,
to create a differentiated market positioning. Based on these strategic
measures, the share of collaborative products in total sales decreased from
43% in 2022 to 0.1% in 2023. As a result, the overall sales volume and
sales of the Group's beer products both declined in 2023.

In 2023, the scale of the Group’s bank financing in Tibet decreased.
The Group also actively utilized and took advantage of the offshore
financing platform of listed company and successfully completed two
equity financings in early 2023 and 2024, which provided strong support
for stabilising the Group’s business operations. The shareholders of the
Company have fully demonstrated their recognition of and confidence
in the future development of the Group by actively participating in the
financing activities as well as giving actual inputs. The management of
the Group has always believed firmly in returning to the products as the
cornerstone, enhancing customer experience as the goal, ploughing into
the brand value as the orientation, and maximizing returns for shareholders
as the core to gather momentum for the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEBNRR A

FINANCIAL REVIEW
REVENUE ANALYSIS

In 2023, due to the reasons mentioned in the “Business Review" section
above, the total revenue of the Group amounted to RMB314 million,

representing an increase of 0.8% in comparison with 2022.

The revenue generated from our water business segment was RMB87
million, representing an increase of 32.9% in comparison with 2022.
As the economy began to recover, the sales volume of water products

increased significantly, resulting in an increase in revenue.

For the beer business segment, the year over year change is as follow:

Bt 5 Bl B
WA 7 #
E-T-=F R L[ XBOE] SR

MHEE  AEENBERAEAARK314
B BT -—FFAT08%-

KEBHBHBABAREES 7008 T ' 18
W= E-F FAHT7329% - TEHNEE
B ARAFEHERBHKEMNEE
BEEAUBRAEF -

EREBEEHE > B mT

2023 2022

—EI=F —TF % & F)

Volume (hectoliter) HE (BH) 298,196 364,717 | 18.2%

Revenue (RMB'000) WA (AREFT) 223,169 246,442 1 9.4%

Adjusted EBITDA* (RMB'000) FEER BT E R

AR (ARBFIT) 58,523 93,037 137.1%
* Adjusted EBITDA is not an accounting measure under IFRSs which should be read * Eﬂ?&fﬂ? B85 57 8 K 45 A1 R 3 3F BB B
in conjunction with Note 6(b). BREFENBETHRTEREBIVE - FEMF

6(b) —FERIFE o

In 2023, the overall gross profit margin of the Group was 24.7%, which
decreased by 4.4 percentage points when compared to 2022. The gross
profit margin of the water business segment was 10.3%, which decreased
by 0.9 percentage points when compared to 2022. The gross profit margin
of the beer business segment was 28.9% in 2023, which decreased by
5.0 percentage points when compared to 2022. The decrease in the gross
profit margin was mainly due to the higher fixed costs allocated due to the
decrease in sales volume of beer products.

EZZT-_=F A5ENEBRENZXR
M7%’ﬁ_T**$ﬁmTMT44ME
DE e KEBHBHENER10.3%
T _FHEETRTOOER DR - BBE
BN ENEE-_T-_=F/5289% ' &
T FRETERTS0OEESE - £F
ETREBEHNEHEREES THRMS
Fic & (& 7E A ANSE 0 o

/\—
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEBNRR A

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION COSTS AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

In 2023, the selling and distribution costs increased by 68.8% to RMB50
million from RMB30 million in 2022, mainly due to an increase in brand
and business marketing promotion expenses of approximately RMB13
million and an increase in transportation costs due to an increase in
water sales. The administrative expenses increased by 18.7% from RMB75
million in 2022 to RMB89 million in 2023, mainly due to the increase in
professional service expenses and the increase in number of operation and
management personnel in PRC, which led to the increase in salary and
welfare expenses.

ALLOWANCE FOR ECL ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

Allowance for ECL on financial assets mainly included the allowance
for ECL on trade receivables, loan receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost. The allowance for ECL on trade receivables was
RMB24 million in 2023 (2022: RMB87 million). The decrease was due to
improvements in the overall aging of trade receivables. The allowance
for ECL on loan receivables was RMB1 million in 2023 (2022: Nil). The
allowance for ECL on other financial assets at amortised cost was RMB12
million in 2023 (2022: RMB2 million).

OTHER GAINS, NET
In 2023, other gains, net was RMB15 million (2022: RMB18 million), which

mainly included the government grants of RMB13 million (2022: RMB19
million).

SHARE OF RESULT ON INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

In 2023, the share of loss on investments accounted for using the equity
method was RMB0.26 million (share of loss in 2022: RMB11 million). The
decrease in share of loss was mainly due to the fact that the consolidated
share of losses of associated companies has gradually narrowed.

12 TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEBNRR A

IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

The impairment loss on investment accounted for using the equity method
related to the Group's investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu. The impairment
loss is made based on the results of the impairment test in accordance with
IAS36. The management of the Group has reviewed the key parameters
relevant to the impairment test of the investment and made amendments
to those parameters of Shannan Yalaxiangbu, if necessary, in order to
reflect the best estimate for the development of the market and Shannan
Yalaxiangbu in the future. Business from 2020 to 2023 was hampered
by the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. Recently, the management
has noticed that the economic growth of the PRC slowed down and the
competition in the overall fast consumer goods industry was intensifying,
which had significant adverse impact on the production and sales of
Shannan Yalaxiangbu in 2023. As a result, compared with the operation
forecast made as at the timing when the Group acquired Shannan
Yalaxiangbu, the expected growth trend of Shannan Yalaxiangbu showed
fluctuations in varying degrees. Given the unclear development trend in the
future and the existence of various uncertainties, the management of the
Group made amendments to the key parameters in the impairment analysis
of the investment in a prudent manner in accordance with 1AS36, hence
an impairment loss on the investment of RMB261 million was recognised
accordingly. It is a one-off non-cash item and has no impact on the
Group's daily operation and cash flow.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

In 2023, the income tax expense was RMB5.9 million which increased by
RMBO0.6 million when compared to RMB5.3 million in 2022.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

For the reasons mentioned above, in 2023, the loss for the year was
RMB353 million compared to the loss of RMB102 million in 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWR DA

OTHER FINANCIAL POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2023, investments accounted for using the equity
method of the Group amounted to RMB1,216 million compared to
RMB1,444 million as at 31 December 2022. The decrease was mainly
because in 2023, the Group recognised the impairment loss on investment
in Shannan Yalaxiangbu of RMB261 million.

As at 31 December 2023, inventories of the Group amounted to RMB119
million compared to RMB107 million as at 31 December 2022. The increase
was mainly attributable to an increase in raw materials and finished goods
inventories.

As at 31 December 2023, net trade receivables of the Group amounted to
RMB182 million compared to RMB190 million as at 31 December 2022.
The Group maintained regular contact with our major debtors through
meetings and telephone conversations and paid regular attention to public
information about our major debtors to understand the status of their
operations, their continuing business needs, and the ways in which the
Group can improve its services.

As at 31 December 2023, the loan receivables of the Group amounted
to RMB75 million compared to nil as at 31 December 2022. The balance
includes loan to third parties with relevant license in Hong Kong. The
balance of loan receivables was fully settled in March 2024.

As at 31 December 2023, prepayments (current portion) of the Group
amounted to RMB252 million compared to RMB199 million as at
31 December 2022. The increase was mainly due to the increase in
prepayment for purchasing raw materials.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEBNRR A

As at 31 December 2023, other financial assets at amortised cost, net of
allowance for ECL of the Group amounted to RMB1,007 million compared
to RMB980 million as at 31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2023,
other financial assets at amortised cost mainly included the amounts due
from third parties amounting to RMB960 million; the amount due from an
associate amounting to RMB16 million; and other receivables amounting
to RMB72 million. As at 31 December 2023, allowance for ECL on other
financial assets at amortised cost amounted to RMB41 million.

As at 31 December 2023, trade and notes payables of the Group amounted
to RMB154 million compared to RMB247 million as at 31 December 2022.
The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in notes payables of RMB67
million.

As at 31 December 2023, contract liabilities of the Group amounted to
RMB17 million compared to RMB35 million as at 31 December 2022.
The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in advances received from
customers of the sales of water and beer products.

As at 31 December 2023, accruals and other payables of the Group
amounted to RMB161 million compared to RMB181 million as at 31
December 2022. As at 31 December 2023, accruals and other payables
mainly included salary payables and welfare payables amounting to
RMB22 million, payables for value added tax and other taxes amounting
to RMB7 million, professional service fee payables amounting to RMB8
million, amounts received from a third party amounting to RMB37 million,
loan from a third party amounting to RMB9 million and other payables
amounting to RMB78 million.

As at 31 December 2023, the bank borrowings of the Group decreased by
RMB26 million when compared to 31 December 2022, which was mainly
because of the net repayment of principal of bank borrowings in 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEBNRR A

As at 31 December 2023, the liability component of the Convertible
Bonds issued by the Company amounted to RMB321 million, compared to
RMB309 million as at 31 December 2022. In March 2021, the Company
issued the Convertible Bonds with principal amount of approximately
HKD380 million (equivalent to RMB318 million) bearing interest at the rate
of 5.0% per annum. Further details of the Convertible Bonds are set out in
Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements of this report.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of employees of the Group was
368 compared to 347 as at 31 December 2022. Relevant staff cost of the
Group was RMB77 million in 2023 (2022: RMB68 million).

The Group's remuneration policies are formulated according to the duty,
experience, ability and performance of individual employees and are
reviewed annually. In addition to basic salary, employees are entitled to
other benefits including social insurance contribution, employee provident
fund schemes and discretionary incentive. Other fringe benefits, training,
and share options, if applicable, are also considered by the Group to solicit/
retain loyal employees with the aim of forming a professional and united
staff and management team that can bring the Group to higher levels of
achievements.

The Company adopted a share award scheme in 2017. Up to 31 December
2023, no share has been granted by the Group to any parties under the
share award scheme.

The Company adopted a new share option scheme in 2023. Up to 31
December 2023, no share option has been granted under the share option
scheme.

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio is calculated as borrowings (including bank borrowings,
liability component of convertible bonds and borrowings from third parties)
divided by total capital. The total capital is calculated as "equity” as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus borrowings
(including bank borrowings, liability component of convertible bonds and
borrowings from third parties). As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December
2022, the gearing ratios of the Group were 20.94% and 21.12%,
respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEBNRR A

MERGER AND ACQUISITION

In 2023, to further expand the sales channels of the Group’s water
business, the Group acquired 11 % equity interests in Tibet Life Water
Marketing, a company incorporated in the PRC with other limited liability,
at a consideration of RMB33 million. Prior to the acquisition, the Group
already held 38% equity interests in Tibet Life Water Marketing. Upon
completion of the acquisition, the Group held 49 % equity interests in
Tibet Life Water Marketing.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

In 2023, the Group acquired PP&E of RMB14 million (2022: RMB6 million).
Regarding the future development and outlook of the Group, please refer
in this

to the section headed “Outlook” “Management Discussion and

Analysis” section.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had committed to purchasing PP&E
and related projects of approximately RMB14 million (31 December 2022:
RMB5 million). The funding sources related to these commitments are
expected to be disbursed from the Group’s own capital.

CHARGES (OR PLEDGES)

As at 31 December 2023, (i) a bank loan with a remaining balance of
RMB150 million of the Group was secured by the pledge of 35% of equity
interest in Tibet Tiandi Green Beverage Development Co., Ltd, 7% of equity
interest in Tibet Highland Natural Water Limited, and mineral water mining
rights of the Group in Dangxiong; (i) a bank loan with a remaining balance
of RMB94.5 million of the Group was secured by the pledge of 20% of
equity interest in Shannan Yalaxiangbu; (iii) a bank loan with a remaining
balance of RMB80 million of the Group was secured by the pledge of
land use rights of a third party of the Group; and (iv) a bank loan with a
remaining balance of RMB102 million of the Group was secured by the
Group's factory plant with net book value of RMB49 million and land use
rights with net book value of RMB25 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWR DA

As at 31 December 2023, the bank acceptance notes amounting to
RMB111 million were guaranteed by bank deposits of RMB11 million.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group provided financial guarantee net amounted to RMB245 million
(31 December 2022: RMB265 million) to an associate as at 31 December
2023. As at 31 December 2023, the guarantee was provided for bank
borrowings obtained by the associate in the net amount of RMB245
million. The period of the guarantee for bank borrowings in the net
amount of RMB160 million is from 27 September 2023 to 27 September
2024. The period of the remaining bank borrowings guarantee amounting
to RMB85 million is from 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2024,

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group adopts a conservative approach to cash management and risk
control. The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of its business
transactions denominated in RMB. However, the Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from its cash exchange transactions, which
are primarily denominated in HKD. To mitigate the impact of exchange
rate fluctuations, the Group continually assesses and monitors its exposure
to foreign exchange risk. During 2023, management of the Group did not
consider it necessary to enter into any hedging transactions in order to
reduce the exposure to foreign exchange risk because the exposure, after
netting off the assets and liabilities subject to foreign exchange risk, was
not significant.

PRODUCTION CAPACITY

In 2023, the annual water production capacity and annual beer production
capacity are approximately 300,000 tonnes and 2,000,000 hectoliter
respectively, same as in 2022. The Group will assess its production capacity
periodically and consider increasing production capacity to meet the
demands of future development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEBNRR A

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has adopted internal control measures to monitor the
continuous compliance with relevant laws and regulations such as the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the SFO, the Listing Rules and other rules
and regulations implemented in relevant jurisdictions. Also, as the Group’s
major subsidiaries are located in the PRC, relevant regulatory requirements
on the Group include PRC government policies and regulations towards
the mineral water industry, PRC laws and regulations on environmental
protection, PRC laws on regulation of manufacture and sales of general
food products, PRC taxes, regulation of foreign currency exchange and
dividend distribution, and other relevant PRC laws and regulations. During
the financial year ended 31 December 2023, as far as the Board is aware,
the Group has complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation
of the Group. The Group continues its commitment to comply with the
relevant laws and regulations.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

In order to maintain the quality and safety of our products, we have
established a “water protection zone” of 60 square kilometers around
our water source. No human activities are allowed in the most restricted
zone and the spring source has been secured in a fully enclosed facility to
prevent any potential contamination.

Our production facility generates and/or discharges wastes including waste
water, plastics, papers or air pollutants during the production activities.
We consider the protection of the environment to be of utmost importance
and have implemented procedures for waste storage, handling and/or
disposal. The Group aims to minimise the impact of our activities on the
environment and requires our staff to follow the same principle. We adhere
to the principles of low carbon emission, waste and emission reduction,
energy and cost saving and an overall environmentally friendly approach in
the way we operate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEBNRR A

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Board believes in being people-oriented. The employees of the Group
are one of the most important assets of the Group and their contribution
and support are highly valued. The Group ensures staff are reasonably
remunerated with regular reviews on compensations and benefits policies in
accordance with the industry benchmark as well as the individual performance
of the employees. Other fringe benefits, training, employee provident fund
and share options, if applicable, are provided by the Group to solicit/retain
loyal employees with the aim of forming a professional and united staff and
management team that can bring the Group to higher levels of achievements.

The Group seeks to maintain good relationship with its customers. The
Group maintains an after-sales call center to serve the end customers of
our products, and the sales personnel make regular visits and/or phone
calls to the regular distributors and sales outlets in the market. If there is
any complaint from customers, it will be reported to the management and
immediate remedial action will be taken. Thereafter, the cause of such
complaint will be studied, analysed and evaluated, and recommendations
will be made for future improvement.

The Group also seeks to maintain good relationship with its suppliers.
During the year, there was no dispute in debts or unsettled debts. In
addition, whenever the Group places orders, our suppliers are willing to
accept our orders.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board is aware that the Group is exposed to various risks, including
some which are specific to the Group or the industry in which the Group
operates as well as others that are common to most businesses. The
Board has established a procedure to ensure that significant risks which
may adversely affect the Group’s performance and ability to deliver on its
strategies, as well as those which may present positive opportunities, are
identified, reported, monitored and managed on a continuous basis.

1. Risks relating to our industry

The Group could be affected by change in consumer preferences,
perception and spending patterns relating to bottled water and beer,
particularly premium bottled water and premium beer. The growth in
demand for bottled water products and beer products in the PRC has
been driven in part by the overall growth in the PRC economy and
disposable income of consumers. Any macroeconomic changes in the
PRC that adversely impact consumer consumption for the beverage
products could have a material adverse effect on our business and a
decline in the market share of our products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEBNRR A

The Group faces increasing competition from domestic and foreign
companies, which may affect our market share and profit margin. The
bottled water and beer industry in China is highly competitive, and
we expect competition to intensify. Our ability to compete is, to a
significant extent, dependent on our ability to distinguish our product
from those of our competitors by providing higher quality products
and services at reasonable prices that appeal to consumers’ tastes
and preferences. Some of our competitors may have longer operating
histories, may have substantially greater financial and other resources
and may be better established in certain markets.

Risks relating to our Business

Our reliance on limited water source represents a risk to our business
if the mineral content and quality of the spring water from that
source are adversely affected due to changes in the surrounding
geological environment or contamination of the water source. In
order to maintain the quality and safety of our products, we have
established a “water protection zone” of 60 square kilometers
around our water source and also adhere to a strict quality control
system over all our operations.

As a premium products provider, we rely heavily on the product’s
brand names and our reputation to generate sales. Any event that
generates negative publicity for us could have an adverse effect on
the product’s brand names and our reputation, which in turn would
affect our ability to market and sell our products.

Our water products are bottled at water sources in Tibet, and our
beer products are also manufactured in Tibet. Our business may
be interrupted or otherwise affected if relevant transportation is
affected, and thus resulting in negative impact on our ability to
transport adequate raw materials to our production facilities and the
transportation of our products from Tibet.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEAWR DA

3. Financial risks

The Group's activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk, cash flow and fair value interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the
Group's financial performance. Details are set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS OF RIGHTS ISSUE

The Company’s rights issue of up to 1,019,797,000 rights shares (the
“Rights Share(s)"”) at the subscription price of HKD0.385 per Rights Share
on the basis of one (1) Rights Share for every three (3) existing shares held
by the qualifying shareholders (the “Rights Issue”) was completed on 30
January 2023, and an aggregate of 1,019,797,000 new shares had been
allotted and issued by the Company. After allotment and issue of new
shares and as at 31 December 2023, the Company’s number of issued
ordinary shares was 4,079,188,000. As at 31 December 2023, the net
proceeds of approximately HKD388 million had been fully utilized as to
70% for repayment of the external debts of the Group and as to 30% for
general working capital of the Group.

FINAL DIVIDEND

No dividend has been declared by the Company in respect of 2023 (2022:
nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEBNRR A

OUTLOOK

Root in Tibetan market and optimize national layout

The Group's abundant quality natural mineral water and natural water
resources in Tibet that are available for exploitation and use on a large
scale are a solid cornerstone for our future development. We will continue
to deepen the development, utilization and protection of quality water
sources in Tibet to ensure the stability and sustainability of the quality of
water sources, and to provide consumers with high quality, healthy and
safe drinking water and beer products. The Group will take into account
the cultural characteristics of Tibet, give full play to the advantages of its
origin, take the Tibet base market as its focus, strengthen the construction
of traditional channels, optimize the national layout and expand the market
coverage of our products, with the aim to attract more consumers to pay
attention to and purchase our products.

Enhance product development in line with health trends

As consumers are increasingly concerned about health concepts and
demand for product diversification, the Group will continue to increase
its investment in product research and development, strive to improve
the quality and taste of its products, and to develop and produce healthy
packaged drinking water, beverages and beer. The Group will continue to
adhere to the strategic position which takes the "5100” brand as the core,
through enriching the product range, optimizing the production process,
improving the quality of service and reducing production costs, in order to
provide a wider range of consumers with choices of high-quality mineral
water and other products which are better value for money. The Group
will invest more resources in brand promotion and market construction
to enhance brand awareness and reputation, so that more consumers will
understand and recognize “5100".
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEBNRR A

Focus on international developments and develop overseas markets

The drinking water concerns caused by Japan's discharge of contaminated
water have once again reminded us of the importance of drinking water
safety. It has not only affected domestic consumers’ perceptions, but also
triggered widespread international concern over drinking water safety.
Against this backdrop, the Group will closely monitor the dynamics and
changes in the international market, especially the packaged drinking water
market in Southeast Asia. With a large population and rapid economic
development, Southeast Asia has a huge potential for demand for high
quality drinking water. The Group will actively explore the Southeast
Asian market through the successful operation experience in the Hong
Kong market, and uphold the concept of “Tibet's good water, shared
by the world” to promote our quality mineral water products to a wider
international market.

Be concerned about environmental protection and insist on sustainable
development

In the face of environmental problems such as global warming and the
increase in extreme weather, the scarcity of potable water resources
is becoming more and more prominent. We are well aware of the
preciousness of resources. Therefore, while pursuing business development,
we will endeavour to enhance the efficiency of production resource
utilization and reduce wastage in the production process, so as to achieve
the Group’s sustainable development goals. At the same time, we will
strengthen the publicity and education on environmental protection
awareness, and promote the common concern of all sectors of the
society on the issue of water resources protection, so as to contribute to
sustainable development.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Please refer to Note 44 to the consolidated financial statements of this
report for the events after the reporting period.
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Executive Directors

Mr. CHOW Wai Kit, aged 56, is an executive Director, the company
secretary and authorised representative of the Company and was appointed
to the Board with effect from 1 January 2022. He is a member of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee. He joined the
Group in February 2011. Mr. Chow also serves as a director and company
secretary of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Chow accumulated extensive experience in corporate management,
corporate finance, financial management and accounting. Mr. Chow
began his career in the auditing profession and worked at an international
accounting firm in Hong Kong from 1990 to 2000. After that, Mr. Chow
was a key financial officer of various listed companies for over seven years.

Mr. Chow is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He
is also a fellow of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and
The Chartered Governance Institute. Mr. Chow obtained a master degree
in finance from the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology University
in 1999 and a professional diploma in company secretaryship and
administration from the Hong Kong Polytechnic in 1990.

Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing (former name: CHENG Henry Ming Chun), aged 47,
is an executive Director and was appointed to the Board on 25 May 2022.
He is the chairman of the Risk Management Committee.
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He is responsible for overseeing the business development and merger and
acquisition affairs, and legal and compliance of the Group. Mr. Cheng has
extensive experience in the areas of e-commerce, real estate, consumer
goods, investments, corporate finance and merger and acquisition
transactions and legal and compliance. Mr. Cheng was a senior legal
counsel in Alibaba Inc responsible for the legal and compliance aspects
of AliExpress, the international e-commerce platform of Alibaba. He was
also a corporate finance partner of two leading international law firms,
Kirkland & Ellis and DLA Piper. He accumulated extensive experience
advising on initial public offerings, corporate restructuring and mergers
and acquisitions to various parties during his time as a corporate finance
partner in these international law firms since 2013. Mr. Cheng holds a
Bachelor of Engineering degree in Mechanical Engineering and a Bachelor
of Commerce degree from The University of Western Australia. He holds a
Postgraduate Diploma in Law from The College of Law, England and Wales
and a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from The University of Hong Kong.
He was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong.

Mr. YUE Zhigiang, aged 59, was an executive Director from 1 March 2011
to 30 June 2021 and has been re-appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 21 July 2023. Mr. Yue has over 30 years of experience in
mechanical engineering and manufacturing plant operation, and was the
chairman of our major subsidiary company, Tibet Glacier Mineral Water
Co., Ltd.. Mr. YUE studied machinery production at Shandong University of
Technology (LU T K2) (now combined into Shandong University (LI
AE)) and obtained a bachelor's degree. Mr. YUE also serves as a director
of a subsidiary and an associated company of the Company.

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. JIANG Xiaohong, aged 66, is a non-executive Director and was
appointed to the Board on 1 March 2011. Ms. Jiang is also the legal
representative of our major subsidiary company, Tibet Glacier Mineral
Water Co. Ltd.,
equipment and production site management. She has over 31 years of

and is responsible for the operation, quality control,

experience in operational management. She graduated from Xinjiang
Vocational University (3788 T X&) with a diploma in Economic
Management, then from Jiangnan University (TEIAZ) (formerly known as
Wuxi University of Light Industry (858 T X2) with a diploma of Brewery
Engineering, and from Xinjiang University (¥T58A2) with a diploma of
Analytical Chemistry.
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Mr. XIE Kun, aged 45,
to the Board with effect from 1 January 2022. He obtained a bachelor’s

is a non-executive Director and was appointed

degree in economics from Chongqing College of Commerce* (EEHE
B%) (currently known as Chongging Technology and Business University) in
2000, and a master's degree in law from East China College of Political
Science and Law* (ZERBUAZR) (currently known as East China University
of Political Science and Law) in 2003.

Mr. Xie has served as the general manager of the legal and risk control
department of Shenwan Hongyuan Group Co., Ltd. (stock code:
6806) since March 2020, and the general manager of the investment
management department of that company since May 2020. He has served
as a director of Xinjiang Tianshan Industrial Investment Fund Management
Co., Ltd.* (IBRILEXREESEEERA
in the shares of the Company which would faII to be disclosed to the
Company under Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance), since
June 2020, and a director of Hongyuan Huifu Capital Co., Ltd.* (ZIREE

ERIEEZEAFRADT]) since July 2020. Prior to this, Mr. Xie worked in the
legal affairs department of the Shanghai management headquarter of
(BERFHEBREMLATR]) from January 2004

to May 2007. He had served at different positions ranging from senior

(which has an interest

Hengtai Securities Limited*

manager of the risk management department, senior manager of the
legal and compliance department, assistant to general manager of legal
and compliance headquarter to deputy general manager of the legal and
*(RIREFBRNE
fR A 7R]) from May 2007 to May 2015. He had also served as an employee

compliance department of Hongyuan Securities Co., Ltd.

representative supervisor of Shenwan Hongyuan Group Co., Ltd. from May
2015 to May 2021, and the general manager of the legal and risk control
department of that company from May 2015 to February 2017. He had
served as the deputy director (headquarter general manager level) of the
compliance and risk management center cum general manager of the legal
and compliance headquarter, and the general manager of the internal
review and appraisal headquarter cum manager of the review and appraisal
department of Shenwan Hongyuan Securities Co., Ltd.* (FBRRESHR
2 a]) from February 2017 to March 2020.
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Mr. WEI Zheming, aged 41, is a non-executive Director and was appointed
to the Board on 25 May 2022. He was a non-executive Director from 31
December 2019 to 30 June 2020. He graduated with a bachelor degree in
law at Xinjiang University (758 X2) in 2005 and obtained a master degree
in business administration at Xinjiang University of Finance & Economics (¥7
JEETAEAE) in 2013. He passed the National Judicial Examination in 2009
in the PRC and was qualified as a secretary of board of directors in May
2009, an independent director in October 2017 and a fund practitioner in
October 2018 in the PRC. Mr. WEI was the deputy general manager and the
secretary of the board of directors of Xinjiang Tianshan Wool Textile Co.,
Ltd.* (B XRILEHERMDBEMR AT (now known as Dezhan Healthcare
Company Limited (BEKERKRHERATR]) (stock code: 000813.5Z)), a
director of Xinjiang Zhilian Qushi Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (37
EEEBSEBRBRARAR) and a director of Xinjiang Investment and
Construction Group Co., Ltd.* (BRI MBREEREERNHBRDE).
Currently, Mr. WEI is the chairman and a director of Dezhan Healthcare
Company Limited (BERAEEMRMDABRAF) (stock code: 000813.52), a
director and general manager of Xinjiang Financial Investment (Group) Co.,
Ltd.* (FBELRIRE (£8) BREEAR), the deputy general manager and
investment director of Xinjiang Kaidi Investment Co., Ltd.* (1525l R &R
BRE AT, a director of Xinjiang Kaidi Mining Investment Co., Ltd.* (3758
BB ERERM AR DA, a director of Huarong International Trust Co.,
Ltd* (EREIFR{E-TEMREMEAR]) and the chairman and general manager
of Xinjiang Tianshan Industrial Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (37
BRUEZKRERESERARAR) (which has an interest in the shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance).

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. ZHANG Chunlong, aged 60, is an independent non-executive Director,
the chairman of the Board, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of each of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee
and was appointed to the Board with effect from 8 July 2022.
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He obtained a bachelor's degree in mechanical engineering from Dalian
University in 1986, a master's degree in business administration from
Hong Kong Baptist University in 2002 and a doctoral degree in enterprise
management from Dalian University of Technology in 2017. Dr. Zhang
successively worked in the Dalian representative office of Standard
Chartered Bank, China Railway Construction Investment Company* (F
BpREERRE DA and CITIC Shenzhen (Group) Company* ({2 /RIII(%E
E)A7R]) and has held various senior management positions, with more
than 35 years of working experience in financial institution and state-
owned enterprise. Dr. Zhang is also a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Bankers and a Certified Credit Risk Management Professional (Credit
Portfolio Management) (CCRP(CPM)) registered with the Hong Kong
Institute of Bankers.

Mr. LO Wai Hung, aged 64, joined the Group and was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 28 September 2021. He
is the chairman of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee and Risk Management
Committee. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in Commerce from James
Cook University of North Queensland, Australia in 1985. Mr. Lo is a
member of Chartered Accountants in Australia and New Zealand and a
fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Lo has over 25 years of experience in auditing, finance and management.

Mr. Lo is an independent non-executive director of Talent Property Group
Limited (stock code: 760), and China New Town Development Company
Limited (stock code: 1278), a non-executive director of SY Holdings
Group Limited (formerly known as Sheng Ye Capital Limited) (stock code:
6069), and also was an independent non-executive director of Shandong
Weigao Group Medical Polymer Company Ltd (stock code: 1066) and C
Cheng Holdings Limited (stock code: 1486) from 10 August 2009 to 6
June 2022 and from 5 December 2013 to 3 April 2023 respectively. All
the aforementioned companies are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Ms. LIN Ting, aged 54, is an independent non-executive Director and
a member of each of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management Committee and was
appointed to the Board with effect from 8 July 2022.
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She obtained a bachelor’s degree in industrial enterprise management from
Shanghai University of Engineering Science in 1992 and a master’s degree
in technology management in information technology from The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in 2004. Ms. Lin was qualified as a
project management professional by the Project Management Institute in
2014 and was awarded the qualification certificate of board secretary by
the Shanghai Stock Exchange in 2017.

From March 2009 to April 2013, Ms. Lin successively served as the deputy
general manager of the business development department and the general
manager of the information department of China Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd.,
and the general manager of the information department of Eastern Air
Logistics Co., Ltd. (a company now listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 601156.5H)). From April 2013 to January 2015, she was
the general manager of logistics product department of the information
solutions department of China Eastern Airlines Co., Ltd. (whose H shares
(stock code: 670), A shares (stock code: 600115.5SH) and American
depositary shares (stock code: CEA) are listed on the Stock Exchange, the
Shanghai Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange respectively).

Ms. Lin was an independent non-executive director of Hang Tai Yue
Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Mobile Games and
Cultural Investment Limited and Interactive Entertainment China Cultural
Technology Investments Limited) (a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8081)) from December 2015 to June 2016 and a
director of Shanghai Changxin Technology Corp., Ltd. (a company whose
shares are quoted on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations (stock
code: 430611)) from March to August 2017. She has been an executive
director of Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (a company listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8018)) since June 2016 and
an independent non-executive director of UJU Holding Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1948)) since
October 2021. Ms. Lin was a director of Shanghai Yuefu Investment
Ltd.* (EBHEREEEZAEGRAA),
a company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China which was

Management Consulting Co.,

engaged in the provision of investment management consultancy services,
prior to its deregistration on 7 February 2021.
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Chief Executive Officer

Mr. WANG Dong, aged 58, was appointed as executive Director on 29 May
2017 and further appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company
on 18 August 2017. He retired as an executive Director on 30 June 2020.
Mr. Wang graduated with a bachelor of laws degree at Xinjiang University.
He obtained a master degree in engineering at Wuhan University and an
EMBA degree at the South China University of Technology.

Mr. Wang is qualified as a lawyer of the PRC since 1989, a senior
economist of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China since 2001 and
a practitioner of the Asset Management Association of China since 2016.
He also received the "Qualification as an independent director of listed
companies” from the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in 2016.

From 1987 to 2012, Mr. Wang worked in the provincial branch office as
well as the case management department of the headquarters and the
regional branch office of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited.
During the aforesaid period, he served as the department head of the case
management department of the headquarters, general manager of the
legal affairs department of the provincial branch office, general manager of
the risk management department of the provincial branch office, general
manager of the regional branch office, as well as the president of the
regional urban finance society and regional banking industry association.
In August 2012, Mr. Wang served as the head of the legal compliance
department at the headquarters of Guangdong Nanyue Bank and a
member of the law committee of the Banking Association of Guangdong.
From September 2016 to August 2018, Mr. Wang was the director and
chief executive officer of Xinjiang Tianshan Industrial Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltd..

So far as the Company is aware, none of the Directors and the chief
executive officer of the Company has any relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship) with each other.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board now presents this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s
annual report for the year under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is firmly committed to achieving and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance practices to enhance shareholders’ value and
safeguard shareholders’ interests. Accordingly, the Board has considered
carefully the requirements of the CG Code and as described below, has
taken actions to further enhance corporate transparency and accountability.

The Board believes good corporate governance is one of the critical factors
for achieving sustainable long-term success. The corporate governance
principles of the Company emphasize the importance of a quality Board
and its accountability to the Shareholders. The Board regularly reviews the
corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with the principles
and code provisions as set out from time to time in the CG Code and strive
to maintain the long-term healthy development of the Company.

For the year 2023, the Company has complied with the CG Code, save for
following deviations.

Under Code Provision C.1.6 of the CG Code, independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend general
meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders. Mr. WEI Zheming, a non-executive Director, did not attend
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 June 2023 as he
was obliged to be away for other business matters.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board leads and supervises the overall direction and development
of the Group's business and affairs, with the objective of enhancing
Shareholders” value including making and approving the Company's
strategic implementation, considering substantial investments, reviewing
the Group’s financial performance and developing and reviewing the
Group's policies and practices on corporate governance. The Directors
are responsible for, and have also delegated to the chief executive officer
the authority and responsibility to oversee the day-to-day management
and operation of the Group. In addition, the Board has established four
Board committees and has delegated to these Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of references.
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Board Composition and Diversity

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, comprising three executive
Directors, three non-executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors. The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising the Group's affairs.
The Board has a balance of appropriate skill, experience and diversity of
perspectives to meet the requirements of the Group's business.

Executive Directors HITES Non-executive Directors ¥#TESE
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit FEEEEE  Ms. JIANG Xiachong — EEIT 7+

Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing ##R5%E4  Mr. XIE Kun il ites
Mr. YUE Zhigiang EEe85%E Mr. WEI Zheming REALE

There are four Board committees in the Company. The table below provides
the current constituents of each of the committees.

EEEARNZ T
EXSRANANEENR  BR-ZWTE
£ CAFNTEER=-RBUNFHTE
2o BBRETIEBEAREZER EF9
HRABERDADRZKNER EXEH
AAKEXRBAT 2 SEAERERERM
ZTLLMES

Independent
Non-executive Directors B EHITES
Dr. ZHANG Chunlong REREBT

(Chairman) (£&)
Mr. LO Wai Hung ERERE
Ms. LIN Ting MELL
RAREFGRY

EZEg - TREHS
LR B e RENR

B

\

o

(A
EZEeNBERAES

fif o

Audit

Committee

ENZEE

Mr. CHOW Wai Kit BREEEE =
(executive Director) (HITEE)

Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing EHREE —

Dr. ZHANG Chunlong (independent REREBLT Member

non-executive Director) (B ERITER) 25

Mr. LO Wai Hung (independent EREELE Chairman

non-executive Director) (B ERITER) E

Ms. LIN Ting MELZ T Member

(independent non-executive Director) (B FEHITESE) 28

Risk

Nomination Remuneration  Management
Committee Committee Committee

REZEE FHMzEe ERERZEE

Member Member =
5 25

= = Chairman

5E

Member Chairman =
5 E

Chairman Member Member

B 258 25

Member Member Member

5 258 25

The list of Directors and their role and function is available at the
Company's and the Stock Exchange's websites. Their profiles are set out in
the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” which is
on pages 25 to 32 of this Annual Report.

EELENFENBBE MBI RARNT R
B ETABE S - HENBEHNAFRE
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The Company currently has nine Directors, of which three are independent
non-executive Directors, in compliance with the requirements under Rule
3.10A of the Listing Rules.

The Company has in place effective mechanisms that underpin an
independent Board and independent views. The current composition of the
Board comprises one third of the independent non-executive Directors. The
Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee
are chaired by independent non-executive Directors. The remuneration
of independent non-executive Directors is subject to a regular review
to maintain competitiveness and commensurate with, including but not
limited to, their expertise, experience, responsibilities and workload. The
independence of each independent non-executive Director is assessed upon
his/her appointment and annually.

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to diversify the Board. Under the said Policy, the Nomination
Committee reviews and assesses Board composition on behalf of the Board
and recommends the appointment of a new Director when necessary. In
suggesting the Board’s composition, the Nomination Committee considers
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Nomination Committee will also
consider factors based on the Group's business model and specific needs
from time to time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The profile of our current Board members are as follows:
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e s 110 e prRRRRY
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Age Length of Service to the Board
EE HEESSFE
< tne CLETITRRNTS
s o o o o o 5 o
s fiRiRe b

The Board currently has an appropriate mix of skills, experience and
diversity that are relevant to the Company's strategy, governance and
business. The Board targets to maintain at least about the current level of
female representation, with the ultimate goal of increasing gender parity.
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As at 31 December 2023, according to the information about the
production plants and facilities of the Group's packaged water and beer in
Tibet of the PRC, the Group’s headquarters, the marketing and sales offices
and our Hong Kong Office, we had 368 full-time employees, of which
219 were male and 149 were female. The gender ratio in the workforce
(including senior management) was approximately 1 male to 0.68 females.
The total gender diversity of the Group is acceptable and the Group will
continue to maintain about such gender diversity in workforce. For further
details of gender ratio and initiatives taken to improve gender diversity
together with the relevant data, please refer to the disclosure in the ESG
report.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The roles of Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive of the Company are assumed by Dr. ZHANG Chunlong
and Mr. WANG Dong respectively. The Chairman’s primary responsibilities
include deciding on the meeting schedule and agenda, formulating Board
policies, ensuring Board effectiveness, promoting the Company and
upholding the Company's corporate governance standards. The Chief
Executive has delegated authority from the Board and is responsible for
managing the Group's business, including the implementation of the
strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board.

Operation of the Board

All the executive Directors are responsible for dealing with the business
of the Group in accordance with all applicable rules and regulations,
including, but not limited to, the Listing Rules. All Directors (including non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors) have been
consulted on major and material matters of the Group.

The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of the
Group, including convening Shareholders’ meetings, reporting their work
in the Shareholders’ meeting, implementing the Shareholders’ resolutions,
determining the Group's business plans and strategies, formulating the
Group’s annual budget and final accounts, formulating proposals for
dividend and bonus distribution, and determining duties as conferred
to it by the Articles of Association of the Company. In discharging its
responsibilities, the Board meets and communicates regularly and acts in
good faith, with due diligence and care.
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The Board meets regularly to review financial information, material
investments in new projects, dividend policy, major financings, treasury
policies and changes in accounting policies, where applicable. All Directors
have access to Board papers and related materials which are provided in a
timely manner. Directors have access to the advice and services provided by
the legal consultants of the Company and/or the Company Secretary with
a view to ensuring that the procedures applicable to Board meetings, and
all applicable rules and regulations, are followed. Draft and final versions
of the minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings, drafted
in sufficient detail by the secretary of the meetings, would be circulated
to the Directors for their comments and record. Originals of such minutes,
being kept by the Company Secretary, are open for inspection at any time
upon a reasonable notice period given by any Director.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board determines to be material, the relevant Director will
abstain from voting on the relevant Board resolution in which he/she or
any of his/her associates have a material interest and that he/she shall not
be counted in the quorum present at the Board meeting.

Under the respective appointment letters, the current non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a
period of three years unless terminated in accordance with the terms of the
appointment letters. Their appointment may be terminated either by the
Company or by the Director by giving three months’ written notice to the
other party. All the current non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the coming annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with
the Articles of Association of the Company. The Company has received
from each independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation
of his independence. The Company considers all of its independent non-
executive Directors independent.

At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) will retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years.
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The Board believes that the balance between executive and non-executive
Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide sufficient checks and
balances that safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and the
Group. The non-executive Directors provide the Group with diversified
knowledge, expertise and experience. Their views and participation in the
Board bring independent judgement and advice on issues relating to the
Group’s strategies, performance, conflicts of interest and management
process, and ensure that the interests of all Shareholders are taken into
account. One of the independent non-executive Directors possesses the
appropriate professional accounting qualifications or related financial
management expertise, which meets the requirements under the Listing
Rules. The opinions raised by the independent non-executive Directors in
Board meetings facilitate the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices.

Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional Development

On appointment to the Board, each newly appointed Director will receive a
comprehensive induction package and training provided by the Company’s
external legal advisor, covering business operations, policy and procedures
of the Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations
of being a Director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/
her responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory
requirements.

The Company updates Directors on the latest development regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from time
to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. The Directors are reqularly briefed on the
amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In
addition, the Company and the Company Secretary have been encouraging
the Directors and other management to enroll in a wide range of
professional development courses and seminars relating to the Listing
Rules, Companies Ordinance/laws and corporate governance practices
organized by professional bodies, independent auditor and/or chambers in
Hong Kong so that they can continuously update and further improve their
relevant knowledge and skills.
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From time to time, Directors are provided with written materials to EEETHEREEELEREMEZER
develop and refresh their professional skills. The Company Secretary also  EEZ2EEM K - ARMENREAESHH
coordinates, organizes and arranges materials/seminars on the latest — SR¥RLTHEBEAAN - B RBHIEH
development of applicable laws, rules and regulations for the Directors to ~ #EZMHE EE  UHBBEEETHE
assist them in discharging their duties. During the year, seminar materials, & ° EFERN - B MR R HEHEHAE
articles and updates relating to the latest development of the Listing ERTRMEENTIeHEME  XEE
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements have been provided to ~ EHEHEHREREES -

Directors.

In addition, all Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Group’s ~ It4h » 2EEERERHUAEEKRE « iR
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and ~ RAISMBAEHER  UFEESEE
each Director to discharge their duties. BRESETHRSE

According to the information provided by Directors and records  REEZRENERNARARGFE 208
maintained by the Company, the Directors have each received training  ARACEEATIBENSEZELE 2R
with an emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a director of a T @ EEFRFARIEHER LTAAES
listed company in compliance with the requirement of the CG Code on  Z A  BREREE 2153

continuous professional development during the year:

Types of training

3R
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit BREEEE A B
Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing BHKELE A B
Mr. YUE Zhigiang (appointed on 21 July 2023) E&E@EE(R_TZ=FtA-+—HEZ) Ay 18 €
Mr. YAN Qingjiang (resigned on 21 July 2023)  EEILE(RZTZ=FtA=+—HEFT) A, B
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong ZEI A B
Mr. XIE Kun G s A, B
Mr. WEI Zheming REALE A, B
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Dr. ZHANG Chunlong REEBT A B
Mr. LO Wai Hung EEELE A B
Ms. LIN Ting MELZ L A B
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A: attending training and/or seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B: reading seminar handouts, newspapers, journals, the Group’s news, industry news
and updates relating to the ongoing compliance obligations, corporate governance
and other related topics, etc.

C: a comprehensive induction package and training provided by the Company’s
external legal advisor

Delegation by the Board

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to the
management of the Company. The Board and the management have their
clearly defined authorities and responsibilities under various internal control
and check and balance mechanisms. The Board delegates matters to the
Board committee(s), executive Directors or management to the extent that
the ability of the Board as a whole to perform its functions would not be
significantly hindered or reduced.

There is a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board
for its consideration and delegation. The Board has given clear directions
to management as to matters that must be approved by the Board before
decisions can be made on behalf of the Company.

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties and to facilitate effective
management, certain functions of the Board have been delegated by the
Board to the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee which were established with written terms of references
in compliance with the Listing Rules. The adopted terms of references
comply with the code provisions as set out from time to time in Appendix
C1 to the Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Board has also set up a Risk
Management Committee for the main purpose of formulating policies and
making recommendations to improve the Company's internal control and
risk management systems.

Each board committee is required to report to the Board on its decisions
and recommendations, where appropriate. Each board committee is also
provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access to
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense according to
the Company’s policy, if necessary.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee meets at least twice per annum, according to its

terms of reference. Its key responsibilities include:

a)

to make a recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and
where applicable, to handle any questions relating to the resignation
or dismissal of the external auditor;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standard;

to monitor the integrity of financial statements of the Company and
the Company's annual report, interim report and related financial
results (if prepared for publication), and to review significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them; and

to review the Company’s financial control, internal control and risk
management system.

All three Audit Committee members (including the Chairman) are

independent non-executive Directors. The Chairman of the Audit

Committee possesses the relevant financial management expertise and

experience. The committee members, together with our external auditor,

met four times during 2023 and discharged their principal responsibilities

by:

a)

42

reviewing the interim results and final results of the Group and the
relevant financial statements and reports and significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them prior to the approval by
the Board and reviewing the external auditor’s report and findings
relating to the work that has been performed,;

making a recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment
of the external auditor, approving the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and where applicable, handling
any questions relating to the retirement of the external auditor;

reviewing the external auditor’s audit plan and terms of engagement
for the work performed,;
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d)  reviewing the independence and objectivity of the external auditor,
and the service fee payable to the external auditor; and

e) reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the
Group including financial control, operational control, compliance
control and risk management.

Nomination Committee
Its key responsibilities include:

a)  to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board
on a reqgular basis and make recommendations to the Board on any
proposed changes;

b) to recommend to the Board on matters relating to the selection,
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors;

c)  to ensure sufficient biographical details of the nominated candidates
are provided to the Board and Shareholders (when necessary) for
them to make decisions regarding the selection of Board members;
and

d) to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
the diversity of the Board. The Board has adopted a board diversity policy
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. Accordingly,
selection of candidates to the Board will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience and qualifications, skills,
knowledge and length of service, having due regard to the Company’s own
business model and specific needs from time to time. Taking into account
the Company's corporate strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity needed in the future, the Nomination Committee
is comfortable with the existing structure, size, composition and diversity
of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will ask proposed candidates to submit the
necessary personal information in a prescribed form. The Nomination
Committee may request candidates to provide additional information and
documents, if considered necessary. The appointment of any proposed
candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing members of the
Board shall be made in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company and other applicable rules and regulations.

Two meetings have been held by the Nomination Committee during 2023
and the following work has been satisfactorily concluded:

a)  reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board;

b) assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

c)  ensuring sufficient biographical details of the nominated candidates
are provided to the Board for them to make decisions regarding the
selection of Board members; and

d) recommending the Board on matters relating to the selection,
appointment or reappointment of Directors.

Remuneration Committee
Its key responsibilities include:

a) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s overall
policy and structure on the remuneration of Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing such remuneration policy;

b)  to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management for any loss of office or appointment to
ensure that such compensation is consistent with the contractual
terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive; and
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c)  to review and approve performance-based remuneration by reference
to the corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time
to time.

During 2023, the Remuneration Committee has met twice and considered,
reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
package of all the Directors (including the nominated candidates) and
senior management, and reviewed and approved the new share option
scheme of the Company.

Risk Management Committee
Its key responsibilities include:

a) to review and assess the effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management systems, and propose changes thereto, to identify,
measure, manage and/or control risks;

b)  to discuss the risk management system with management to ensure
that management has performed its duty to maintain an effective risk
management system;

¢)  to consider major investigation findings on risk management matters
as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management'’s
response to these findings; and

d) to formulate policies and make recommendations to improve the
Company's internal control and risk management systems.

During 2023,

consider and review the existing internal control system. Management's

the Risk Management Committee has met once to

recommendations on financial management function were discussed,
considered and adopted to improve the effectiveness of the internal control
and risk management systems.
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The composition of the Board and the Board members’ respective

attendance in Board meetings, general meetings, the Audit Committee

meetings, the Nomination Committee meetings, the Remuneration

Committee meetings and the Risk Management Committee meetings

during the year ended 31 December 2023 were as follows:

HE_Z_=F+_A=1+—HUEFE &
FENARRESEERESEEE  RE
A BRLZEQR REZESg% ¥
MEEeR L AREEZESEHNTFEE
(I

No. of meetings attended/held

Executive Directors
Mr. CHOW Wiai Kit
Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing
Mr. YUE Zhigiang
(appointed on 21 July 2023)
Mr. YAN Qingjiang
(resigned on 21 July 2023)

HrEs

Bl

guRiE

Ay
(R=B-=FtA-T-REZf)

EEILE
(R=E-ZF+A-T-REH)

Non-executive Directors FUTEE

Ms. JIANG Xiaohong ZEILT

Mr. XIE Kun AELE

Mr. WEI Zheming RERLE
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BUFEHTEE
Dr, ZHANG Chunlong FEERL
Mr. LO Wai Hung EBiLE
Ms. LIN Ting HERL
Average attendance rate TnRE

Board

gz¢

55
55

4/

55
55
55

55
5/5
55

100%

General
Meeting
N

171
171
on

90%

BiE/ETEEHA
Risk
Management
Audit ~ Nomination Remuneration ~ Committee

Committee  Committee  Committee BREE
ENZEe REZEE  HMzEe ZE¢
= 11 22 11

4/4 22 22 =

44 22 22 11

4/4 22 22 1N

100% 100% 100% 100%

During the year under review, the Chairman of the Company has held a

meeting with independent non-executive Directors without the presence of

other Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board has undertaken and adopted the responsibility for performing
the corporate governance duties pursuant to the CG Code and is
committed to ensuring that an effective governance structure is in place
to continuously review, monitor and improve the corporate governance
practices within the Group with regard to the prevailing legal and
regulatory requirements.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the policies and practices on the
Group's corporate governance, developed a code of conduct applicable
to the Directors and employees, monitored the Company's legal and
regulatory compliance, organized training and continuing professional
development for Directors and management and reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and the disclosures in this Annual Report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board in
discharge of its corporate governance function.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound, adequate
and effective internal control system of the Group. Our internal control
system includes a well-defined management structure with limits of
authority which is designed for the achievement of business objectives,
safeqguarding assets against unauthorized use or disposition, ensuring
proper maintenance of books and records for the provision of reliable and
timely financial information for internal use or publication, and ensuring
compliance with relevant laws and regulations. In addition, the Group has
established risk management procedures to identify and prioritize risks for
the business to be addressed by management.

The systems of internal control are designed to manage, rather than
eliminate, business risk; to help safeguard the Group's assets against
fraud and other irregularities; and to give reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material financial misstatement or loss. In addition, it
should provide a basis for the maintenance of proper and fair accounting
records and assist in the compliance with relevant rules and regulations.
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During the year, no incident of serious fraud or misconduct was reported
from employees that had a material effect on the Company’s financial
position and overall operations.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has supervised and
engaged an independent professional to carry out an annual review of the
effectiveness of the internal control system and has received a confirmation
from management on the effectiveness and adequacy of the system during
the Reporting Period.

The Company has no internal audit function because the Company
has maintained an internal control system. The Audit Committee, Risk
Management Committee and the Board understood and reviewed the
implementation of the system and considered that it is effective. The Audit
Committee has communicated with external auditor of the Company to
understand if there is any material internal control deficiency noted during
the audit process. Nevertheless, the Company will review the need for an
internal audit function on an annual basis.

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information: (i) the Company conducts its affairs
with close regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
issued by the Securities and Futures Commission; (ii) the Board and
senior management are responsible for identifying and assessing inside
information; (iii) the Board, senior management and any relevant persons
who might have access to inside information must take reasonable due care
for safeqguarding the confidentiality of unpublished inside information; and
(iv) the Board is responsible for ensuring timely, fair and comprehensive
dissemination of inside information and may seek independent professional
advice if and when appropriate to ensure that the Company can timely
comply with the disclosure requirements.
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MANAGEMENT FUNCTION

The management team of the Company meets regularly to review and
discuss with the executive Directors on day-to-day operational matters,
financial and operating performance as well as to monitor and ensure that
the management is properly carrying out the directions and strategies pre-
determined by the Board.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, all
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the requirements set
out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2023. Specific
employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of the
Group have been requested to comply with the provisions of the Model
Code. No incident of non-compliance has been noted by the Company.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for keeping proper
accounting books and records and overseeing the preparation of accounts
for each financial year/period which give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group as at the end of the financial
year/period and the profit and loss for the year/period. The Directors
have adopted applicable International Financial Reporting Standards in
all material respects, selected appropriate accounting policies and then
applied them consistently, and have made judgments and estimates that
they believe to be fair and reasonable. The Directors use a going concern
basis in preparing the accounts unless it is not applicable.

The Board acknowledges that a clear, balanced and timely presentation
of financial information is crucial in maintaining the confidence of
Shareholders in the Company. Reasonable disclosure of the Company's
financial position and prospects are provided in the reports. Annual and
interim results are published within three and two months after the end of
the relevant financial year/period, respectively.
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The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 76 to 84 of this
Annual Report.

DIRECTORS' AND OFFICERS' LIABILITY INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY
PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
Insurance for its Directors and officers covering the costs, losses, expenses
and liabilities arising from the performance of their duties. The insurance
policy is reviewed on an annual basis ensuring adequate coverage on
potential legal action against its Directors and officers arising from the
performance of their duties and to comply with the requirement of the
CG Code. During the year, no claim was made against the Directors and
officers of the Company.

Article 164(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that
the Directors or other officers of the Company shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any
of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty provided
that the indemnity shall not be extended to any matter in respect of any
fraud or dishonesty which may be attached to the relevant Director or
officer of the Company.

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for effective
communication with Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board and
the Board Committees, or in his absence, fellow Directors and other
management members will be made available to answer questions at the
general meetings.
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Extensive information about the Group's activities is provided in this Annual
Report, the interim report and circulars which are sent to Shareholders in
a timely manner and are made available on the Company’s website (www.
twr1115.net). Our website serves as a communication platform where
company information including corporate profile, corporate governance
materials, announcements, circulars, business news and financial reports
are made available to the public. All Shareholders are encouraged to attend
the annual general meeting of the Company to understand the business
of the Group from the Directors and senior management in the general
meeting.

The forthcoming AGM is expected to be held in late June 2024. At the
2024 AGM, the chairman of the meeting will demand a poll and the
Company's Hong Kong branch share registrar will be appointed as the
scrutineer for the vote-taking.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Association, any one or more
member(s) of the Company holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, on
a one vote per share basis, shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business or resolution specified in such requisition. If within twenty-
one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may convene a physical
meeting at only one location, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the Company
to convene a general meeting following the procedures set out in the
preceding paragraph. As regards the nomination of a person as a Director,
please refer to the procedures available on the website of the Company.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by mail in writing to the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Unit D, 23" Floor, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty,
Hong Kong.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

To ensure investors have a better understanding of the Group, our
management is proactive in its investor relations initiatives. Our Directors,
management team and the investor relations officers communicate with
research analysts and institutional investors on an ongoing basis after
our results announcements and participate in non-deal roadshows to
communicate the Company’s financial performance and business strategy.

Having considered the multiple channels of communication in place
providing Shareholders and investment community with information about
the latest development of the Group in a timely manner, and that the
Company has established a range of communication channels between
itself and its Shareholders, investors and other stakeholders to allow the
Company to receive feedback effectively, the Board is satisfied that the
shareholders communication policy has been properly implemented during
2023 and is effective.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall consider a
number of conditions and factors and maintain adequate cash reserves for
meeting its working capital requirements and future business development.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

By a special resolution passed at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 30 June 2023, the Company adopted amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association to, among others
things, (i) comply with the relevant requirements of the applicable laws
of the Cayman Islands and the Listing Rules, including but not limited to
the Core Shareholder Protection Standards set out in the Listing Rules;
(i) allow the Company to convene and hold hybrid or electronic general
meetings and provide flexibility to the Company in relation to the conduct
of general meetings; and (iii) make consequential and other housekeeping
amendments. The amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association of the Company is available on the respective websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other change in the Company's
constitutional documents during the year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chow Wai Kit is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and was appointed on a full-time basis as the
Company Secretary. During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Chow
has taken not less than 15 hours of appropriate professional training to
update his skills and knowledge as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules. Mr. Chow reports to the Chairman/Board on Board governance
matters and is responsible for ensuring that Board policies and procedures
are followed. All Board members have access to the Company’s legal
consultant’s and his advice and services. He arranges the comprehensive
and tailored induction program for new Directors prior to their
appointment and provides timely updates to the Directors on relevant new
legislation or regulatory requirements. Director training has been organized
on a regular basis by the Company Secretary to assist Directors’ continuous
professional development.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

HLB has been re-appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect from
the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30
June 2023 to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual genera
meeting of the Company. The Audit Committee is mandated to review
and monitor the independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process of the financial statements in accordance
with applicable standards. Members of the Audit Committee were of the
view that the Company’s auditor, HLB, is independent and recommended
to the Board to re-appoint it as the Company's auditor at the 2024 AGM.
For the year, the fees paid/payable to the Company's auditor in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided to the Group are set out below:
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ERCEBRZERLRAZEHM BE-F
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RELY  FHEERRA TEBRREEA
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T YAEFEFELERE RZT-OFK
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2023 2022

EZRG
FERZR

Audit services
Non-audit services

—E_-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREFTT
2,066 1,973

180 172

2,246 2,145

Disclaimer

The contents of this section headed “Shareholders’ Rights” are for reference and
disclosure compliance purposes only. The information does not represent and should not
be regarded as legal or other professional advice from the Company to the Shareholders.
Shareholders should seek their own independent legal or other professional advice as
to their rights as Shareholders. The Company disclaims all liabilities and losses incurred
by its Shareholders in reliance on any contents of this section headed “Shareholders’
Rights”.

54 TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2023

SEEY

[RREN | —HOABRERZZRETRERE 2
B T PRERATERE AR R EARRERAER
REBEXER - BRMERIRROER - BRRERLL
BIISRELEERIEMEEER - ARAHTGH
PR SR R R A SR ) | — B P AR () D 2 T 4R B
—NEERBREEEFEE o



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERS

DIRECTORS' REPORT

The Directors present their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 93 of this Annual Report. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the financial
year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 is
set out in the sections headed “Letter to Shareholders” and “Management
Discussion & Analysis” on pages 4 to 6 and pages 9 to 20 of this Annual
Report respectively. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group are set out in the “Management Discussion & Analysis”
section and Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements on page 20 to
22 and pages 157 to 177 of this Annual Report, respectively.

In addition, discussions on the Group's environmental policies and
performance, compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have
a significant impact on the Group and an account of the Group's key
relationships with its employees, customers and suppliers are set out in
the “Management Discussion & Analysis” section on pages 9 to 24 of this
Annual Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on pages 85 to 86 of this Annual Report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year 2023.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 7 to 8 of this Annual Report.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements during the year in the land use rights and PP&E
of the Group are set out in Notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively on pages 194 to 198 of this Annual Report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 234 of this Annual Report.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of bank borrowings as at 31 December 2023 are set out in Note
32 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 227 to 232 of this
Annual Report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company previously adopted a share option scheme in 2012 and such
scheme expired in accordance with its terms on 7 September 2022. No
share options granted under the expired share option scheme remained
outstanding.

The Company has adopted a new share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 30 June 2023 (the "Adoption Date"). The purpose of the
Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to eligible
participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the growth of
the Group and to provide the Group with a more flexible means to attract,
retain, reward, remunerate, compensate and/or provide benefits to the

eligible participants.

The eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme to whom options may
be granted by the Board include (a) the employee participants (including
directors and employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries); (b) the
related entity participants (including directors and employees of the holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company);
and (c) the service providers (including persons who provide services to the
Group on a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course of
business which are in the interests of the long term growth of the Group).

56 TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2023

LEMBERE

AEEBEREANRFECREREERSR
EMBHENAFRETESE -

BEEEE

AEEBHLHERERDE BELRRE
RERNEHFBORIERAFERFE 1942
198 EMERE I HmRMET15 %16 °

&S

ADBEBRAHBHENAFRE 24 ENEA
MERERHITE34 -

RITER

ARBN B =F+-A=1T—RZ&T
ERFBHNAFIRE 2272232 ENGAE
BTSSR MTRE 32

BRERE
ARBEAN ZF— ZFRA—RBRET
2 B ERBEGTIN_T-__FN1A
TRER - BERIEC &R EBET 8 AT
R R A R THE o

ARAR-_F-_=ZFRXA=ZTH(HRHA
MRMm—mHBERETE(BRES
8 BREFIEESARAARAER
SEERDBIE  MERARSAKREEIE
Eﬁﬁﬁ%Z%@iﬁ@*M&%$%lT
BhNAER2EERNES - BE -
ﬁ@\ﬁw‘ HER,FAEN o

ExenmARLBRECERETSGE
B2EERR()EESEE(BRARRK
HEMMBARMNEERESR) : (0)EHE
B2EE(BRARANZERAR - FERH
BLAZBELRAMNEERES)  ROR
BREEEERARR-REHBED
FEILTHRASERRTAAKER
MBERMENRBOAL)



DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEERE

The total number of shares which may be issued in respect of all options
and awards to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the total number
of shares in issue on the Adoption Date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit")
unless shareholders’ approval has been obtained. Within the Scheme
Mandate Limit, the total number of shares which may be issued in respect
of all options and awards to be granted to the service providers under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share schemes of the Company shall
not exceed 5% of the total number of shares in issue on the Adoption
Date (the “Service Provider Sublimit”) unless shareholders’ approval
has been obtained. As at the Adoption Date, there were 4,079,188,000
shares of the Company in issue. The Scheme Mandate Limit and the Service
Provider Sublimit are therefore 407,918,800 shares and 203,959,400
shares respectively.

Where any grant of options to an eligible participant would result in
the total number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of all
options granted under the Share Option Scheme and all options and
awards granted under any other share schemes of the Company to such
eligible participant (excluding any lapsed options or awards lapsed) in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant representing
in aggregate over 1% of the total number of shares in issue as at the
date of such grant, such grant must be separately approved by the
shareholders in general meeting with such eligible participant and his/
her close associates (or associates if the eligible participant is a connected
person) abstaining from voting. Any grant of options to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their
respective associates must be approved by the independent non-executive
Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director who is the
grantee). Where options are proposed to be granted to an independent
non-executive Director or a substantial shareholder of the Company, or any
of their respective associates, and the proposed grant of options would
result in the total number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
all options granted under the Share Option Scheme and all options and
awards granted under any other share schemes of the Company (excluding
any lapsed options and awards) to such person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant representing in aggregate over
0.1% of the total number of shares in issue on the offer date, such further
grant of options must be approved by the shareholders taken on a poll in
general meeting.
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An offer of a grant of an option under the Share Option Scheme shall
remain open for acceptance for no more than 14 days from the offer
date. The amount payable by the grantee to the Company on acceptance
of the offer is HK$1. Save in certain prescribed circumstances, an option
must be held by the grantee for at least 12 months before the option can
be exercised. An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be notified
by the Board subject to the terms of grant (including but not limited
to the vesting period), the expiry date of such period not to exceed 10
years from the offer date. Unless otherwise determined by the Board
in its absolute discretion and stated in the relevant offer letter, there
is neither any performance target which must be achieved before an
option can be exercised nor any clawback mechanism for the Company
to recover or withhold any remuneration (which may include options
granted) to any eligible participants in the event of serious misconduct,
a material misstatement in the Company's financial statements or other
circumstances.

The subscription price in respect of any option shall, subject to any
adjustments made pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Scheme,
be a price notified by the Board to each grantee and shall be at least the
highest of: (a) the closing price per share as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the offer date; (b) the average closing price per
share as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the 5
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (c) the nominal
value of a share.

Subject to early termination by the Company in general meeting or by the
Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
ten years from the Adoption Date, after which no further options may be
granted.

As the previous share option scheme adopted by the Company expired on 7
September 2022, no options were available for grant as at 1 January 2023.
No options have been granted under the Share Option Scheme since the
Adoption Date. Accordingly, as at 31 December 2023 and as at the date
of this report, share options to subscribe for a maximum of 407,918,800
shares (representing approximately 8.9% of the issued shares as at the
date of this report) were available for grant under the Scheme Mandate
Limit and share options to subscribe for a maximum of 203,959,400 shares
were available for grant under the Service Provider Sublimit.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Group adopted a share award scheme in 2017 (the “Share Award
Scheme”). Up to 31 December 2023, no share has been granted by the
Group to any parties under the Share Award Scheme.

The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are to (i) encourage or facilitate
the holding of shares by the selected participants; (ii) encourage and retain
certain individuals to work with the Group; and (iii) provide incentive for
the selected participants to achieve performance goals.

The Board may at its absolute discretion select any eligible participant
(including directors (including independent non-executive directors) of the
Group, employees of the Group and other persons the Board considers
have contributed or will contribute to the Group) to be a selected
participant and (a) grant new shares to be issued and allotted by the
Company under its available general mandate to such selected participant
or (b) grant existing shares to be purchased by the Company from the
market to such selected participant.

In any financial year during the scheme period, the maximum number of
shares to be subscribed for and/or purchased by the trustee appointed
for the administration of the Share Award Scheme pursuant to the Share
Award Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the beginning of such relevant financial year.

On each occasion when the Board instructs the trustee to purchase shares
on the Stock Exchange, it shall specify the maximum amount of funds to
be used and the range of prices at which such shares are to be purchased.
The Trustee may not incur more than the maximum amount of funds
or purchase any shares at a price falling outside the range of prices so
specified unless with the prior written consent of the Board. The trustee
shall purchase such maximum board lot of shares at the prevailing market
price according to the Board's instructions.

At the beginning of the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the
Company had 3,059,391,000 shares in issue. No share had been granted
under the Share Award Scheme during such financial year. Therefore,
305,939,100 shares were available for grant under the Share Award
Scheme at the beginning and the end of the financial year ended 31
December 2023.
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As at 1 January 2024, the Company had 4,079,188,000 shares in issue and
no share has been granted under the Share Award Scheme up to the date
of this report. Therefore, 407,918,800 shares, representing approximately
8.9% of the issued shares of the Company as at the date of this report,
were available for grant under the Share Award Scheme as at the date of
this report.

Where any award of grant to a selected participant would result in the
aggregate of (a) the number of grant shares underlying all grants (whether
vested or not) and (b) the number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options (whether exercised or outstanding) under any share
option scheme adopted by the Company from time to time, granted to such
selected participant in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of award of such grant exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of award of such grant, the grant shall be subject
to approval by the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting.
Where any grant is proposed to be made to a selected participant who is a
director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or any
of their respective associates or any other connected person, such grant
must first be approved by the independent non-executive directors of the
Company (excluding any independent non-executive director to whom the
grant is proposed to be made).

The Board may from time to time while the Share Award Scheme is in force
determine any vesting criteria or periods for the grant shares to be vested
or credited, and such other restrictions or conditions in respect thereof as
the Board may in its discretion determine to be appropriate.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board, the
Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on the adoption date being 18 August 2017.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association or the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company’s
place of incorporation.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, the accumulated deficits of the Company
amounted to RMB275 million (31 December 2022: RMB235 million). As
at 31 December 2023, the share premium of the Company, amounting to
RMB1,734 million (31 December 2022: RMB1,407 million), is distributable
to Shareholders subject to the solvency test and the sanction of an ordinary
resolution.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
shares.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit
Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing
Mr. YUE Zhigiang
(appointed on 21 July 2023)
Mr. YAN Qingjiang
(resigned on 21 July 2023)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong
Mr. XIE Kun

Mr. WEI Zheming

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. ZHANG Chunlong (Chairman)
Mr. LO Wai Hung

Ms. LIN Ting

Details of the retiring Directors to be re-elected at the 2024 AGM will be
set out in the circular to the Shareholders before the 2024 AGM.

AR RS BN EE
R-ZZ-_=ZF+-A=+—H ARQRAZK:
EBEAARE2ISEEL(ZE-__F+=
A=Z+—H8: AR¥235sG&x)  R-%
“ZF+ZA=1+—H WAEELEHTK
—MOREBE  ARFISEAARK1,734
BEL(ZEZZF+ZHA=1T—8: AR
1,407 BETT)ORANEEN ARRRERE
T8 -

BE  HERBEIRGD
BE_ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HLFE &K
R REFAMHBRARMERE HEXE
Bl AR BMERARLD

Es
REARBEAREAY  ARBAEFER

HITES

BEGEEE

B4R A4

ES®AE
(R—ZE-_=F+tA-1+—BEZT)
EEILE
(RZZEZ=FtA=+—H#EE)

FHUTES
BTt
i i
REMELE

BYFHITES
REEBL(ZE)
ERELEE
MEZ LT

AR _Z_NERRAFAG LERE
ENREESNFERIAN T _NFRR
BF RGBT BA B RIA

ARKERBRAA | F/] 2023 61



DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEERE

DIRECTORS' PROFILES

The profiles of the Directors are set out on pages 25 to 32 of this Annual
Report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 2024 AGM has a
service contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which are required to be recorded in
the register maintained by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company:

BEEBERE
EERFHNAFRE2E328 -

EENERBEY

B EE_T-_NFERRAFAE LEEN
EERMETAAREE - FATAENTE
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EERFETHRAERROPHES
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BRERABMT

ARAB MR IR -

S

Capacity/Nature

Approximate

Name of Director of interest
EENE 5 EEME
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit Beneficial owner
FEHRE EmlEBA
Notes:

(1) Based on 4,079,188,000 shares in issue as at 31 December 2023.
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DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS UNDER THE

SECURITIES AND FUTURES ORDINANCE

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons had an interest or short

position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were

recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section

336 of the SFO:

REZHERPEFRIBRROATRERE
=
RZZBZ=F+ZA=+—0 " TIALR
BRIEEFRBEEIFE 336 HRRERALR
A BN B MR A B AR
DR EERERIAR

Name

e/ E8

Long/short
position

#R/ KR

Capacity

&t

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Number of
shares/

Tianshan Industry Investment Limited
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited

Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment
Fund Limited Partnership (Note 2)

ERRIRL-FEXREESBRABLE

(BFsE2)
NERLEXREELEEBRAF

(Notes 2 & 3)
FEALEEREESERERAF

(FisE2 &3)

HESBRREARAT (Notes 2, 3 & 4)

TSR ERRAR(HE2 - 384)
TREEZHAARARBAREEEER
EIBEZE® (Notes 2, 3 & 4)
TRATHE R RARDAREEEEBER
Z8e(F2-38&4)
BELREEREEREREMTLT
(Notes 2, 3 & 5)
BERREEREEEERETAA
(PfsE2 3 &5)
RELREBRNHER LT

(Notes 2, 3,5 & 6)
BELREERHDERLDF
(P45E23-5&6)

Long position
i)

Long position

iR

Long position

e

Long position

)

Long position

R

Long position

iR

Long position

)

Beneficial owner

ExlEBA

Interest of controlled
corporation

REEE L

Interest of controlled
corporation

R LB

Interest of controlled
corporation

REAEN R

Interest of controlled
corporation

ez ik B

Interest of controlled
corporation

REEE L

Interest of controlled
corporation

REEE R

underlying shares (Note 1)
RERLOE 2L

BB/ HERANEE (M)
462,400,740 11.34%
462,400,740 11.34%
462,400,740 11.34%
462,400,740 11.34%
462,400,740 11.34%
462,400,740 11.34%
462,400,740 11.34%
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Name

e/ £8

Long/short
position

Capacity

&t

hRESREEREEAR
(Notes 2, 3,5 & 6)

hRESREEREELA
(Bfs¥2-3-58&6)

Tibet Water Resources Limited (Note 7)
FaEKERER AR (H37)

Maple Essence Investments Limited (Note 8)

MERERRAR(FE8)

True Asset Holdings Limited (Note 9)

True Asset Holdings Limited (Fi#79)

Mr. WANG Peter Jian (also known as
Mr. WANG Jian Peter) (Notes 9 & 10)

TEEE(HEEI & 10)

Wang Zhi (Note 11)

TEMEE )

Wholeking Holdings Limited (Note 12)
Wholeking Holdings Limited (P 12)

Hope Empire Limited (Note 13)

Hope Empire Limited (B 13)

Long position

e
Long position
e
Long position
e
Long position
e
Long position
e

Long position

Long position

e

Long position

e

HSBC International Trustee Limited (Note 14) Long position

HSBC International Trustee Limited (Fff 3 14)
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Interest of controlled
corporation

REEE

Beneficial owner

TREAA

i

\

Interest of controlled
corporation

REEE

Interest of controlled
corporation

REEE L

Interest of controlled
corporation

REEE L

Beneficial owner
and interest of
controlled
corporation

ERfBAR
X EE e R

Beneficial owner

A A

/i
Bl

Interest of controlled

corporation

R EENED

Trustee

fEFEA

Number of
shares/
underlying shares

R/ HERGHEE

462,400,740

437,410,960

437,410,960

437,410,960

437,410,960

305,000,000

205,000,000

205,000,000

242,276,000

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
(Note 1)
REBNEIL
(&£ 1)

11.34%

10.72%

10.72%

10.72%

10.72%

7.48%

5.03%

5.03%

5.93%
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Name

e/ £8

Long/short
position

#e/ KR

Capacity

&t

Cai Kui (Note 14)

Long position

Founder of a
discretionary trust
who can influence
how the trustee

£=(fi14)

Notes:

exercises its
discretion

iR R EZFEAW
TRERBED
BB ERERILA

Based on 4,079,188,000 shares in issue as at 31 December 2023.

Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership holds 100%
equity interest in Tianshan Industry Investment Limited and is therefore deemed to
be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by Tianshan Industry
Investment Limited.

Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership is held as
to 0.66% by and is accustomed to act in accordance with the directions of #75&
RINEXEEESEEBRAA. Therefore, MBARILEXBREESEEBFRAA
is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

HBEEIREBRAR holds 46.36% equity interest in Khorgos Tianshan No.1
Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership. ¥Ti@& a1 EER A7) also holds
30% equity interest in FTEERILEZREESEERFRAA]. Therefore, #iE S @K
EHBMAF is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company

held by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

Approximate

Number of  percentage of

shares/ shareholding

underlying shares (Note 1)
REBNEIL

Kt/ HERGHHE (FEE1)
242,276,000 5.93%

B :

BER-_ZT-_=F+-HF=+—H
4,079,188,000 REFEITRAFTE o

ERRHRAL-—REXREESARA
#% > # ¥ ATianshan Industry Investment
Limited 100% A& #& - it #18 AR5 Tianshan
Industry Investment Limited Fr# & KA AR
462,400,740 B R 17 T 7E B #E4s o

ERRIRU-—REXEREESARERD
E¥EMBRUEERAEZCERARARR
BF066% RENRBEFTEBRLEXERAEE
CEBBERARMNESTE Bt B
AEXREECERARRAAERA/R
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited fT45 48

BAA R] 462,400,740 AR (D R HE A RER o

FECRREARRAABEERRIAL -
FEEREESARABEE46.36%MRE
MERERBRABRARNBSENBRLEE
REEGEEBRAF0%RE - Bt
MESREEARRADREKARTianshan
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NERTREARARBNEEEELEEEEZEE wholly owns FTIBSRIREARR
7). Therefore, MBHERECRARBNESEELESERZEE is deemed to
be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by Tianshan Industry
Investment Limited.

HELRREEREERARETAF holds 30% equity interest in FiE K ILEERE
H&EEARAR and is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the
Company held by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

RHERREERHER2AF holds 33.11% equity interest in Khorgos Tianshan No.1
Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership. Further, BEREEERHER QA
wholly owns HERREXREEREMETAR. Therefore, BERREERNE
[ 2] is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held
by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

FRESHERRETAT, directly and indirectly through its subsidiaries, holds
51.17% equity interest in REZRREERNERADF. Therefore, FREGKER
[REMEAR is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company
held by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

Tibet Water Resources Limited is held as to 100% by Maple Essence Investments
Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by True Asset Holdings Limited. Tibet
Water Resources Limited holds 437,410,960 shares in the Company. For
200,000,000 shares out of these 437,410,960 shares in the Company, please refer
to the Company’s announcement dated 14 November 2019.

Maple Essence Investments Limited holds 100% equity interest in Tibet Water
Resources Limited and is therefore deemed to be interested in the 437,410,960
shares in the Company held by Tibet Water Resources Limited. Maple Essence
Investments Limited is wholly-owned by True Asset Holdings Limited.

True Asset Holdings Limited holds 100% equity interest in Maple Essence
Investments Limited, which in turn wholly-owns Tibet Water Resources Limited.
Therefore, True Asset Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in 437,410,960
shares in the Company held by Tibet Water Resources Limited.
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(10)  True Asset Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. WANG Peter Jian. Therefore,
Mr. WANG Peter Jian is deemed to be interested in 437,410,960 shares in the
Company held by Tibet Water Resources Limited. For the purpose of the SFO, the
spouse of Mr. WANG Peter Jian is taken to have a duty of disclosure in relation to
the said 437,410,960 shares in the Company. The interest disclosed by the spouse
of Mr. WANG Peter Jian is that of Mr. WANG Peter Jian which is deemed to be
attributed to her pursuant to the SFO for disclosure purposes. Nevertheless, she
has no interest, legal or beneficial, in those shares in the Company.

(11)  Wang zhi holds 200,000,000 shares in the Company and wholly owns Advance
Mining Limited, which in turn holds 105,000,000 shares in the Company.
Therefore, Wang Zhi is interested or deemed to be interested in an aggregate of
305,000,000 shares in the Company.

(12)  Wholeking Holdings Limited is interested in 205,000,000 underlying shares in the
Company through holding convertible bonds issued by the Company which are
convertible into 205,000,000 shares in the Company upon full conversion at the
initial conversion price.

(13) Hope Empire Limited wholly owns Wholeking Holdings Limited and is therefore
deemed to be interested in the 205,000,000 underlying shares in the Company in
which Wholeking Holdings Limited is interested.

(14) HSBC International Trustee Limited as trustee of a discretionary trust of which Cai
Kui is the founder wholly owns Silverland Assets Limited, which in turn wholly
owns (a) Hope Empire Limited, which is deemed to be interested in 205,000,000
underlying shares in the Company and (b) Junson Development International
Limited, which is interested in 37,276,000 shares in the Company. Therefore, both
HSBC International Trustee Limited and Cai Kui are deemed to be interested in an
aggregate of 242,276,000 shares/underlying shares in the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company were not aware of any other person
(other than the Directors and the chief executive of the Company) who
had, or was deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director
or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

No contracts of significance between the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, and a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contracts of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the financial year or at the end of the financial year
has the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries been a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of
whose objects is, to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate, except for the Share Option Scheme and the Share Award
Scheme. No share options or share awards were granted to any Director
under the Share Option Scheme and the Share Award Scheme respectively.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Other than operating a Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
participating in the state managed retirement benefit scheme in the PRC,
the Group has not operated any other retirement benefits schemes for the
Group's employees.

Details of the defined contribution pension scheme are set out in Note 12
of the consolidated financial statements on page 191 to 192 of this Annual
Report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their merit, qualification and competence.
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The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Group's operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

During the financial year and up to the date of this report, no Director is
considered to have interests in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, as
defined in the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company existed during the
year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the financial year, sales to the Group's five largest customers and
purchases from the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
73.3% and 87.0% of the total sales and total purchases for the year,
respectively. The Group's largest customer and supplier accounted for
approximately 40.0% and 43.8% of the total sales and total purchases
for the financial year, respectively. Starting from 2021, the Group has
centralized procurement through its associate Fudi Packaging, in order to

enhance the procurement efficiency and reduce costs.

During the financial year, none of (i) the Directors or any of their close
associates, or (ii) any Shareholders (who, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital),
had any interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights
in relation to, the shares of the Company, they are advised to consult their
professional advisors.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent
of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 2 February 2021, the Company entered into subscription agreements
(as amended by the supplemental agreements dated 23 February 2021)
with six corporate and individual investors, whereby the investors agreed
to subscribe for and the Company agreed to issue the Convertible Bonds
at a total cash consideration of HKD379,620,000. Assuming full conversion
of the Convertible Bonds at the initial conversion price of HKDO0.74, the
Convertible Bonds will be convertible into 513,000,000 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 19.97% of the then issued share
capital of the Company and approximately 16.65% of the then issued
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the issue of the conversion
shares. The initial conversion price of HKD0.74 per conversion share
represents the closing price of the shares of the Company of HKD0.74 per
share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 2 February 2021, being the
date of the subscription agreements. The Convertible Bonds were issued by
the Company to the investors in March 2021. The gross and net proceeds
(after deducting expenses) from the issue of the Convertible Bonds were
approximately HKD379,620,000 and HKD377,620,000, respectively and
were used for the repayment of the Group's borrowings according to
the intentions previously disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 2 February 2021. For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 2 February 2021, 23 February 2021 and 29 March
2021.

The Company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the production
and sales of premium bottled mineral water products and beer products
in the PRC. The Company sought to capitalize on the then market
environment for convertible bond issues to raise capital for the repayment
of the Group’ s borrowings. The Board had considered other alternative
fund-raising methods such as bank loan, rights issue or open offer. The
Board considered that bank loan may incur security pledging on the Group’
s assets and may be subject to lengthy due diligence and negotiations
with the banks with reference to the Group’ s financial position and the
then financial market condition and it may be relatively uncertain and
time-consuming. On the other hand, rights issue or open offer would
involve the issue of prospectus with other application and administrative
procedures (such as arrangements for nil-paid rights shares) which may
lead to relatively longer time and additional administrative cost to complete
as compared to the issue of Convertible Bonds.
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As at 31 December 2023, Convertible Bonds in the aggregate principal
amount of HKD22,644,000 had been converted into a total of 30,600,000
shares of the Company and principal amount of HK$356,976,000 was
outstanding and convertible into 482,400,000 shares of the Company at
the conversion price of HK$0.74 per conversion share.

Subsequent to the year end, a total aggregate of the principal and interest
of approximately HKD167,928,000 (equivalent to RMB152,411,000) have
been repaid and the remaining principal has been extended into short-term
loan arrangements.

RIGHTS ISSUE

On 2 December 2022, the Company announced a rights issue of up to
1,019,797,000 rights shares at a price of HK$0.385 per rights share on
the basis of one rights share for every three existing shares held by the
qualifying shareholders on the record date, 20 December 2022, on a
non-underwritten basis. The subscription price represents, among other
things, a discount of 12.5% to the closing price of HK$0.44 per share
of the Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of the
announcement of the rights issue. On the same day, the Company entered
into a placing agreement with SBI China Capital Financial Services Limited,
the placing agent, in relation to the placing of the unsubscribed rights
shares to independent placees on a best effort basis to dispose of the
unsubscribed rights shares.

The Board considered that it was essential, prudent and in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole to raise additional fund
for working capital and repayment of external debts of the Group, so that
the Group would have sufficient financial resources to meet the financial
obligations when they fall due in the then following 18 months. The Board
had considered other debt/equity fund raising alternatives and considered
that the rights issue would allow the Group to strengthen its capital
structure without incurring additional debt financing cost. Furthermore,
the proceeds from the rights issue would enhance the cash position of
the Group and the rights issue would allow all the qualifying shareholders
the equal opportunity to subscribe for their respective pro rata provisional
entitlement of the rights shares and hence avoiding dilution in their
shareholding interests in the Company. Therefore, the Board was of the
view that the Rights Issue was in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.
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The rights issue and the placing were completed on 30 January 2023. An
aggregate of 1,019,797,000 rights shares (representing 100% of the total
number of 1,019,797,000 rights shares available for subscription under the
rights issue) were allotted and issued, out of which (i) 557,798,129 rights
shares were allotted and issued under valid acceptances of provisional
allotments of the rights shares; and (i) 461,998,871 rights shares were
allotted and issued to placees under the placing. The rights shares
represent (i) approximately 33.33% of the total number of issued shares
of the Company immediately before completion of the rights issue; and (ii)
25.00% of the total number of issued shares of the Company as enlarged
by the allotment and issue of the rights shares, and have an aggregate
nominal value of HK$10,197,970. The rights shares rank pari passu in all
respects with the other shares of the Company in issue. The net proceeds
from the placing received by the Company, after deducting all related
costs, fees, expenses and commission, were approximately HK$173.7
million, representing a net issue price of approximately HK$0.376 per
placing share. The aggregate net proceeds raised from the rights issue
(including the placing), after deducting all related costs, fees, expenses and
commission, were approximately HK$388 million.

For further details, please refer to the prospectus of the Company dated 21
December 2022 and the announcements of the Company dated 11 January
2023 and 27 January 2023.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Company had applied 70% of the
net proceeds from the rights issue (representing approximately HK$271.6
million) for the repayment of the external debts of the Group payable in
2023 and the remaining net proceeds of approximately HK$116.4 million
for the general working capital of the Group according to the intentions
previously disclosed by the Company.
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PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL MANDATE

After the reporting period, on 26 January 2024, the Company entered into
a placing agreement with Gransing Securities Co., Limited, the placing
agent, pursuant to which the placing agent conditionally agreed to place
up to 500,000,000 placing shares at the placing price of HK$0.218 per
placing share to not less than six institutional, corporate or independent
individual investors on a best effort basis. The placing price of HK$0.218
per placing share represents: (i) a discount of approximately 11.38% to
the closing price of HK$0.246 per share of the Company as quoted on the
Stock Exchange on the date of the placing agreement; and (ii) a discount
of approximately 7.23% to the average closing price of HK$0.235 per
share of the Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last five
consecutive trading days immediately prior to the date of the placing
agreement. Completion took place on 21 February 2024. A total of
500,000,000 placing shares were successfully placed to not less than six
placees at the placing price of HK$0.218 per placing share. The placing
shares were issued under the general mandate granted to the Directors
by a resolution of the Shareholders passed at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 30 June 2023. The placing shares have an
aggregate nominal value of HK$5,000,000 and represent (i) approximately
12.26% of the issued share capital of the Company immediately before
completion; and (ii) approximately 10.92% of the issued share capital of
the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the placing shares
immediately upon completion. The gross proceeds from the Placing were
HK$109,000,000 and the net proceeds, after deduction of the placing
commission and other related expenses of the placing, were approximately
HK$105,800,000. The net placing price is approximately HK$0.2116 per
placing share. The net proceeds were used as to (i) 50% (approximately
HK$52,900,000) for partial repayment of the Convertible Bonds; and (ii)
the remaining 50% (approximately HK$52,900,000) for general working
capital of the Group according to the intentions previously disclosed in
the Company's announcement dated 21 February 2024. For details, please
refer to the Company’s announcements dated 26 January 2024 and 21
February 2024.
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The Board considered equity fundraising to be a suitable financing option
as compared with other means of financing as it enabled the Group to
raise capital in an efficient manner without increasing the interest burden
on the Group, strengthen its financial position and reduce the liquidity risk.
It also represented a good opportunity to broaden the capital base of the
Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the reasonable knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of its shares in the hands of
the public in accordance with the Listing Rules as at the Latest Practicable
Date.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the charitable donation made by the Group was nil (2022:
RMB98,000).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group’s annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and provided advice and comments thereon.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned as the auditor of the Company whereas
HLB was appointed as the new auditor of the Company, both with effect
from 21 December 2020.

HLB has been re-appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect from
the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30
June 2023 to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company. The consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2023 were audited by HLB, who will retire at the
conclusion of the forthcoming AGM 2024 and, being eligible, will offer
itself for re-appointment as external auditor of the Company.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions summarized in Note 43 to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 did not
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules except for the key management
compensation referred to in note 43(c) to the consolidated financial
statements (which were fully exempt pursuant to either Rule 14A.95 of
the Listing Rules or the de minimis exemption under Rule 14A.76(1) of the
Listing Rules).

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2024 AGM is expected to be held in late June 2024. The Board would
advise further information in due course.

By order of the Board

Dr. ZHANG Chunlong
Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director

28 March 2024
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31/F, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark
11 Pedder Street

HLB B M7 &<t F 5 A RN A
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

Central
Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tibet Water
Resources Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 85 to 253, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement
of other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Boards (“IASB") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of goodwill and investments accounted for using

the equity method

Refer to Notes 18 and 19 in the consolidated financial statements

RRETER

iR FRRRERMNERAE 2R
HAMGAMBRRNBABRREENE
B BESHRERMEFBREAVHR
KRB ABRFETREN - RATEHE
LERRUEBOER -

HAERENERERRREARNRE

F2HEAMBRRME 18 %19

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
arising on acquisition of businesses through acquisition
of subsidiaries and investments accounted for using
the equity method as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balance to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, combined with the significant
degree of judgments made by the management of
the Group associated with the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated and investments accounted for using the equity
method.

As at 31 December 2023, the investment in an associate
arose from the acquisition of Tibet Shannan Yalaxiangbu
Industrial Ltd. (“Shannan Yalaxiangbu”) amounted to
approximately RMB652,561,000 before any impairment loss.
An impairment loss of approximately RMB261,145,000 was
recognised for the above investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu
based on management’s impairment analysis.

This conclusion was based on a value-in-use model that
required significant management judgement with respect to
the discount rate and the underlying cash flows, in particular
future revenue growth. An independent external valuation
was obtained in respect of the impairment assessment on
goodwill and investments accounted for using the equity
method in order to support management's estimates.

Our procedures in relation to management's impairment
assessment of goodwill and investments accounted for
using the equity method included:

e Evaluating the independent external valuers’
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

e Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology, key assumptions and estimates used
based on our knowledge of the relevant industry
and using our valuation experts;

e Challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions
based on our knowledge of business and industry;
and

e  (Checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

We found that the management judgment and estimates
used to assess the recoverable amount of cash-generating
units and investments accounted for using the equity
method and determine the impairment provision were
supportable by available evidence.
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Allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables and other

financial assets at amortised cost

Refer to Notes 21 and 24 in the consolidated financial statements

BREZRKABSGEATTENRGEHE
ERMEEBREE
F2HEAMBRRME21 K24

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As at 31 December 2023, the Group recorded the trade
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost of
approximately RMB265,320,000 and RMB1,048,257,000
respectively before the loss allowance amounting to
approximately RMB83,422,000 and RMB41,292,000 has
been made on trade receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost respectively.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and other financial
assets at amortised cost are based on management’s
estimate of the lifetime or 12-month expected credit
losses to be incurred, which is estimated by taking into
account the credit loss experience, ageing of overdue
trade receivables, customers’ and debtors’ repayment
history, collaterals and financial position and the
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions, all of which involve significant
degree of management judgement and estimation.

We focused on this area due to the use of significant
management judgements and estimates included in the
allowance for expected credit losses assessment of trade
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost
under the expected credit losses model involved.

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment
on provision for allowance for expected credit losses of
trade receivables and other financial assets at amortised
cost included:

®  Assessing whether items in the trade receivables
ageing report were classified within the appropriate
ageing bracket by comparing, on a sample basis,
individual items in the report with the relevant sales
invoices and credit terms;

®  Assessing the reasonableness of management’s loss
allowance estimates on trade receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost by examining the
information used by management to form such
judgements, including on a sample basis, testing the
accuracy of the historical default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current conditions and forward-
looking information and examining the actual losses
recorded during the current financial year; and

e Assessing the reasonableness of recoverability
of trade receivables and other financial assets at
amortised cost with reference to historical utilisation
pattern and credit history of trade debtors including
settlement records, subsequent settlements and
ageing analysis.

We found that the management judgment and estimates
used to assess the recoverability of the trade receivables
and other financial assets at amortised cost and determine
the allowance for expected credit losses provision were
supportable by available evidence.

ARKERBRAA | F/] 2023 79



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
BYGHMRE

BREGEE

RENEH AR EERE S

R-ZE-_=F+-_fA=+—H  E£EHERLKEIAR
NERKAENEMERMEE S B AR 265,320,000
TR AR 1,048,257,0007T - EEDRIREKRE ZHA R
UNEBRRANENEOESREEFRBERBENARE
83,422,000 7T} AR¥ 41,292,0007T ©

REE SR AERKAG ENE S REENERERET
ENEREYUFENILTELAN 2EARBEEBRENG
B HEZEFERALR ANEZRETER TPk
B ANERLE - B m R BAOR AR S B AT TER — R
RERRFHERGEE  BEPEREGIREARENEEE
FIET R A5 -

RAEIZEARARERERACEEFREAHEF R
FMAESBK A ENAECEREEETRAEEEHRN G
BEE - ERTERNEEABAMMGE

BABREEEHERE SR RNERAATENE M SR
BEFRORNEEBRRENREFBRE

BBEBRETNEERR BEREERRRERERRNU
T AETHE - FHERRE SRR RE TR
~REBREENRREENR

BRREEEEANTRILEAGNEE  FHhHEER
HERE D F L ABRR A ENAEREENER
BREGNAEN  BRBEASELENBEN LR
1 FHEERBRERGRIEE AN R AT EERHE
TEERE  MMREAMBFEISNERER &

SEBEERBRANESEBAZEEEL(BREEE
AEk - HREENIRE D) E 55 R AR R
RAGTENEMEREEN A WEENSIEM] -

BARS  EEERNTEERE ZREABSREATEDN

Htv 2B EN I E M AR EERE S REEHNHE
FBRRARPEES °

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

82

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.
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The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent

auditors’ report is Shek Lui.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Shek Lui
Practising Certificate Number: P05895

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEBER
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=F1+-A=+—HILFE

2023

Notes
P EE —B=F
RMB’000
ARBTR
Revenue WA 7 314,428
Cost of sales SHE AR (236,814)
Gross profit EF 77,614
Selling and distribution costs HERDHE R (50,254)
Administrative expenses THEHR (88,972)
Allowance for expected credit loss € RIEEBHEEERE
on financial assets B (36,942)
Other gains, net Hibzs o 558 8 15,167
Operating loss REBE (83,387)
Finance cost, net HMBER  FH8 9 (2,118)
Share of result on investments FEh R AEREANR
accounted for using HIRE BB
the equity method 19 (263)
Impairment loss on investments FAEREARN
accounted for using REREEE
the equity method 19 (261,145)
Loss before income tax BRETEBAIER (346,913)
Income tax expense St ER 10 (5,954)
Loss for the year FEEEB 11 (352,867)
Loss for the year attributable to ~ ZAARHEH AEMN
owners of the Company FEEBE (352,867)
Loss per share attributable to KAREE AENL
owners of the Company BRER
- basic and diluted (RMB cents) —EFXRBE(ARYS) 13 (8.97)

2022
—E-F
RMB'000

ARETT

311,947

(221,063)

90,884
(29,765)
(74,947)

(88,617)
18,461

(83,984)
(2,439)

(10,694)

(97,117)
(5,349)
(102,466)

(102,466)

(3.69)

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GeHtEzEBER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=F+-A=t—HILFE

Loss for the year

EEBR

1"

Other comprehensive income/(loss):
Item that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation
from functional currency to
presentation currency

HipzmEba/ (B#8) :
BT ARG EREF 7 EE
Ra#)EE -

AN EBIRE RS2 B
=8

Other comprehensive income/ FEHtZEKE (FE)
(loss) for the year, net of tax MkRHE

Total comprehensive loss for FEXHEBEAE
the year

Total comprehensive loss FARBEEABLEZEFELE

attributable to owners of
the Company

RMB’000
AR®T R

(352,867)

13,802

13,802

(339,065)

(339,065)

RMB’000

ARETT

(102,466)

(36,512)

(36,512)

(138,978)

(138,978)

The above consolidated statement of other comprehensive income should

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBERR T
As at 31 December 2023
RZEZ=%+-A=t+—-8

2023

2022

Note
Pt ZEZZH T F
RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR¥TR ARETT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Right-of-use assets FHESE 15 27,779 27,126
Property, plant and equipment ER 16 332,894 372,543
Intangible assets EREE 17 24,679 27,890
Goodwill SES 18 721,139 721,139
Investments accounted for using FREREAENEE
the equity method 19 1,215,508 1,443,916
Deferred tax assets RIEFTAEE 20 2,143 4,570
Prepayments TR I 23 4,756 8,057
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 2,328,898 2,605,241
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 25 118,730 106,538
Trade receivables JEUWE 53K 21 181,898 190,499
Loan receivables e E K 22 75,369 —
Prepayments B FRIE 23 251,938 199,480
Other financial assets at amortised cost VAR AT E /)
HiemEE 24 1,006,965 980,228
Cash and cash equivalents BeRReEEY 27 21,758 58,147
Total current assets REEEMAE 1,656,658 1,534,892
Current liabilities nREBEE
Trade and notes payables ENE SR ENTEE 28 153,940 246,918
Deferred revenue EIEUA 29 2,374 2,374
Contract liabilities aRaE 30 17,061 34,784
Tax payable eI 31,526 36,258
Accruals and other payables FBIlREANEMEMNR 31 160,862 180,532
Bank borrowings RITER 32 372,500 452,000
Convertible bonds - liability component ABRRES - AEHS 33 321,354 —
Lease liabilities ME&E 15 1,110 730
Total current liabilities RBEEAE 1,060,727 953,596
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
HEUBRRE

As at 31 December 2023

;S

Note 2023 2022

i —EC-=F —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

Net current assets REBEEFH 595,931 581,296
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBARE 2,924,829 3,186,537
Non-current liabilities FRBEE

Bank borrowings RITIER 32 54,000 —
Deferred revenue EIELA 29 9,019 11,394
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFAAE 20 4,977 6,929
Lease liabilities HEAR 15 1,072 58
Convertible bonds - liability component ARRES - AERS 33 — 308,696
Total non-current liabilities *RBEEEE 69,068 327,077
Net assets FEE 2,855,761 2,859,460
Capital and reserves EXRHE

Share capital AR 34 34,388 25,580
Reserves ] 2,821,373 2,833,880

Total equity attributable to owners of ERRHAEARLRSESE
the Company 2,855,761 2,859,460

The consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 253 are approved  $85F 253 BEMGEAMKERERE N T -M
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2024 and  F=ZA-+/\BEEZEZei £ LREET

are signed on its behalf by: TEATEEREREE
CHOW Wai Kit B## CHENG Gwan Sing #8#5%&
Director 2% Director Z&

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in  _F#lt4R A B %k 7 3% & E2 BE BT B 55 — BF 63
conjunction with the accompanying notes. & e
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g =
A
- kit
o A ilE 32
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-Z-ZF+-A=+-—HItFE
- Attributable to the owners of the Company
ROFHEE AR
Shares held Other
Share Share for share reserves Retained
capital premium  award scheme (Note 36) earnings Total equity
RROZR EftfeE
B& BROEE  FEEERRG (Hr3E36) BrlE BRAE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBTR AR®T T ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2022 R-E--f-B-RHES 21,618 1,243,985 (173,037) 188,623 1,550,243 2,831,432
Loss for the year FRNEE - - - - (102,466) (102,466)
Other comprehensive loss: E2EES
Exchange differences on translation ~ FlIEEBRE A2F|EHA
from functional currency to EiEE
presentation currency — — — (36,512) — (36,512)
Total comprehensive ER2EFRER
loss for the year — — — (36,512) (102,466) (138,978)
Placing of new shares (Note 34) &R (M3t 34) 3,962 164,405 — - - 168,367
Transaction costs attributable to RERRDEEHRZHA
placing of new shares - (1,361) - - - (1,361)
Balance at 31 December 2022 and ~ WZB-Z%+-A=+-HR
1 January 2023 Zg-zE-f-AHES 25,580 1,407,029 (173,037) 152,111 1,447,777 2,859,460
Loss for the year ERER = = - - (352,867) (352,867)
Other comprehensive income: B2k -
Exchange differences on translation Pl ERRE BZF|EHA
from functional currency to EREE
presentation currency = = = 13,802 = 13,802
Total comprehensive ER2EFRAT
loss for the year = = = 13,802 (352,867) (339,065)
Share issued upon completion TEER R B ATROR A (P 34)
of right issue (Note 34) 8,808 330,300 = = = 339,108
Transaction costs attributable TRERERNHRZHA
upon completion of right issue = (3,742) = = — (3,742)
Balance at 31 December 2023 RZBZZE+ZB=+-BH
gk 34,388 1,733,587 (173,037) 165,913 1,094,910 2,855,761
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in  F #4374 #E 25 & 3 K & L2 BE BT B 55 — BFED
conjunction with the accompanying notes. i o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERSRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=F+-A=t—HILFE

®o

Notes 2023

Cash flow from operating activities
Loss before income tax
Adjustments for:
Impairment loss on investment
in associates
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Depreciation of PP&E
Amortisation of intangible assets
Amortisation of deferred income
Finance income
Finance cost
Share of result of investments
accounted for using the equity method
Gain on disposal of PP&E
Fair value changes of financial
assets at FVTPL

Allowance for ECL on financial assets
Loss on deregistration of an associate

Gain on disposal of an associate
Write-down of inventories

SEEDRLR
I B A 1R
B

REE R RIRENREEER

EREEENE

WE - BERREBITE

B EEEH

YN 3z

TR

HisER

JEIGE R ERAABRE
REER
HEME - BFE kERERE
NRREEGEREE
AABHENEREE
DREEED
EREERBEREBERE
—[EH S R R REE Y
BB

HE RS AR R
FEMUR

Operating cash flows before
movement in working capital
Increase in inventories
Increase in trade receivables
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and
other financial assets at amortised cost

Increase in loan receivables

Decrease in trade and notes payable

(Decrease)/increase in accruals and
other payables

Decrease in contract liabilities

EELSBBANKERSR

FEE

FEWE 5 58 b

TR TRIE R A ERA R
ATEMEMERERE
(42hn), /B

FEWEFIE AN

ENE SR RENEERD

BIRER R EMEMNR
CRA),/

AREERD

i —EC-=F
RMB’'000

AR¥T T

(346,913)

261,145

11 2,088
11 53,739
11 3,211
(2,374)

(37,486)

39,604

19 263
(127)

8 N
11 36,942
19 —
19 =
8 436
10,528
(12,628)
(15,084)
(71,179)
(71,873)
(92,978)
(28,260)
(17,723)

2022

RMB’000

ARETT

(97,117)

1,251
55,525
3,230
(2,374)
(35,202)
37,641

10,694

2,000
88,617

43
(1,780)
675

63,203
(16,622)
(22,485)

109,471

(31,006)

10,115
(20,171)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FEALRER
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BEZ_=F+-A=1+-RL%E

Notes 2023
P EE —BCZ=F
RMB’000
ARBTR
Cash (used in)/generated ReEH(AA) /EENRS
from operations (299,197)
Interest received BHF S 26,291
Interest paid BERFE (9,221)
Income taxes paid ERFEH (10,223)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated RETEE (M) EED
from operating activities BeRFE (292,350)
Cash flows from investing activities RETHHRER
Purchases of PP&E BEME  BFERRE (14,094)
Proceeds from disposal of PP&E HEME - BFE KB
{3 IE 137
Addition of investment in an associate N — s A R AIRE (33,000)
Loans granted to third parties EFE=FFAE (82,704)
Repayments received from BEWE=FEFTER
loans to third parties 73,318
Cash received from deregistration of — R & N A R
an associate 2R E =
Dividend income received B B A —
Net cash flows used RETBFARSRFHE
in investing activities (56,343)

2022
—E-—F
RMB'000

ARETT

92,505
11,996
(15,093)

(2,853)

86,555

(5,500)

(222,759)

5,000

1,040
13,647

(208,572)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-="F+-A=+-BL%E

Pt ZEZZH T F
RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR®T R ARETT
Cash flows from financing activities METHRER
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIE TS FUR 39 444,500 100,000
Repayments of bank borrowings BRIBITER 39 (470,000) (133,000)
Loans from third parties BBE=HEX 39 16,620 14,842
Repayment of loans to third parties BEF=FER 39 (12,832) (21,083)
Payments of lease liabilities HEABMNZK 39 (1,449) (557)
Proceeds from issue of new shares REBRO B E BTG
pursuant to share placing F1S 5038 — 168,367
Proceeds from issue of RBHRETRG FERIA
shares pursuant to rights issue 339,108 —
Transaction cost attributable to BITRODEIENR A
issue of shares (3,742) (1,361)
Net cash flows generated from METBRENRERERE
financing activities 312,205 127,208
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERBLZEBYWORL),/
cash equivalents 0 E 58 (36,488) 5,191
Cash and cash equivalents FReLEEEEY
at beginning of year 58,147 53,818
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [EXRE 8 EF5E 99 (862)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRBERBLSZEEY 27 21,758 58,147

B B B A BB B — 04

conjunction with the accompanying notes. & e

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEUBBmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=F1+-A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law as an exempted company with limited liability on 8
November 2010. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
engaged in production and sales of water products and beer products
in PRC and provision of lending services to third parties in Hong Kong
with relevant license.

The Company's shares have been listed on the Stock Exchange since
30 June 2011.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
different from the Company’s functional currency HKD. The Directors
adopted RMB as presentation currency as the operational entities are
located in the PRC.

—RER
ARNARZZE—EF+—AN\BRE
RAVERAEHSTME L RER
SERDA - FMPEEA MU R
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands ©

ARAR—HRERKRIR - XEE
ERBRRELEERHEKER LGB
Em TERBHEBHEBEERRAE=
TR A E MR -

ARAWBENBE-E——F R A=T
FEFER A £ o

HEMBHRRAARKZY  BRIR
ARBNNEEEET  HREEE
BURDE EFRBARBERZE
HEH o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-="F+-A=+-BL%E

94

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO IFRSs

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs issued by the IASB for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or after
1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

IFRS 17 (including the June 2020 Insurance Contracts
and December 2021
Amendments to IFRS17)

Amendments to IAS1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendment to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform -
Pillar Two Model Rules

The application of the new and amendments to IFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FERBERRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-Z-—F+-A=+-HILFE

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO IFRSs (CONTINUED)

Amendments to IFRSs in issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments

to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 21

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

Sale of Contribution of
Assets between an Investor
and its Associate
or Joint Venture'

Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback?
Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current?
Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants?
Supplier Finance Arrangements?

Lack of Exchangeability?

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The Directors anticipate that the application of the all other
amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the

consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

P& P ¥ BB Bt 15 3R 5 E R RABRT A

(&)
ERMENREROHEARTERE
28

AEEWEREAEALTEBMHED
R AR T B BT 7% s 2 A R B 5T
PN

BRI mERER REERA
pog

E105 & =N

BIFR &5t 2R A EER

F28FHIEFTA MEEHS
FEAT

BIFR B mE ER SRR

F16REFT AR HEERE?

Bl el BENEA

F1RETAR MBI EN?

BB & 5T A B RS2 5% /)

F1RETAR FnBERE?

Bl il AR R A 2 ik

FIHRKR

BURR BF F $R 5 2E R

FTRIETAR

Bl el TR A] R

£21 RETH
' REFEESB s 2 % HEnFEH
IR
2 R-ZZ-MFE—-A— B Z&HAKRD
FREEBRAER -
; RIZE-AF-A-BRZEFMRD
FRE IR AR o

EEEE RAURANKK ERM
A H MBS R & ERERT A KA
SHEAVBRRELEATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-="F+-A=+-BL%E

96

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs (which include all International Financial
Reporting Standards, IASs and Interpretations) issued by IASB. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Listing Rules and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for the financial assets at FVTPL and the
financial assets at FVTOCI, as explained in the accounting policies
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share
based payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of IFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2
Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBHRRM T

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-Z-=H+-B=t-HI%E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements

are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which

the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the

significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its

entirety, which are described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company

and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

has the power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affects its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of

the three elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-="F+-A=+-BL%E

98

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control
of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the Company
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between the members of the Group are
eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately
from the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBHRRM T

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-Z-=H+-B=t-HI%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements of the investee's net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the steering committee that makes strategic
decisions.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which includes
an input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The acquired processes are
considered substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue
producing outputs, including an organised workforce with the
necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform the related
processes or they significantly contribute to the ability to continue
producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or cannot
be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to
continue producing outputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-="F+-A=+-BL%E

100

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquire
and the equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual Framework
except for transactions and events within the scope of IAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets or IFRIC-Int
21 Levies, in which the Group applies IAS 37 or IFRIC-Int 21 instead
of the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed
in a business combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition
date, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based payment at the acquisition
date (see the accounting policy below);
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discounted Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in IFRS
16 Leases) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration

transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the

acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity

interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition

date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities

assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date

amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any

non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the

acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess

is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at their
fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from
additional information obtained during the ‘measurement period’
(which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Other contingent
consideration is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
and measured under IFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as
established at the date of acquisition of the business less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of cash
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than
an operating segment.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Goodwill (continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the cash-
generating unit within the group of cash-generating units, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of
the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of
an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash- generating
unit within a group of cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative values of the
operation (or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion
of the cash generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)
retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures
are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity
method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as
held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with
IFRS 5 Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discounted Operations.
Any retained portion of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture that has not been classified as held for sale continues to be
accounted for using the equity method. The financial statements of
associates and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group
for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the
equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate
or joint venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of
an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that
associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

GEVBBERNERELERERS
ABRER(E)

RBERNARSELENRE(E)
RELER—RALERE BH ¥
ZHEERREHENE DA RE
BRALBRFNEEFE - KREH
BEATAMERRZHZ T B
EHERBERS AR RAEKREH A
Eh—BRAEKLERFE -

BERASAEbENRERBER
BE - DERBESEFEARMAZL
ERBHER - EHRERDBERFHE
HERRIN EUER TERRER
FHRERANBSHFHIEHERNIER
PEERDRIERBAR - WHRBE
RAEgABREEARENTAREH
DEADBRFEHEE  MBERA
BEENR - IBREFHE AR B
ERRRAERAMNMBERER - JIE
BARERBEUBR TRURS K
EFNR S ERRRE  RE#ER
% RBERA A ELRNEREL
FREAMBMARBRARER - &
RIFELHENERAEE R Z D
ARAELERNBERIAMEENR
HeMERR/ AECENEEFE
2Y(HRBRLEME2E KRN T E
A BRZSEYERARERA
WAARESLRED - HAKEE
EHERRSAELENBRBEAR
SERZBERRRAELRNER
(BREFEE LBERASENZS 2
NAHABEFFRENTARIRE
@) MIAEESRILEREEENE
—SER  REEAKERELATE
FEEETARKRBELASEZED
ENFE - TeEREIMNGE -

AREAERERLT | £ 2023 105



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-="F+-A=+-BL%E

106

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost
of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
investment in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with 1AS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount
of the investment subsequently increases.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate
or joint control over or joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest
in the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is
a financial asset within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial instrument, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing of a part interest in the associate or joint venture is
included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would
be required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or joint
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon
disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint
venture that are not related to the Group.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group's interests in associates and joint ventures

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate.
There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.

When the Group increases its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
goodwill is recognised at acquisition date if there is excess of the
consideration paid over the share of carrying amount of net assets
attributable to the additional interests in associates or joint ventures
acquired. Any excess of share of carrying amount of net assets
attributable to the additional interests in associates or joint ventures
acquired over the consideration paid are recognised in the profit or
loss in the period in which the additional interest are acquired.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the
Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group's consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or
joint venture that are not related to the Group.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers and other income

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

ii. the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

iii. the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers and other income (continued)
(a) Sales of goods — wholesale

The Group manufactures and sells a range of water products and
beer products in the wholesale market. The Group also sells raw
materials and consumables to associates and third parties. Sales
are recognised at a point in time when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to the customers,
the customers have full discretion over the channel and price to sell
the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the customers’ acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the
products have been shipped to the specified location; the risks of
obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customers.

(b)  Sales of goods — water cards

Sales of water products to certain distributors or end customers
Under the Water Cards Sales
Arrangement with the distributors, the distributors sell the water

are made in form of water cards.

cards to the end customers and use the logistics network, which
is designed by the Group with the Group’s long-term cooperative
logistics suppliers, to deliver water products to the designated
locations at the request of the end customers when the water cards
are redeemed before the expiry dates; and relevant logistics expenses
are charged to the Group. Sales of goods under the Water Cards
Sales Arrangement are deferred as the Group has ultimate obligations
towards the card holders. Sales of goods under the Water Cards
Sales Arrangement are recognised at a point in time when the water
cards are redeemed by the end customers and the water products are
delivered, or when the water cards are expired, whichever is earlier.

(c) Interest income

The Group provides money lending services to third parties in Hong
Kong with relevant license and earns interest as revenue. Related
interest income is recognised in a time proportion basis using
effective interest method.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers and other income (continued)
(d) Rental income

Rental income from leasing of production lines is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application of IFRS 16 or arising from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under IFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a single
lease component.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of premises and office equipments that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received,

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

*  an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
straightline basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

* variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

* amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

*  payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of- use assets) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

* the lease payments change due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review/expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

* the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications (continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities and
lease incentives from lessor by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative standalone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a
result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments
as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the Group applies the
practical expedient to remeasure the lease liabilities by discounting
the revised lease payments using the unchanged discount rate, unless
the change in lease payments results from a change in floating
interest rates. In that case, the Group uses the revised discount rate
that reflects change in the interest rate and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets. A lease modification is
required by interest rate benchmark reform if, and only if, both of
these conditions are met:

e the modification is necessary as a direct consequence of interest
rate benchmark reform; and

*  the new basis for determining the lease payments is economically
equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the basis immediately
preceding the modification).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under IFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through forgiveness
or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease
as part of the lease payments for the new lease.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Lease modification

For rent concession under which the Group legally releases the lessee
from its obligation to make specifically identified lease payment, of
which some of these lease payments are contractually due but not
paid and some of them are not yet contractually due, the Group
accounts for the portions which have been recognised as operating
lease receivables (i.e. the lease payments which are contractually due
but not paid) by applying the ECL and derecognition requirements
under IFRS 9 and applies lease modification requirements for the
forgiven lease payments that the Group has not recognised (i.e.
the lease payments which are not yet contractually due) as at the
effective date of modification.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entities,
transactions in currencies other than functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group's interests in associates.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continuead)

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and expense
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in a currency translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes
a financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in a
currency translation reserve in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss. Settlements of monetary items which
formed part of net investment in foreign operations without changes
in Group's ownership interests is not considered as partial disposals.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the Group's net
assets in HKD to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. RMB) are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in currency translation reserve. Such exchange differences
accumulated in the currency translation reserve are not reclassified to
profit or loss subsequently.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continuead)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general
borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets (including property, plant and equipment) are recognised as
deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants relate to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other gains, net” line item.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefit costs

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of
when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the
termination benefit and when it recognises any related restructuring
osts.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another IFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits
are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash
outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services
provided by employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities" carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that another IFRS requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an
asset.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2023

GEVBBERNERELERERS
ABRER(E)

BREwE (&)
RIEMECELRAXABRAANE
REBRENEABEE - MERRK
MR A 2 B A B 2 e B 7
B RARKEMNBEER - %
FRB e H A e F 5 ] — 55K
RN

BRI A
[ E BB PR PR AR AR 81 A9 RN B
BRHERS S REFRRIZFHK
B IR BRI °

BBERAE
HERENEESRASEERELE
B R A B A R B E R I AR
FBAKA(BRERTE )RR -

EHRHEARBESREAN
RHEERMNEERHMRBERIEZE
MA@ RTRSBER - B
RHEBRMNOBERA/FAX  KRIFA
S RBRE G RELRRE L
R AT A B RIERR

EERABA(MIERFE  FREK
ABRIRIBENEBEERAAE -

pEMRHEEEFERNEERA
SEREERESHHEEEMEM
FRIBEL B RRR SRR E
ATE o RBAA - MEREHES
REEREENTNEPIRIBEDHE
B AR - BEERABREERR
FE XS FFat ABERA ARG



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Employee benefits

The employee benefit expenses mainly include salary, bonus,
allowances and other expenditures incurred in exchange for the
employee services. All employee benefit obligations are recognised
during the period when the services are provided, and charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss or included in the cost of the
related assets.

(a)  Pension obligations - defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no
legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits
relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered
pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.

For Long services payment obligation, the Group accounts for the
employer MPF contributions expected to be offset as a deemed
employee contribution towards the LSP obligation in terms of IAS
19.93(a) and it is measure on a net basis. The estimated amount of
future benefit is determined after deducting the negative service
cost arising from the accrued benefits derived from the Group's
MPF contributions that have been vested with employees, which are
deemed to be contributions from the relevant employees.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (continued)
(b)  Housing funds, medical insurances and other social insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to participate in
various government-supervised housing funds, medical insurance
and other employee social insurance plan. The Group contributes on
a monthly basis to these funds based on certain percentages of the
salaries of the employees, subject to certain ceilings. The Group's
liability in respect of these funds is limited to the contributions
payable in each period.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and other
providing similar services are measured at fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is
expensed to profit or loss on a straight line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that
will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
held for share award scheme). At the end of the reporting period,
the Group revises its estimates of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the shares held for share award
scheme.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in the shares held for share award scheme will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in the shares held for share award scheme will
be transferred to retained earnings.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (continued)
When shares granted are vested, the amount previously recognised in
share-based payments reserve will be transferred to other reserve.

Taxation
The income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred
income tax expense.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and
at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right- of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities ,the Group applies IAS 12 requirements to
the lease liabilities, and the related assets separately. The Group
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred
tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current tax and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the financial period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost less accumulated impairment losses of each asset to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 12-40 years
Machinery 51to 15 years
Vehicles 3 to 8 years
Furniture and equipment 3 to 5 years

Others 10 to 20 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within “Other
gains, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

CIP represents buildings, plant and machinery under construction or
pending installation and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Cost includes the costs of construction and acquisition
and capitalised borrowing costs. No provision for depreciation is
made on CIP until such time as the relevant assets are completed and
ready for intended use. When the assets concerned are available for
use, the costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated above.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of investment
properties over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account of their estimated residual values using the straight-line
method.

Investment property is transferred to owner-occupied property
when there is a change in use as evidenced by the commencement
of owner occupation. Owner-occupied property is transferred to
investment property when there is a change in use as evidenced by
end of owner-occupation.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no future
economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised
separately from goodwill are recognise initially at their fair value at
the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the
same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Trade name

Trade name acquired in a business combination is recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. Trade name has a finite useful life
and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of trade
name over their estimated useful lives of 18.2 years.

Distribution network

Distribution network acquired in a business combination is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. The distribution network has a
finite useful life of 8 years and is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method over the expected life of the distribution network.

Information system

Information system acquired in a business combination is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. The information system has a
finite useful life of 5 years and is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method over the expected life of the information system.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination (continued)
Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses
arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset
is derecognised.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets excluding goodwill

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of
its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent
from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets excluding goodwill (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental
costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group's ordinary course
of business are presented as revenue.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at FVTOCI:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except

that at the date of initial application/initial recognition of a financial

asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes

in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income

if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent

consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to

which IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term; or

* on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and has
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

() Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit-impaired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised on other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss
will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included
in the "other gains, net” line item in profit or loss.

(iii) ~ Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the “other gains, net” line item.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
financial assets which are subject to impairment assessment under
IFRS 9 (including trade receivables, loan receivables, other financial
asset at amortised cost, restricted bank deposits and cash at bank).
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events that are possible within
12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on
the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL on trade
receivables with significant balances or credit impaired are assessed
individually and the remaining trade receivables are assessed
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate age groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

* an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

*  significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

*  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

* an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

* an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial
instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a
financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the
risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default
for internal credit risk management purposes as historical experience
indicates that financial assets that meet either of the following
criteria are generally not recoverable:

e when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

e information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collateral held by the Group).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(if)  Definition of default (continued)

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers a financial

asset in default when contractual payments are 180 days past due.
The Group has rebutted the 90 days past due presumption of default
based on reasonable and supportable information, including the
Group's credit risk control practices and the historical recovery rate of
financial assets over 90 days past due. However, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account
any credit enhancements held by the Group.

(iri) ~ Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following events:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see (ii)
above);

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

* it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; or

e the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any
recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables using
a provision matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the expected losses is the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any
other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective
interest rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply a discount
rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if,
and to the extent that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting
the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where
evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be available,
the financial instruments are grouped on the below basis:

e Nature of financial instruments;

o Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost
of the financial asset.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are recognised
at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with IFRS 9; and the amount initially recognised less,
where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve
is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained
earnings.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s
own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost

using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including trade and notes payables, accruals and
other payables, bank borrowings and lease liabilities are subsequently

measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial quarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to
make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their
fair values and measured subsequently at the higher of:

o the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with IFRS 9; and

* the amount recognised initially less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.

Convertible loan notes

The component parts of the convertible loan notes are classified
separately as financial liability and equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument. A conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
(including any embedded non-equity derivatives features) is estimated
by measuring the fair value of similar liability that does not have an
associated equity component.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Convertible loan notes (continued)

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting
the amount of the liability component from the fair value of the
compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in
equity, net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured.
In addition, the conversion option classified as equity will remain in
equity until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share premium.
Where the conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity
date of the convertible note, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan notes
are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion
to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating
to the equity component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in the carrying
amount of the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible loan notes using the effective interest method.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

When the Group exchanges with the existing lender one debt
instrument into another one with the substantially different terms,
such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.
Similarly, the Group accounts for substantial modification of terms of
an existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original
financial liability and the recognition of a new liability. It is assumed
that the terms are substantially different if the discounted present
value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid
net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective
rate is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. If
the modification is not substantial, the difference between: (1) the
carrying amount of the liability before the modification; and (2) the
present value of the cash flows after modification is recognised in
profit or loss as the modification gain or loss within other gains and
losses.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made by the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. When a change in the probability
of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be
recognised as a provision.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement
of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory
restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting the
definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or

other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined
above.

Share capital and shares held for share award scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where the Company’s shares are acquired from the market by the
Bank of Communications Trust Limited for share option scheme, the
total consideration of shares acquired from the market (including
directly attributable incremental costs) is presented as shares held for
share award scheme.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group if:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to
the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the Group
or the Company's parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related to the Group.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. HEAMBBRNGEREEREES
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY TR (E)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Related parties (continued) BEAL(E)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b) 1h1k/\T§|JE1 B BIZEE
conditions applies: (continued) EAREERHE: (&)
(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (vi) ZEBZ@#H#INZALTH
identified in (a). P g AR o
(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence (i) (@O FZALTHZERE
over the entity or is a member of the key management BERZENIZALR
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). ZEB(IZEBHNER

AMEREEEKE

u)
~

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, (vii) ZERIEMBEE 2T
provides key management personnel services to the Group MKERMARERAEE
or to the parent of the Group. ZEHARRBTIEZERE

ABRRT -

Close members of the family of a person are those family BERANTZZGORAERReTE

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced HERBRXHGIZBATEIXEZEY

by, that person in their dealings with the entity. KIGMKE

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction WAL RBBEERKEE X5

when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between BHAR REEE

related parties.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of
accounting estimates, which, by definition, will seldom equal the
actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in
applying the Group's accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal the actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(a) Depreciation

The Group's management determines the residual value, useful
lives and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment and investment properties. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual residual value and useful lives of
property, plant and equipment as well as investment properties of
similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and competitor actions in response to severe
industry cycles. Management will increase the depreciation charge
where residual value or useful lives are less than previous estimates,
or it will write-off technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold. The current estimated useful lives are
stated in Note 3.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is
made.

Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact on the recognition of deferred tax assets and
taxation in the periods in which such estimates are changed.

Dividends derived from the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC earned
after 1 January 2008 are subject to withholding tax at the rate of
5%-10%. The Group reassessed its needs to make distributions out
of its subsidiaries in the PRC. As a result, withholding income tax has
been provided for the undistributed profits to the extent they are
expected to be distributed in future.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences are
recognised as management considers it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(¢) Impairment review
(i) Gooadwill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary — Tiandi Green
(Note 18)

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of CGUs to which goodwill has been
allocated, which is the higher of the value in use or fair value less
costs of disposal. The value in use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit (or a group of cash-generating units) and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, or change in facts
and circumstances which results in downward revision of future cash
flows or upward revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss
or further impairment loss may arise.

The goodwill of approximately RMB 721,139,000 was generated
from acquisition of a controlling stake in Tiandi Green in 2014.
Tiandi Green was viewed as one CGUs within the beer segment. The
recoverable amount of the CGUs is determined based on value-in-use
calculations, which is based on discounted cash flow sourced from
the financial budgets approved by the management covering a 5-year
period, and the pre-tax discount rate of approximately 15.90% (2022:
15.79%) that reflects current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the CGUs. Cash flows beyond 5-year
period have been extrapolated using 2.2% (2022: 3%) growth rate
per annum. Other assumptions included budgeted income estimated
based on the past performance and management’s expectations of
market developments, etc.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBHRRM T

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BEZ_=F+-A=1+-RL%E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Impairment review (continued)
(i) Gooadwill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary — Tiandi Green
(Note 18) (continued)

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying amount of
goodwill. Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not result in impairment. As such,
no impairment loss had been recognised for the goodwill arising from
acquisition of Tiandi Green for the year ended 31 December 2023.

(i) Investment in an associate — Highland Natural Water

As at 31 December 2023, in view of the operating performance of
the associate — High Natural Water, the Group performed impairment
assessment on the associate — High Natural Water. Determining
whether impairment loss should be recognised requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the relevant associate which is the
higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal.

This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial
estimates covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate
of approximately 14.08% (2022: approximately 14.73%). The cash
flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady
2.2% (2022: 3.0%) growth rate. In cases where the actual cash flows
are less or more than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future cash flows estimation or discount
rate, a material reversal or further recognition of impairment may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which such a reversal or further recognition takes place.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Impairment review (continued)
(i) Investment in an associate — Highland Natural Water (continued)

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying amount
of investment in Highland Natural Water. Management believes that
any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would
not result in impairment. As such, no impairment loss had been
recognised for the investment in Highland Natural Water for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

(iii) Investment in an associate — Shannan Yalaxiangbu

As at 31 December 2023, in view of the operating performance of the
associate — Shannan Yalaxiangbu, the Group performed impairment
assessment on the associate — Shannan Yalaxiangbu. Determining
whether impairment loss should be recognised requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the relevant associate which is the
higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal.

This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial
estimates covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of
approximately 14.00% (2022: 14.28%). The cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using a steady 2.2% (2022:3.0%)
growth rate. In cases where the actual cash flows are less or more
than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which result in
revision of future cash flows estimation or discount rate, a material
reversal or further recognition of impairment may arise, which would
be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a reversal
or further recognition takes place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Impairment review (continued)
(ifi)  Investment in an associate — Shannan Yalaxiangbu (continued)

The recoverable amount is below the carrying amount of investment
in Shannan Yalaxiangbu. Management believes that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would result in
impairment. As such, impairment loss of RMB 261,145,000 had been
recognised for the investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

(iv) Trade receivables, loan receivables and other financial assets at
amortised cost

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables, loan receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost are based on assumptions about
risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period.

(d) Fair value measurement of financial instruments

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s unquoted equity
investment was nil (2022: RMB nil) are measured at fair value with
fair value being determined based on unobserved inputs using
valuation techniques. Judgment and estimation are required in
establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant inputs
thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could
affect the reported fair values of these instruments. Details of the key
assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in the tables in Note 5.3.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Provision for financial guarantee contracts

The Group makes estimate on costs required to fulfil the relevant
obligation of guarantee contracts when the guaranteed amount
is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Such estimation
is based on the available information as at reporting date and is
determined by the Group’s practical experience, the default history,
the collateral held and financial position of relevant customers
assessed on an individual basis in the industry and taking into
consideration of industry information and market data. Where the
actual obligation the Group requires to fulfill is more than expected,
a material provision may arise. Amount of corporate guarantee
provided by the Group is disclosed in Note 42(b).

(f)  Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible asset

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible

assets stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment,

if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to

exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing:

(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use,
the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the assets belong.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the discount
rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially
affect the recoverable amounts.

As at 31 December 2023,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
are approximately RMB332,894,000, RMB27,779,000 and
RMB24,679,000 respectively.

the carrying amounts of property,
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market
risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise and monitor potential adverse effects on the
Group'’s financial performance in a timely and effective manner.

5.1 Financial risk factors

(a) Market risk

(i) Currency risk

The functional currency of a majority of the entities within the Group
is RMB and most of the transactions are settled in RMB. However, the
Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from its transactions,
which are primarily denominated in HKD.

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and may consider hedging significant foreign
exchange exposure should the need arises.

As at 31 December 2023, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by
5% against HKD with all other variables held constant, the total net
assets of the Group would have been approximately RMB12,902,000
(2022: RMB18,442,000) higher/lower respectively, mainly as a
result of foreign exchange translation of the consolidated financial
statements for the Company and its Hong Kong subsidiary whose
functional currency is HK; the post-tax loss for the year would have
been approximately RMB2,270,000 (2022: RMB2,697,000) lower/
higher.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(ir)  Interest rate risk

The Group currently does not have interest rate hedging policy.
However, management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need
arise.

The Group's borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to bank and cash balances
and borrowings which is partially offset by cash held at variable rates.
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group's
borrowings at variable rates were mainly denominated in RMB. At
31 December 2023, if interest rates on floating-rate borrowings had
been 5% higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post tax
profit for the year would have been approximately RMB Nil (2022:
RMB316,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
expense on floating-rate borrowings.

At 31 December 2023, the Group has bank borrowings amounting
to approximately RMB426,500,000 (2022: RMB200,000,000)
and borrowings from third parties amounting to approximately
RMBS8,796,000 (2022: RMB4,857,000) at fixed interest rates
and these expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. As at
31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of bank borrowings,
borrowings from third parties with fixed interest rates approximated
their fair value due to their short tenures and the influence of fair
value interest rate risk is marginal.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from cash
at bank, restricted bank deposits, trade receivables, loan receivables
and other financial assets at amortised cost. The carrying amounts
represent the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in relation
to those financial assets. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its
financial assets.

(i) Cash at bank and restricted bank deposits

Substantially all of the Group’s cash at bank and restricted bank
deposits are held in major financial institutions located in the PRC
and Hong Kong, which management believes are of high credit
quality. There was no recent history of default of cash at bank and
restricted bank deposits from such financial institutions/authorities.
The management considers the credit risk is insignificant and no loss
allowance was recognised.

(i) Trade receivables

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal
credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality
and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed
to customers are reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring procedures
are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In this regard, the management considers that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 17.2% (2022: 20.9%)
and 64.6% (2022: 63.4%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group's largest customer and the five largest customers,
respectively. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Trade receivables (continued)

The Group has trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer
products. For the trade receivables arising from sales of water and
beer products, the Group perform impairment assessment under ECL
model which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance. And the Group
uses two categories which reflect their credit risk, and how the
receivables loss allowance is determined for each of those categories.
For customers suffered financial difficulties, the Group recognised as
Category 1,
Category 2.

and for the other customers, the Group recognised as

For trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer products,
the expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales
over the past years and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
The Group has identified the GDP and the unemployment rate to be
the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss
rates based on expected changes in these factors.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MBEBRERE)
5.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 5.1 BB¥EABEZEE)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) GEEREE)
(i) Trade receivables (continued) (i) BREZ(E)
On that basis, the loss allowance for trade receivables due from third EHEREF R_E-_=FK_-F
parties as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 was determined as follows: ZZF+ZRA=+—H BRE=H

HEWME ZFERRBETNT -

Category 2
k- |

More than
Within 1year  1-2 years 2 years
31 December 2023 ZRIZETZAZT-A Category 1 Current past due past due past due Total
K HE  aH-Fh BE-ZRF ABEBRE h
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AE¥TR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR

Expected loss rate TEERE AR 100% 9.82% 21.96% 41.63% 68.54%
Gross carrying amount RHEAE - 117,682 27,933 60,605 59,100 265,320
Loss allowance EiERE - 11,551 6,133 25,229 40,509 83,422

a Category 2

|

More than
Within 1 year 1-2 years 2 years
31 December 2022 “EICE+CA=T-H Category 1 Current past due past due past due Total
E | P8 BE-f£R BH-EZRE AARERT h
RIMB'000 RIB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

Expected loss rate FEHELE 100% 737% 16.32% 31.14% 62.78%
Gross carrying amount FEAE - 53,606 95,776 32,753 102,463 284,598
Loss allowance BiERE - 3,953 15,626 10,198 64,32 94,099
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

5. HMBEBRERE)

5.1 MERBRERE)
(b) EEmEE)

(i) Trade receivables (continued) (i) BREZ(E)
The movement of loss allowances for trade receivables is as follows: EWEZFHRHEEREZHNT
RMB'000
AR¥ T
Balance at 1 January 2022 RZZEZZF—-A—HO&ER 90,723
Provision of impairment loss during the year FAREEBERE 86,643
Written-off ss (83,267)
Balance at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 WR-TE-—F+-/F=+—HNF
—Eo=F—A—HOER 94,099
Provision of impairment loss during the year FANREEERE 23,685
Written-off ss (34,362)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R-BZ=F+Z-A=+—-HWN&EH 83,422

Trade receivables are written off where there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable

expectation of recovery include, amongst others,

a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, where
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty

and there is no realistic prospect of recovery.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(iif)  Other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of an asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition by considering available reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information and the following indicators:

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the operating results
of the borrower; and

— significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour
of the borrower, including changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the group and changes in the operating results of
the borrower.

Other financial assets at amortised cost are written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a borrower failing
to engage in a repayment plan with the Group where information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. The Group categorises an
other financial asset at amortised cost for write off when a debtor
fails to make contractual payments and long past due, and the
aforementioned information indication of the debtor in severe
financial difficulty. Where an other financial asset at amortised cost
have been written off, the Group continues to engage in enforcement
activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries
are made, these are recognised in profit or loss.

5.

B RBERE)

51 HERBEZE)

(b) EEREEE)

(i) HBHHATTEE M BEE
AEBTEHEEETVREREZE
EHaE YRS REPEEHET
HEERBREEBEEM - ETHIE
ERRRETEELME  AEEBR
EHHEEHREOMNERE G
REMEREANRBETLEER - I
ERESHABRIHMRIEEER
K T3I&EERE

- EBREFRABRTEENRENLR
BEREHNEY - MHLLEMN
M BERIEREATFES

- ERAEEEENERIENE
X2 R

- ERAESRRBRRTANEAH
g BEGRARKTEEN R
WK/RE}]H@J&1ﬂ A/\E’ji«(%&%i\i

EUERKAGTENEMEREES
BB LW MEERARERET
HASENENTE  FENBTE
FATE?EW%I%H%E%W@

ATEE - BT UAMEE - B EBAKREENE
ﬁaﬂﬁmﬁ@%ER'M&WLﬁ
It BERBTEBATEREMS
WE - AEEGAERK AT ENA
EMEESBRME - B AHEH
RAGTENEM S B EERME - K
SEEBEETRHINTEY  UER
W o] 380 9 e MR OB o R ol R R IR
B ER B ARER o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-=H+-R=+-HI%E

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)
(iif)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

The Group uses three categories for those receivables which reflect
their credit risk and how the loss allowance is determined for each
of those categories. A summary of the assumptions underpinning the
Group's ECL model is as follows:

5. HMBEBRERE)

5.1 MERBRERE)
(b) EEmEE)
(iii) BRI ENEM T BEE

(%)
AL B AT RYGKIARE B = @R
[ B EL (= P L B DA % 2 fe e 52 18 = 1

BRIMBRER - XFARERME
EEEENNRREANT

(Eatiegory Company deflmtlon of category Ba5|s for recognition of loss allowance

Ehl HRNERATRRE BREXBENEE

Performing Receivables whose credit risk is in line with 12 month expected losses. Where the

original expectations expected lifetime of an asset is less than

12 months, expected losses are
measured at its lifetime ECL (stage 1)

iy = 5 o Bz £ R 78 H3 — BUe R UK 12AATEHEX - HREPFEDHE
12 ANEE - BHRXIZA SR

Underperforming

2z

Non-performing
(credit impaired)

TR(EERIE)

Write-off

34
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Receivables for which a significant
increase has occurred compared to original
expectations; a significant increase in credit
risk is presumed if interest and/or principal
repayments are 30 days past due
B[R YR ERAR LU (5 B R b R 22 3 ) B WK
WAMER,/ HAEEFBH30A - E'J?’éi
EERREZEM
Interest and/or principal repayments are
180 days past due or it becomes probable
a customer will enter bankruptcy
FIER,/SASEHAH 180 HAEF
Al g A\IERR T
Interest and/or principal repayments are
long past due and there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, and where
information indicating that the debtor is
in severe financial difficulty and there is
no realistic prospect of recovery
FIBR/SAEFOHEA  BAE
BEHEZRE - URBEERBREBATER

B RE B E BRI E AR

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

EEER(F1ERIFE

Lifetime ECL (stage 2)

EHEMEERR(F2HEER)

Lifetime ECL (stage 3)

EHEMEERR(FEIRR)

Amount is written off



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BEZ_=F+-A=1+-RL%E

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5.

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(iii)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

Over the term of the other financial assets at amortised cost and loan
receivables, the Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately
providing for ECL on a timely basis. In calculating the ECL rates,
the Group considers historical settlement records, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information for each category of
customers. No significant changes to estimation techniques or
assumptions were made during the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all the other financial assets
at amortised cost were within their contractual credit period. The
loss allowance for other financial assets at amortised cost as at 31
December 2023 and 2022 was determined as follows:

B RBERE)

5.1 MERBRERE)
(b) FEmEEE)
(iii) BRI ENEMEBEE
(%)
EABBRKAGENEMEREER
BREFNARA  REEEBRE
REREEBERELEERESERE
ERBRAR - £t ERHEEBEX
B AEESEREENEFPNESL
BHRELE  BEERURAENTE
MEMERRBRBENAELEER -
REEHEOBERMEAELDNRR
WEERES -

RZEZ=FR=ZF=-_=F+=H
=t+—H FIBEUBHREATENE
MeMEEYEREANEERRN -
RZZEZ=FR=ZZF-_=F+=H
=+—B - UESKAHENENS
REENBBREETET

o

31 December 2023 “E-=F+-A=+—H Performing Total
EE gt
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBT R

Expected loss rate LI P 3.94%
Gross carrying amount REAE 1,048,257 1,048,257
Loss allowance EERE 41,292 41,292
31 December 2022 :2::$‘|‘ A= ‘f’ " Performlng Total
% st
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT

Expected loss rate EEE R XK 2.91%
Gross carrying amount FE&E 1,009,620 1,009,620
Loss allowance EiERE 29,392 29,392
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z--F1+-A=t-HILEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5.

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b)  Credit risk (continued)
(iii)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, no other financial assets at
amortised cost with a contractual amount written off during the
period. The gross carrying amount of other financial assets at
amortised cost, and thus the maximum exposure to loss, is as follows:

B RBERE)

51 BM¥RMERE)

(b) EEREEE)

(i) HBHELTENEM 2 HEE
(&

RZEZ=FRZTZ=F+=A

=t+—H HAEMEEHSENU

BEHRNAHENEMEREE - LB

BRAGTENEMSREENERER

BERAEBBEANGARBAENT :

2023 2022
—E_=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ETR ARETTT

Performing na 1,048,257 1,009,620

Total gross other financial DB A ENEM SR EELRE
assets at amortised cost 1,048,257 1,009,620
Less: Loss allowance W EERE (41,292) (29,392)
1,006,965 980,228

The movement of loss allowance for other financial assets at
amortised cost is as follows:

AR AR B E 0 S BAEHE
BRESDNT :

RMB’000

AR® TR

Balance at 1 January 2022 RZE-—F—A—BHNER 27,418

Impairment loss recognised during the year FABRREESE 1,974
Balance at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZZE-_—F+-_A=+—HBK

—T=F—-F—BN&EH 29,392

Impairment loss recognised during the year FARERNREESE 11,900

Balance at 31 December 2023 RIBE-=F+-A=1+—-HWEH 41,292
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-Z-=H+-B=t-HI%E

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(iv)  Loan receivables

The Group's money lending activities mainly provides loan financing
to corporate customers. The Group has developed a credit policy
and control in place, which includes loan application, credit approval
and on-going monitoring. The Group will consider the background,
financial strength, purpose of the loan and sources of the payment of
the borrowers prior to granting of the loan.

For ongoing monitoring of the loan, the Directors of the Group
will closely monitor the loan repayment and interest payment in
accordance with the loan agreement.

The Group considers that both quantitative and qualitative
information are essential for the determination of credit risk, and
the determination factors may include historical and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. By
considering all these factors, it is the view of the management that
the credit risk of the money lending activities of the Group can be
significantly reduced.

For internal credit risk assessment and ECL assessment, the Group
considers the assessment to be in line with the same principle stated
in 5(b)(iii) in Other financial assets at amortised cost.

5.

B RBERE)

51 BMEEREBEZRE)

(b) EEREEE)

(iv) BEREK
AEBENHEXEBIZERCERPIR
HEXRE - ASECHEEERR
REHIER  EPBREERRE - F
EERRBEER - ASEEREE
RASERERANER HHKE
N EFARREFKR

BREERER AREEFRRE
ERBHEIERERER LA
o

FEERATERTHERYEET
CERRBEHMEZ  METHMY
AR B EEAENETBERAS
BHEAESH BT RATEEER -
B kAEZEERE  EEERR
AEBEHREXBNEERREHAE
BRAE o

RABEERRFGEREREEER
AEmE ARERABBFGETA
REBRKAGENEMEHREERT
5(b)(iii) Frstt B AR R R R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z =S+ -A=t+-HL%EE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MBEBRERE)
5.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 5.1 BB¥EABEZEE)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) GEEREE)
(iv) Loan receivables (continued) (iv) JEWRE(E)
As at 31 December 2023, all loan receivables were within their N_EBE-_=%+-_F=+—8" FFE
contractual credit period. The loss allowance for loan receivables as RKREFTHRERESGNEEHRAN - R
at 31 December 2023 was determined as follows: ZEI=F+ZA=1+—H " EKRE
FHBEREETHT -
.
31 December 2023 T =%+ZA=+—H Performing Total
EE mct
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®BTR AR®T R

Expected loss rate FEHBEAE 1.77%
Gross carrying amount RE4E 76,726 76,726
Loss allowance SIS 1,357 1,357
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE_Z_=F1+_A=t-BLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b)  Credit risk (continued)
(iv) Loan receivables (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, no other loan receivable with a contractual
amount written off during the period. The gross carrying amount
of loan receivables and thus the maximum exposure to loss, is as

follows:

5. HMBEBRERE)

5.1 MERBRERE)

(b) EEmEE)

(iv) EREN(E)
RZZEZ=F+ZA=+—H 1&
HtEREERNAGOEBNHAM
e BRURERNBEREREEEKX
R RARBAERT -

2023
—E-=F
RMB'000
AR®T

Performing

R 76,726

Total loan receivables
Less: Loss allowance

JEWE Z 4858 76,726
o EEEE (1,357)

75,369

The movement of loss allowance for loan receivables is as follows:

FERETNEEREZENT

RMB’000

AREBT R

Balance at 1 January 2023 RZZZ=F—HA—BW&H —
Impairment loss recognised during the year FABRRESE 1,357
Balance at 31 December 2023 R-B-=H+Z-A=+-BW&EH 1,357
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-=H+-R=+-HI%E

170

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1
(c) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient

Financial risk factors (continued)

cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount
of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market
positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
the Group's treasury function allows flexibility in funding by
maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity
position based on the expected cash flows.

(i)~ Financing arrangements
The Group has the following undrawn bank borrowing facilities:

5.

B RBERE)
5.1 MERBRERE)
(c) mEttEE

FEENRBURAREEBRARTR
MR e REARANEREEREMN
HFAHRBRES  RRTHTREN
BN ARNAKEHBEEHNDE
W AEENEBERBBERTR
WREMREEEMNREESNE
BN o

EEERBESRSREEELE
REBESHRNRE TR

]

() BEZH
AEBBHEATHARROBITER
HE

As at 31 December

Rt+t=-A=+-8
2023 2022
b g3 —EoCF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT
Fixed rate: & EF &
- expiring within one year —R—FANED 70,000 38,890
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE_Z_=F1+_A=t-BLFE

5.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(c)  Liquidity risk (continued)
(i) Maturities of financial liabilities

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities in relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the end of
the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts

disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

At 31 December 2023

5. HBERERE)
REBREEE)
mEttmeE (%)
THEEFHH

5.1
(c)
(i1)
TEIMEBERERARE
HREEE S RAABIHAENNEASE
EnemBE RPMBEENHED

AN =
Dri\‘\‘:t

RENNENAFTRATRE

R-B-=f+-A=t—H

5 B

Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ #fT4£ ¢REAE
Bank borrowings H/ITRK

ERRAHRENRR

Trade and notes payables

Convertible Bonds Mk ES
Lease Liabilities HEERE
Other financial liabilities HoRERE

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

L 237
ERNE
%
%

233

7.69
5.11

Within
1 year

—E0R
RMB'000
ARBTR

381,179
153,940
346,066

1,191
153,491

1,035,867

Undiscounted cash flows

ATRRER
More than ~ More than
1yearbut 2 years but
less than ~ less than
2 years 5 years
—EH0E MEL L
MELA BENA
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR  ARMTR
55,258 =
805 305
56,063 305

Total
contractual
undiscounted
cash flow

GL
FRRE
HEAE
RMB000
ARBT R

436,437
153,940
346,066

2,301
153,491

1,092,235

L Y —

Carrying
amount

REE
RMB'000
ARBTR

426,500
153,940
321,354

2,182
153,491

1,057,467
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-="F+-A=+-BL%E

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)  Liquidity risk (continued)

(i)~ Maturities of financial liabilities (continued)
At 31 December 2022

5.

B RBERE)

5.1 BBERERE)

(0 FBHARE)

() 2BAEHHEE)
R-Z==F+-A=+-A

Undiscounted cash flows

ATRR RN

Weighted More than ~ More than Total

average Tyearbut  2yearsbut  contractual
effective Within less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years Syears  cash flow amount

L)

T —EE WENLE  AFEES
ERAI= —EHR MEMNR REA REEH KM
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
% ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARETR

Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ FfT4RARE

Bank borrowings R/ 237 462,720 — — 462,720 45,000
Trade and notes payables ENE AT RERRE - 246,918 - - 246,918 246,918
Convertible Bonds AR ES 7.69 — 338,649 — 338649 308,69
Lease Liabilities HERE 5.18 754 59 — 813 788
Other financial liabilities EeRas - 161,628 - - 161,628 161,628

- 872,020

338,708 — 1,210,728 1,170,030

The Group provided a financial guarantee amounting to
approximately RMB 245,000,000 (2022: RMB265,000,000) to one
of its associate for obtaining bank borrowings as at 31 December
2023. Given the financial position and earning ability of the associate
company, management believe that the risk of default for the
associate for the loan repayment is very low and thus management
believes that there is no material liquidity risk arising from the
financial guarantee provided by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BEZ_=F+-A=1+-RL%E

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends to be paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group's capital is mainly from equity funding and borrowings for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on
the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as borrowings
divided by total capital. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus
borrowings.

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

5.

B RBERE)

52 EBEFXERER
AEEERBANBERRRELAEE
BEKZENREN KM ARREHED
o REAMAEEREE R SR
REREENRBURHEESKA -

e

REFNHEEARE  AKET
BHXHTFRERORE  MEREER
BAR  BTHBIHEEENRE -

[
5]

HE-E-_ZFRK-_FT-—"F+-A
Z+—RIEFE AEEMNELREE
KABRAE S RIER -

BENHGORE -8 AEEUEE
BEL RERERER o RIBH RIR
ERBRNERBEAFE - BERBER
e B AROR R TR S | 018 FRE

B o
Ean

RZBE-=FR-_Z-_-"F+=-A
—t-—HHNEEERBLENT :

R

As at 31 December

R+=ZHA=+—H
2023 2022
—E_= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETTT

Bank borrowings (Note 32) RITER(HFE32) 426,500 452,000
Borrowings from third parties (Note 31) F=FERHE3) 8,796 4,857
Convertible Bonds (Note 33) AR ES (M3 33) 321,354 308,696
Total borrowings fBarass 756,650 765,553
Total equity T B 2,855,761 2,859,460
Total capital BRMERE 3,612,411 3,625,013
Gearing ratio BEEAGLE 20.94% 21.12%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-=H+-R=+-HI%E

174

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. HMBEBRERE)
5.3  Fair value measurements of financial instruments 53 SRMIAMDAEENE
This section explains the judgements and estimates made in AHERETRAABERGS B
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that are BEANERKAENSMIANAR
recognised and measured at fair value in the consolidated financial EERPTIER HIER R b5t -
statements.
(a)  Fair value hierarchy (a) AREEER
To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in REBLHEBEETALEBEMAHASEN
determining fair value, the Group classifies its financial instruments AEREER AEERBEHER
into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An REREERIADAR=E - BEMR
explanation of each level follows underneath the table. ZEBEIRWT -
The following table presents the Group's financial assets measured TRENFEER _Z_=FI_F
and recognised at fair value at 31 December 2023 and 2022 on a T AT HEEFEEN
recurring basis: AABEFAELRERNEREE -
&
: Level 3
E3E
2023 2022
—B== —ETCF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Recurring fair value measurements REMAAREETE Wit ARBFT ARBTIT
Financial assets cREE
FVTPL UARBEFTEEEEE
FFABE
— Investment in GT Express —RERBRES 26 — —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZ_Z_=FT-A=t—HILFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(a)  Fair value hierarchy (continued)
The table above analyses the Group's financial instruments carried at
fair value as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 by level of the inputs

to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are

categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and equity
securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of
the reporting period. The quoted market price used for
financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques
which maximise the use of observable market data and
rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level
3. This is the case for unlisted equity securities.

5.

MERBRERE)

53 2RMIANAAEENEE)
(a) RAREEERE)
FREFEAABEZHERMNAA
BABBNER 2T EAKBER-F
ZEFERZFZF+ZR=+—H
BAREBEIEZCRTIE - AHH
ABBEDETXRdmo>EREAAR
BEEEAN=EER

REBTSEENSRT
AWAREBEZMAET
BENBEEF)NDRE
ERBRERRABRTEE
FoAREMBLREE
FRZTSRERERE
AE-ZZFEIAGIAE
18 -

B8

WIHRNERTZEENSE
BMTAMIMSIITET
B)NDRBENRAEE
FMRABEmZEE LG
EVRBEERNBEMRA
HEERMERE - WMat &
—HIANAREEMRS
WABEABAREART
BB AZIAIA
F2[E -

MBS EEAGAK
B R ETBENT Y
BE BZIANAS
3 L TRAESD
B -

#3E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FERBERRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z--F1+-A=t-HILEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) MERBERE)
5.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued) 53 $RIENAAEENES)
(a)  Fair value hierarchy (continued) (a) AREBEERE)
Financial assets/ Fair value Valuation Significant
financial liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy technique  unobservable input
SREE/SRER RAT RSN AAEE DMEEER HEEN EATTEERAZE
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—ECZE —E-CE
TZA=t-B f-A=t-H
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR
- GT Express products = — 2023: Level 3 2023: Discounted cash 2023: Discount rate
(2022: Level 3) flow method per annum
(2022: Discounted cash ~ (2022: Discount rate
flow method) per annum)
-ERZFER — — CE-=E$3E  CECCEEHES —To-FGEERX
(ZBZZF  £3[) k=¥

(b) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

(ZB-—%: 554E
%)

(ZB-—F BB
¢HER)

(b) ZEIELAREETEZHK

<;%AA/WW

At 1 January 2022
Transfer into level 3
Fair value changes (Note 8)

R-ZE-—_#F—H—H
EAEIE
NRBEZ(HES)

Financial
assets
at FVTPL Total
URREENE
BHZHHA
BRNemEE N
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% T AR% T
2,000 2,000
(2,000) (2,000)

At 31 December 2022,
1 January 2023 and
31 December 2023

RZE-_—_F+-A=+—8"
“E-=F—-HF—HK
—E-=F+-A=+—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBHRRM T

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-Z-=H+-B=t-HI%E

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.3  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(c)  Group’s valuation processes

The Group's finance department performs the valuation of the
financial assets during the financial reporting process, including
level 3 fair value. Management engages external valuation experts
to facilitate the fair value evaluation as and when necessary. During
the valuation, management considers the business performance of
the investee in comparison with competitors in the same industry, as
well as the external valuation report if any. Risk adjustments specific
to the counterparties (including assumptions about credit default
rates) are derived from credit risk ratings determined by the Group's
internal credit risk management group. Discussion of valuation
process and results are held between chief financial officer, the
finance team and qualified external valuers that are responsible for
the valuation.

(d)  Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The management considers that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost recognised in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

5.

B RBERE)

53 EMIANAABETESE)
(c) FEEZEHEEF
AEBPHHRPIRABERREFLHS
BREEETHEBREEIBEAALE
#) EEERNERERSEFINDME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-=H+-R=+-HI%E

178

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the
reports regularly reviewed by the executive Directors, being the
CODM, that are used to make strategic decisions.

(@) Description of segments and principal activities

(i)  Water business segment

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and selling
a range of water products through wholesales in the PRC, selling
raw materials and consumables to associates and third parties, and
leasing production lines to associates.

(i) Beer business segment
The Group manufactures and sells a range of beer products mainly in
the PRC through wholesales.

(b) Segment information disclosures

Sales between segments are based on the agreed terms between both
segments. The revenue from external parties reported to the CODM
is measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

The amounts provided to the CODM with respect of total assets and
total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with that of the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-Z-=H+-B=t-HI%E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. WERE)
(b) Segment information disclosures (continued) (b) oBEMEEE)
The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable BE-Z-_=F+-A=+—HLIt#F
segments for the year ended 31 December 2023 is as follows: B RETEELEARENTZR

HBHHBERMT -

Water Beer
business business  Corporate
segment segment  and others Total
KEBAIH WEXKIB LRREM Azt

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR AR%®Tn AR%®Txn

Total segment revenue DE AL 87,066 223,169 4,193 314,428
Cost of sales HERAR (78,109)  (158,705) — (236,814)
Gross profit ERH 8,957 64,464 4,193 77,614

Share of result on investments FEAL {0 AR ZE ABRRY

accounted for using the REEE

equity method (263) = = (263)
Allowance for ECL on PREEENEEERRE

financial assets (30,902) (4,285) (1,755) (36,942)
Adjusted EBITDA* AELEBNER

KA AE (56,278) 58,523 (26,857) (24,612)

Impairment loss on investments  JE{GF A AABRA)

accounted for using the REREESSE

equity method (261,145) — — (261,145)
Finance income BB 24,335 12,083 1,068 37,486
Finance costs IBER (6,045) (2,751) (30,808) (39,604)
Depreciation and amortisation nEREH (22,741) (35,286) (1,011) (59,038)
(Loss)/profit before tax BBAT(&518) /FE (321,874) 32,569 (57,608)  (346,913)
Income tax (expense)/credit 5% (&), Ee (2,427) (4,868) 1,341 (5,954)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(BBR) FB (324,301) 27,701 (56,267)  (352,867)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z =S+ -A=t+-HL%EE

6.

180

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. oWERE)
(b) Segment information disclosures (continued) STHEMEEE)
n Water Beer
business business
segment segment Total
KEBKDE - BEEKS @t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR¥T AR®T
Segment total assets DB E E 3,988,940 2,545,158 6,534,098
- Investments accounted for — [ AEREAERNRE
using the equity method 1,215,508 — 1,215,508
Unallocated KO
Deferred tax assets EIETIBE E 2,143
Assets of corporate and others ¥R HMEE 93,049
Inter-segment elimination baRzIaEIk €] (2,643,734)
Total assets MEE 3,985,556
Segment total liabilities SBEEE 1,406,148 437,311 1,843,459
Unallocated Ko
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFTEAE 4,977
Liabilities of corporate rEREMEE
and others 396,029
Inter-segment elimination SaR=aEIk €] (1,114,670)
Total liabilities HeR 1,129,795
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-Z-=H+-B=t-HI%E

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. oWERE)
(b) Segment information disclosures (continued) (by 2HEREEE)
The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable BE-_ZT-_F+-A=+—HLF
segments for the year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows: B RETEFELEARENTZ2H
DEHDELERIMT -
VVater Beer
business business Corporate
segment segment and others Total
KEBRHD BEEEST  CEREM @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFTT ARETT ARETR
Total segment revenue DE U A EE 65,505 246,442 — 311,947
Cost of sales HEMAR (58,186) (162,877) — (221,063)
Gross profit E7 7,319 83,565 — 90,884
Share of result on investments JEIG 0 AR A ABRM
accounted for using the REER
equity method (10,194) — (500) (10,694)
Allowance for ECL on CRHEERREERERA
financial assets (87,173) (1,260) (184) (88,617)
Adjusted EBITDA* ARAREBIIER
BEEEAE (102,947) 93,037 (24,762) (34,672)
Finance income Eip N 21,925 12,942 335 35,202
Finance costs MBER (6,071) (3,171) (28,399) (37,641)
Depreciation and amortisation MEREE (24,221) (35,112) (673) (60,006)
(Loss)/profit before tax BRBAT(EE),/FE (111,314) 67,696 (53,499) (97,117)
Income tax (expense)/credit FEH(BH) /8% (430) (6,105) 1,186 (5,349)
(Loss)/profit for the year E(&8) /7 (111,744) 61,591 (52,313) (102,466)

Adjusted EBITDA is a key financial measure regularly monitored by CODM

in managing the Group's performance. Adjusted EBITDA is calculated

by excluding the following effects from the profit/(loss) for the year: (i)

impairment losses on investments accounted for using the equity; (ii)

finance (cost)/income, net; (iii) depreciation and amortization and (iv)

income tax (expense)/credit.

* HEERERTEREHANEAE
BRERREERARERRK
ERANEEFHEEE-
FEHHERFDEEMBRIAT R
BFEENH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-="F+-A=+-BL%E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6.

(b)  Segment information disclosures (continued)
Adjusted EBITDA is not an accounting measure under IFRSs and
should not be considered as an alternative to the profit/(loss)
for the year as a measure of operational performance. Adjusted
EBITDA does not have a standard calculation method and the
Group's definition of adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable
to that of other companies.

TEER(E)
(b) ZEHERKEE)
RAERREBITE LB E

WIBEREBHREENATHNE
ATRIETE - EAERARER
BEENE/ (BB LR
B o HERBRERITE REHER
MBYESENFETA - B
EEYBRRGEHITERHEE
AIMBNERAREELAARMBA
AJRVETTEL S ©

Water

Beer
business business
segment segment Total
KEBHE  BEEBH mEt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBFT ARETT
Segment total assets SHBREE 4,178,048 2,428,238 6,606,286
— Investments accounted for —FREREARNEE
using the equity method 1,443,916 — 1,443,916
Unallocated RO
Deferred tax assets EREHIBEE 4,570
Assets of corporate and others ¥R EHMbEE 28,982
Inter-segment elimination o BRI (2,499,705)
Total assets MEE 4,140,133
Segment total liabilities DHEEE 1,516,615 351,649 1,868,264
Unallocated ROE
Deferred tax liabilities ERHIBEE 6,929
Liabilities of corporate TrREEMEE
and others 369,637
Inter-segment elimination o BRI (964,157)
Total liabilities BmeE 1,280,673
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BEZ_=F+-A=1+-RL%E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information disclosures (continued)

Entity-Wide information

Breakdown of total revenue by category is shown in Note 7.

Information about Group’s revenue from continuing operations

from external customers is prepared based on the location of the

customers. Information about the Group’s non-current assets is

presented based on the geographical location of the assets.

Revenue from external customers of the Group were all derived in
the PRC and Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December 2023 and

2022.

Non-current assets are all located in the PRC and Hong Kong as at 31

December 2023 and 2022.

Geographical information

TEER(E)

(b) ZEHERKEE)
ERuEEH

il Bl R CE NG E i S A

ARAGKERBINBEPORELE
EBORABHREPMEMZS -
ARAKEIRBEENEREEE
P25 -

HE_ZE-_=FN_FT-_—"F+—A4
Z+—BUEFE AEEINIBEFEH
WA REFBETRES o

HEZZ-_=-FR-FT-__F+=A
:+*H’#m@§§ﬁmm$ﬁﬂ
BE o

HEEH

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets
RENBEFHBA ERBEE
Year ended
BEUTHHLEEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=F —E--F —E-=F —E--F
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETTT AR¥T T ARBETFT
PRC ey 294,169 311,947 2,326,040 2,599,343
Hong Kong B 20,259 — 715 1,328
314,428 311,947 2,326,755 2,600,671

Note: Non-current assets excluded deferred tax assets.

izt : JERBDEETBRBELEHIREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z--F1+-A=t-HILEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

() Information about major customers
Revenue from customers over 10% of the Group's total revenue is as
follows:

TEER(E)

(0 FEXFHER
KAGREBEBABBI0%NES
WAL

.. "

Year ended 31 December

BEEtT-A=t-HLEE

2023 2022
—E-=& —EC-CF
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT

Customer A* BB A* N/A FiE A 83,843
Customer B* wFEB* 125,736 75,903
Customer C* BpPC* 46,461 N/A A~ A
* Revenue from beer business segment * LSS 0L N

# Revenue from this customer amounts to less than 10% of the Group's total # RZEZ_F REZEPHKARL

revenue in 2022
A Revenue from this customer amounts to less than 10% of the Group's total
revenue in 2023

During the year ended 31 December 2023, sales of approximately
RMB 18,086,000 (2022: RMB18,230,000) and RMB 292,000 (2022:
RMB1,315,000) are derived from associates in the water business
segment and beer business segment respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-Z-=H+-B=t-HI%E

7. REVENUE 7. WA
Revenue from external customers is mainly derived from the sales of HNEEPHIMAETERBERNHEKE
water products and beer products and interest income from lending mBEEEERRIEHRERREEED
services provided. The Group also sells raw materials and consumables FBUMA o REBETHE RME R
to associates and third parties, leases production lines and equipment MYBERAIRE=H HHEES
to associates. Breakdown of the revenue is as follows: REETHE AT o WABRANT

(%“ﬁff\*rifmuf¥Nf*w/f*xf‘ff“fv/?ftﬂ:”tfm“/‘”ﬁﬂ

Year ended 31 December

BET-RA=t—-HLEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

Revenue from contracts with customers: ZBE&SEWA :

Recognised at a point in time REAGR R B
Sales of water products IKEmIHE 79,935 58,761
Sales of beer products MR P E 222,682 245,982
Sales of raw materials and consumables FEME R FEMHE 874 460
303,491 305,203

Revenue from other source: HaRREHWBA :
Rental income HeWA 6,744 6,744
Interest income from lending REEFRBEEOFEWA

services provided 4,193 —
Total @t 314,428 311,947
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-=H+-R=+-HI%E

8. OTHER GAINS, NET 8.

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+t—HLFE

2023 2022
—B-=fF “E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT
Other (losses)/gains Hit(&518) W
Government grants B B
- Amortisation of deferred income i3 ON:3 = 2,374 2,374
- Other government grant (note (a)) — E th BUR B (BT EE (a)) 10,187 16,951
Fair value changes on financial AWRRBEFELEZEHT ABREN
assets at FVTPL TREENAABER — (2,000)
Write-down of inventories FEMR (436) (675)
Gain on disposal of investments BEFEARREARNRE s
accounted for using the equity methods = 1,780
Gain on disposal of PP&E BREWE  BFER&ED KR 127 —
Loss on deregistration of investments R AR R A BRAY
accounted for using the equity method REEENEE — (43)
Additional deduction of input VAT (note (b)) #IEZER INH05 (K (b)) 1,132 —
Others HAth 1,783 74
15,167 18,461
notes: B aE
(a)  Other government grant represents various forms of subsidies granted to (a)  E IR BYIE B 7 B & B R
the Group by the local government authorities in the PRC for compensation AEERENESEEAMHY - AR
of expenses incurred by the Group. These grants are generally made for BERRERY - ZEHP—RAXE
business support and awarded to enterprises on a discretionary basis. There X THBEETRE - REMEL
are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants. BEEARTHRNEERERREE -
(b)  According to Announcement [2023] No. 43 of the Ministry of Finance and (b) BEVEVHILERFEER-F

Z=EFA3RRE BT =F
—A—HBE-F-+F+-_A=+—
B EEREREIRE A ETE
TEIEET 25% B EAIEER Mt R
HoAEREF-—HENBARKTEE
1R EZ A T I E R NEHEA o

the State Taxation Administration of PRC, with effect from 1 January 2023
to 31 December 2027, advanced manufacturing enterprises are allowed to
deduct additional 5% of the current deductible input VAT from the VAT
payable. One subsidiary of the Group is qualified for such additional input
VAT deduction.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE_Z_=F1+_A=t-BLFE

9.  FINANCE COST, NET

e

9.

MBEM P8

I H’-ﬁ. .3'::-"“-\/?‘"

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+t—HLFE

2023

—E-=F

RMB'000

ARETR

Foreign exchange loss net B 1855 (6,001)

Interest costs on bank borrowings RITIEFFEER (8,415)

Interest costs on convertible bonds (Note 33) A2 &S F| £ & A (i 33) (24,165)
Interest costs on borrowings B=HERNFESER

from third parties (920)

Interest costs on lease liabilities HEBENRER (103)

Finance cost MiEEHR (39,604)

Finance income — interest income B U A — FI B U A 37,486

Finance cost, net MKER T8 (2,118)

2022
—E-—F
RMB'000

ARETTT

(9,618)
(22,504)

(5,475)
(44)

(37,641)
35,202

(2,439)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z =S+ -A=t+-HL%EE

10.

188

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10.

The amount of income tax expense charged to the consolidated

statement of profit or loss represents:

FrEHER

AT REGEBERIAANAERE

itk

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+—-HLEFE

2023
—E-=F
RMB’000
AR¥T

PRC Enterprise Income Tax: B (R PTIEH
Current tax B EARG 18 5,491
Deferred tax RIERIIE 463
Income tax expense FEHER 5,954

2022
—E-—F
RMB’000

ARETT

6,729
(1,380)

5,349

The taxation on the Group’s loss before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate as

follows:

AEBESRAEHRAERHOTEA

BRINERAAE R R

HEE o HREMT

ERHMER

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—HLFE

2023
—E=-=
RMB’000
ARBTR
Loss before income tax BRETISTEAIEE (346,913)
Tax calculated at statutory tax rate of 15% AT K 15% ;HEHFIAE (52,037)
Preferential tax rates on income of ETEREROBAMERN
certain group entities (note) BEm R (M) (2,513)
Loss not subject to tax HERHER 7,132
Tax effect of unused tax losses ABAAERHBEBENHBEYE
not recognised 8,581
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes TR A 53,681
Incomes not taxable for tax purposes BARBUA (8,890)
Income tax expense FTisfiE A 5,954

2022
B F
RMB'000

ARETT

(97,117)
(14,568)

(4,355)
9,756

6,028
14,797
(6,309)

5,349
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-Z-=H+-B=t-HI%E

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

note: The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Under current laws
of the Cayman Islands, there is no income, estate, corporation, capital gains
or other taxes payable by the Company. The group entities established
under the International Business Companies Acts of the British Virgin Islands
are exempted from British Virgin Islands income taxes.

The group entities incorporated in the PRC are subject to PRC enterprise
income tax. Major operational entities of the Group are located in Tibet
and were entitled to preferential income tax rate. Based on the tax ruling
announced by the PRC central tax authorities, the corporate income tax
rate of Lhasa is 9% for the years from 2015 to 2025. From 2026 onwards,
the corporate income tax rate in Tibet will resume to 15% if no further
announcement from the PRC central tax authorities is made. The remaining
entities incorporated in the PRC were taxed based on the income tax rate of
25% for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: 25%) as determined in
accordance with the relevant PRC income tax rules and regulations.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax, the
first HKD2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HKD2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits
of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong
Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on
the first HKD2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on
the estimated assessable profits above HKD2 million.

The relevant deferred tax balances had been measured based on the
expected tax rates applicable in the future.

10. FRSBLER (&)

Bf5E -

ARBRFAEHEEMKL - RIEF
SHERTEE  AAFMETRE
WSk BEM ARK - BAE
ERHEMRIE REXBEZHS
MEREBAREKNINEEERE
BRBNRBRLEBHOMIGH

ERBEGEMR IO EEEEEMMAT
BREMEH FAEENFELEER
BUAARIZZMERER/E
RIBRE AR R A HE B AR
Bl NENCEMEBBRHRERAZT
—hAFE_ZT-_FF A% -H_F
ZRFR B ARBSEELE
SN AEBEOCEMESHH
KRG IMEZ15% o E &7 P B
KIMERBREBEE-_T=_=F1+=A
“t—HEFERBBEENTERG
B8 8 3R 192 25% B AT 5 Bl R (=
T F D 25%)EF o

BEEBHEHROFSHMAE - &
E I EEEFEE 2,000,000 75 7T )% Fl
Bt % £8.25% + 1M #8 82,000,000
TTRRE AR E A A16.5% ° A& F
BERARGNEEEEBAENBEE
E16.5% WE —BEMT - At - &
BREETEE 2,000,000 M EA
EBTH M1 8.25% M Bl Rt B & B
FEF - #8182,000,000 8 LAY fHETIE
FREFIZ16.5% B RFEEET
BB -

MEAETHRBEAHRCREREN AR
ERHBETUE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
Bz-Z2-—F+-A=+-HILFE

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging:

11.

FEBR
FEBRSMBTIRE

Year ended 31 December

BET-RA=t—-HLEE

Auditor’s remuneration

- Audit services

- Non-audit services
Raw materials and consumables used
Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of PP&E
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Short-term lease expenses
Employee benefit expenses
Advertising and marketing expenditure

City construction tax and education surcharge

Electricity and other utility expenses
Legal and other consulting services fee
Transportation costs

Allowance for ECL on financial assets:
— Trade receivables

- Loan receivables

- Other financial assets at amortised cost

G

— &R

— FREA RS
FIT PR R4 4 B FEAA
B EESH
W% - BERREBITE
EREEENE
REHHEER
EERAEM
BERTSHERER
W R LA N E
ENREMEERER
EEREGHEAREER
BB

EREERMEEEREE

—ERE SR
—RWER

—RESRKTGENEMSREE

2023
—E-=F
RMB'000
ARET T

2,066
180
177,915
3,211
53,739
2,088
1,068
77,484
15,574
1,956
8,993
14,925
21,439

23,685
1,357
11,900

2022
—E-F
RMB'000

ARETT

1,973
172
140,585
3,230
55,525
1,251
1,710
67,754
2,520
1,090
9,368
11,127
15,653

86,643

1,974
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FAMBHRRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-S-=F+-A=-1+-ALFE
12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 12. EEBANEAR
Year ended 31 December
BE+-—A=t—-HLEE
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T R AREFIT
Wages and salaries ITENHS 63,930 55,912
Provision for medical and BEKEMESENEE
other employee benefits 3,740 3,439
Contributions to defined contribution ATEHRFTRK S EIER (M @)
pension scheme (note (a)) 6,414 5,748
Contributions to the housing FE 8 (M5 (b))
scheme (note (b)) 3,400 2,655
77,484 67,754

notes:

Pension scheme

The Group pays contributions to publicly administered pension insurance
plans on a mandatory, contractual basis. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods. The contributions are recognised
as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in
the future payments is available.

The Group also operates a defined contribution MPF Scheme in Hong
Kong under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

@  RAREEE

AEERREY ANEERALEER
BARESRBFEMEHHRN - HZES
WEEHEELNAARERENADH
PREHRERRERGMEMNGE
B NEETEE - FSHIEER
HEEME - HARINHEHERRER
BAER - BNERETRERER
ERARNFBROMNERTHRBRE
&

AKETERFERUELERE
G EERRREAEAKRZERE
Bz EERY —RERMTEE
TAE - HFREEEAFE 2K
—BALFE ITRRERERE
RARZINBERERMNE - BE2
HEAERBIERESRE  BA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-="F+-A=+-BL%E

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)
(a) (continued)

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in PRC are
required to participate in the Central Pension Scheme. These subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the
Central Pension Scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the Central Pension

Scheme. The employer contributions vest fully once made.

As the Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed to the Defined Contributions Scheme, there were no forfeited
contributions under the Defined Contributions Scheme which may be used
to reduce the existing level of contributions.

(b)  Housing scheme

In accordance with the PRC housing reform regulations, the Group is
required to make contributions to the Chinese state-sponsored housing
fund at 5-12% of the salaries of the PRC employees. At the same time,
the employees are also required to make a contribution at 5-12% of their
salaries out of their payroll. The employees are entitled to claim the entire

sum of the fund under certain specified withdrawal circumstances.
(c) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for
the year include 5 (2022: five) Directors and chief executive, details of

whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 41(a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AN RRM T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z--F#+-A-t+-ALFE
13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. BREE
(a) Basic loss per share (a) BREXEE
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, basic loss per share is R-B-=FR_T-_—F+=
based on the following data: A=1+—H BREXEBEBEDHE
RIATEEFTE
Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=t—-HILEE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

Loss attributable to owners of KABVER AEIEEE
the Company (352,867) (102,466)

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=t—-HLEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —TE-F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT

Weighted average number of ordinary BETERRMETIH

shares in issue (thousands) (Fi&%) 3,935,510 2,774,762

Note: BisE

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of HEHE-Z-—F+-A=+—H
calculating basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2022 has LHFENSRERBBN L BRINE
been adjusted retrospectively for the effects of the rights issue of shares FHYER —_T=F-HA=1+H%
completed on 30 January 2023. BRE AR B BT TR E -

(b) Diluted loss per share (by EREBEEE

Diluted loss per share for years ended 31 December 2023 and HRAREENTRRESHER
2022 were the same as basic loss per share as the outstanding EXERERBEER BE=
convertible bonds had anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per ZZ=FR-F-=ZF+=A
share. ST-HILEFENEGREFER

HEEREREERAR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FERBERRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
Bz-Z2-—F+-A=+-HILFE

14. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of

14. RE

e

— =

B

=F+tZA=1+—HIF

the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023, nor has any B ARBEIGEMAAR S BRRR
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2022: NSRRI N ERRE - BRSNS
nil). BRETERZENERKRE(Z
TTE )
15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES 15. FAEEE HEAE
- o ) . ) Land Rental
use right premises Total
T AR HEgF ast
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTR ARBTR
(note (a)) (note (b))
(B3 (a)) (K& (b))
Cost A
As at 1 January 2022 RZE-_—_F—H—H 33,435 289 33,724
Additions wNE — 1,270 1,270
Exchange alignment B X A — 52 52
As at 31 December 2022 and R-T-~F+-A=+—HNK
1 January 2023 —E-=F—H—H 33,435 1,611 35,046
Additions NE — 2,733 2,733
Exchange alignment BEE 5, 3 2 — 21 21
As at 31 December 2023 R-BE-=%+ZA=1+-H 33,435 4,365 37,800
Accumulated depreciation ZEtiE
As at 1 January 2022 RNZE-_—_F—H—H 6,358 289 6,647
Depreciation for the year FAME 722 529 1,251
Exchange alignment BE 3 A — 22 22
As at 31 December 2022 and R-TE-—F+-A=+—HNk
1 January 2023 —E-=%—A—H 7,080 840 7,920
Depreciation for the year FAME 722 1,366 2,088
Exchange alignment BE 3, oA B — 13 13
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%+ZB=+—H 7,802 2,219 10,021
Carrying value RREE
As at 31 December 2023 R-B=-=%+=-A=+—-H 25,633 2,146 27,779
As at 31 December 2022 R-EBE-—F+-A=+—H 26,355 771 27,126
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RERBRRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+_A=t-BLFE
15.  RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 15. KAREE HEAE®A)
notes: BaE
(@) All of the Group's land use rights are located in the PRC and each has a (@) AEBMETMERESLNRE
lease period of 50 years. HEHRIEBS0F
As at 31 December 2023, land use rights with carrying value of RZZE-_ZF+-A=Z=+—8" &k
approximately RMB25,633,000 (2022: RMB26,355,000) were secured for EEAH ANRK2563300L(ZF
bank borrowings with carrying amounts of approximately RMB102,000,000 Z % AR 26,355,0007T) /) +
(2022: RMB72,000,000) (Note 32). WEAESRERTFEIER/DHAR

#102,000,000C(ZE = = F : A
R ¥ 72,000,0007T) #8R 1718 F(HT 3

32) -
(b)  Amount includes right-of-use assets resulting from new leases entered. (b) SEBEARFAEMNEENER
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had lease liabilities as follows: RZE-_=ZFR-_ZT-__F+=A

=t+—H AEENHAEEENTH
T~

Present value of
the minimum lease

payments Total minimum lease
EEHENRNRE REHENRARE

2023 2022 2023 2022

—B-=f - —B-=f —EZE-_F

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®TRE AREBTT AR®TRT ARETET

Within 1 year 1ER 1,110 730 1,191 754
More than 1 year but within 2 years1 &5 2 F AR 771 58 805 59
More than 2 years but within 2FEUESFIUR
5 years 301 — 305 —
2,182 788 2,301 813
Less: total future interest expenses Ji : & KF 5 & F1A%8 (119) (25)
Present value of lease liabilities HEEEMNRE 2,182 788
Analysed by: BT5EEETHN
Rental premises HEWME 2,182 788
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=H+-B=+-HI%E

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. V¥ BEKRRKE

e

Construction

Buildings Machinery Vehicles Others in progress Total
#7 B L] A HRIE a5t
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Cost A

As at 1 January 2022 RZE--%-A-H 200,592 782,074 4,525 25,836 49,975 1,063,002
Additions HE — 80 1,409 118 3,893 5,500
Transfer upon completion TREEE - 5,454 - - (5,454) -
Exchange alignment B — — 81 269 — 350

As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R-T-—#+-A=+-HR

—“Z-=F-f-H 200,592 787,608 6,015 26,223 48,414 1,068,852
Additions HE 119 4,352 740 81 8,802 14,094
Disposal e - - (339) - - (339)
Transfer upon completion EREEE 39,358 10,811 — - (50,169) -
Exchange alignment ERA% — - 18 47 - 65
As at 31 December 2023 WZB-=F+-f=1-A 240,069 802,771 6,434 26,351 7,047 1,082,672

Accumulated depreciation and impairment Z3HTEREE

As at 1 January 2022 WZE-—%-fA—H 75,456 542,336 3,635 19,031 — 640,458
Depreciation for the year ERHE 7,543 47,307 350 325 - 55,525
Exchange alignment ERAE - - 61 265 - 326
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZZZZF+ZA=+-Ak

“2-=f-f-H 82,999 589,643 4,046 19,621 - 696,309
Depreciation for the year FRFE 6,706 46,156 604 Ikl - 53,739
Disposal e - - (329) - - (329)
Exchange alignment ERAE - - 13 46 - 59
As at 31 December 2023 WZBZ=F+ZA=1-H 89,705 635,799 4,334 19,940 = 749,778
Carrying value KEE
As at 31 December 2023 RZBZ=§+=A=+-8 150,364 166,972 2,100 6,411 7,047 332,894
As at 31 December 2022 RZFZZEFZA=1-8 117,593 197,965 1,969 6,602 48,414 372,543
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

)

MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BEZ_=F+-A=1+-RL%E

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

16. ¥ -  BERREE)

ME BEKXEBENEERGEER
R - FBWOT

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+t—HLFE

Cost of sales HHE AR
Selling and distribution costs HENRDHER
Administrative expenses THREHR

2023 2022
—E_=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT

51,275 48,455
197 127
2,267 6,943
53,739 55,525

As at 31 December 2023, the Group was in the process of applying
for registration of the ownership certificates for certain of its building
with an aggregate carrying value of approximately RMB226,000
(2022: RMB245,000). The executive Directors are of the opinion
that the Group is entitled to lawfully and validly occupy or use the

property.

As at 31 December 2023, factory plants with carrying value of
approximately RMB52,372,000 were secured for bank borrowings
with carrying amounts of approximately RMB102,000,000 (Notes
32(j)) (As at 31 December 2022, factory plants with carrying value
of approximately RMB53,043,000 were secured for bank borrowings
with carrying amounts of approximately RMB72,000,000 (Notes
32(b))).

RZZFEZ=F+=ZA=+—H ' K&
EERAEEELY AR 226000T
(ZTZZF: AR¥%245,0007T)8
ETERFRENEMAEEEL - 8
NEERARAEEAEEGEZENEA
sSkERZIE -

WZZE-_=F+-A=+—H" &k
HmEARDH AR ¥S52372,0007T £
BECHERTEOEANARKE
102,000,0007C & & 17 f& (K #*
NMHHR B —FE+-_A=+—
B BREMEAK A RMS3,043,000
THHEEERERTEEEANOA
R # 72,000,000 7T & R 77 & X (KT 3
32(b))) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z--F1+-A=t-HILEFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 16. Y% BERREE)
The category of machinery includes production lines leased by the BENDEBEASERBELEHE
Group to two related parties (2022: two) under operating leases with MA@ (CE__F: m4)H
the following net carrying amounts: MEEES  REFENT

[

Year ended 31 December

BET-RA=t—-HLEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —EC-CF
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT

Cost BN 97,559 97,559
Accumulated depreciation at 1 January R—A—BRFHHE (79,548) (73,245)
Depreciation for the year FERITE (6,303) (6,303)
Carrying value ARE(E 11,708 18,011
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FAMBHRRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-T-=F+-A=+—HLHFE
17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. BEEE
Trade Distribution Information
Name Network System Total
L PR EERS gt
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥Tn AR®Tr AR®Tr AR¥ETR
Cost 2%
As at 1 January 2022, R-ZE-_—F—HF—H-
31 December 2022, —“E--F+-A=+—H"
1 January 2023 and —T=F-RA-Bk
31 December 2023 “E-=F+-A=+—H 58,200 151,100 173 209,473
Accumulated amortisation REtEE
As at 1 January 2022 RZE--F—HF—H 27,125 151,100 128 178,353
Charge for the year FRLH 3,198 — 32 3,230
As at 31 December 2022 and _2::¢‘|‘ A=+—HE=
1 January 2023 —=F—A—H 30,323 151,100 160 181,583
Charge for the year Emiiﬁ 3,198 — 13 3,211
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=f+=-HA=t+-H 33,521 151,100 173 184,794
Carrying amount BREE
As at 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+ZA=1+-—H 24,679 — — 24,679
As at 31 December 2022 RZE-__%#+-F=+—H 27,877 — 13 27,890
Amortisation of approximately RMB3,211,000 (2022: RMB3,230,000) MAR3211,000T ) E(—F
is included in the “Administrative expenses” and “Selling and — % AR®3,230,0007T) 5t ALR

Distribution costs” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

ARERNITTRER IRIHEERDH

R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-=H+-R=+-HI%E

18. GOODWILL

18. BE

As at 31 December

R+=BA=+—8
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Tiandi Green Rivsg e

721,139 721,139

The goodwill of approximately RMB721,139,000 was generated
from acquisition of a controlling stake in Tiandi Green in 2014,
Tiandi Green was viewed as one CGUs within the beer segment. The
recoverable amount of the CGUs is determined based on value-in-
use calculations, which is based on discounted cash flow sourced
from the financial budgets approved by the management covering a
5-year period, and the discount rate of approximately 15.90% (2022:
15.79%) that reflects current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the CGUs. Cash flows beyond 5-year
period have been extrapolated using 2.2% (2022: 3%) growth rate
per annum. Other assumptions included budgeted income estimated
based on the past performance and management’'s expectations of
market developments, etc.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any
these assumptions would not cause the carrying amounts of the
CGUs to exceed their recoverable amounts.

As the recoverable amounts of the CGUs is higher than the carrying
amounts, the Directors are of the view that there was no impairment
of goodwill as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BEZ_=F+-A=1+-RL%E

19. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

19. ERESREARNRE

2023 2022

—EB-=HF —E--F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR TR ARBEFTT

Balance at 1 January R—R—B#&&# 1,443,916 1,416,403

Additions (note (a)) AE (P (a)) 33,000 54,000

Share of results eI BB (263) (10,694)

Declaration of dividend FIRRE = (490)
Deregistration of investment accounted THEREREARNKRE

for using the equity method — (1,083)
Disposal of investment accounted for BEFREDEARNRE

using the equity method — (14,220)

Impairment loss recognised (note (b)) HRRERX (K (b)) (261,145) —

Balance at 31 December R+_A=+—H&#H 1,215,508 1,443,916

notes:

In December 2022, the Group's acquired 18% equity interests in Tibet Life
Water Marketing, a company incorporated in the PRC with other limited
liability, at a consideration of RMB54,000,000. Taking into consideration
of the acquisition, a goodwill of approximately RMB45,342,000 has been
identified in the investment in Tibet Life Water Marketing.

In December 2023, the Group's acquired 11% equity interests in Tibet Life
Water Marketing a company incorporated in the PRC with other limited
liability, at a consideration of RMB33,000,000. Taking into consideration
of the acquisition, a goodwill of approximately RMB27,339,000 has been
identified in the investment in Tibet Life Water Marketing.

Management performed impairment analysis for the investment in Shannan
Yalaxiangbu. The recoverable amount of the investment is determined based
on value-in-use calculations. Management assessed the recoverable amount
and recognised an impairment loss of approximately RMB261,145,000
(2022: nil).

(@ RIZTZZF+Z/ AEBRKER
BAEDZKEBEN18%BE - AR
EmzkgEh—MEREZMARL
MEMEREEAT  REBAARK
54,000,000t ° 5 RZIEWE - 25
AR ER O KEHRERBFIELHA
R ¥ 45,342,000 7

R-E-=F+-f AEAKER
FAEDZKEBEON%KE AR
EmzkEHE A —BERBEEMAL
MEMEREEAT REAARE
33,000,000t ° &5 RZBEWE - B
REBEDZKEHRERATED
AE¥ 27,339,000 °

b) ZEEEUNLUERNEMHNEREE
TREIN - REMATKESE
ERGHREENIEET - EBE
FEATERKESE TRAHDARE
261,145,000 TR BEBE(ZT ==
Fm)o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z =S+ -A=t+-HL%EE

19.

202

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

(CONTINUED)

Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December

2023 and 2022.

19. EREREARNKRE#)

TXRIR =B ZFR=FZ
+-A=t-AAREZHEAT -

Name of entity

Place of
business/country
of incorporation

BEWY
BRER EMAZER
Tibet Highland Natural The PRC
Water Limited
AR ERRAKBRAE i
Tibet Fudi Natural The PRC
Beverage Packaging Ltd.
FREM AR R m e K H
BEREMERT]
Tibet Shannan Yalaxiangbu The PRC
Industrial Ltd.
RELEELENEXBRLR $HE
Green Tiandi Food Marketing ~ The PRC

(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.

geXtRmEH(FRIDERAR HE

Tibet Life Water Marketing
Co., Ltd.
P 2 K EHAR A A
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The PRC

Y

ownership
interest and voting
rights held by
the Group
rEBEfERAERES
RERREBDL
2023 2022
—E-=F —T--fF

Principal
activities

FEXE

43.981 43.981

43.981 43.981

23.87 23.87
23.87 23.87
40 40
40 40
49 49
49 49
49 38
49 38

Manufacturing and distribution of
water products

BUER D HKER

Manufacturing and distribution of
bottle preforms, caps
and other raw materials
and consumables

BUE R D MR E S H b R R
FEM

Manufacturing and distribution of
water products

BUE R HHKE m
Distribution of beverage products
7 HEREHE m

Distribution of beverage products

7D IREREHE m



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE_Z_=F1+_A=t-BLFE

19.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland
Natural Water

The tables below provide the summarised financial information of the
Highland Natural Water shown in its financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRSs.

Summarised statement of financial position

19. EREREARNKRE#)

EXBEQARAMBENBE-BRX

RIK

TREHBRRAKZ B ER
2 DIREZ LA ZRERABRE
R RAOTHRERIIR -

HBRREGE

As at 31 December

W+=A=+-H

2023 2022

—EB-=F —E-F

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT

Current assets RBEE 317,790 310,440

Non-current assets EREEE 430,799 490,370

Current liabilities mEAaRE (246,507) (335,621)

Non-current liabilities FERBEE (146,095) (101,503)
Equity attributable to owners of ARAVER NEEER

the Company 355,987 363,686
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z =S+ -A=t+-HL%EE

19.

204

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland
Natural Water (continued)
Summarised statement of profit or loss

19.

EREREARNRE®)

EXBEQARAMBENBE-BRX
RK(E)
R ZHE

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+t—HLFE

2023 2022

—E_=F —E-F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREFIT

Revenue WA 327,448 213,420
Gross profit E7 69,003 44,554
Adjusted EBITDA* TR SRATE RE AR * 24,723 16,394
Loss before income tax BRATS R AT 18 (8,702) (21,578)
Income tax credit FTiS R 2 1,003 1,795
Loss for the year FEREE (7,699) (19,783)
Total comprehensive loss THEEEEE (7,699) (19,783)

* Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by excluding the following effects from
the loss for the year: (i) finance (cost)/income, net; (ii) depreciation and
amortisation; and income tax credit.

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial
statements of Highland Natural Water adjusted for differences in
accounting policies between the Group and Highland Natural Water.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BEZ_=F+-A=1+-RL%E

19. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland
Natural Water (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented
to the carrying amount of the Group's interest in Highland Natural
Water recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

19. ERAESREARNKRE(#)

EXBEQARANBENBE-BRX

RK(E)

HBEXBENH R

REFIMHEENM B BEREMBERER
NERNAEBERBRRAKESN

REENSE

</%»fvw*‘:ﬁ;,fvvx,ﬂ;fzh_fuyx/ﬂjfthf%, _

As at 31 December

R+=-BA=+—H
2023 2022
—E-=F —E--F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBETT
Opening net assets as at 1 January R—A—BHFNEEFE 363,686 383,469
Loss for the year FAHEE (7,699) (19,783)
Closing net assets FREEFE 355,987 363,686
Interest in the associate REEE R BIHER 144,938 148,325
Goodwill BES 280,256 280,256
Carrying value REE 425,194 428,581

Management performed impairment analysis for the investment in
Highland Natural Water. The recoverable amount of the investment is
determined based on value-in-use calculations, which is higher than
fair value less disposal costs. Management assessed the recoverable
amount and recognised no impairment loss during the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

EREHRERRAKNREETH
BN - REW AT RE S REHERE
AEENFE(ERAABEREEK
R)ET - EBETEIRKEE R
HEZZ-_=R-FT-__F+=A
“+—BLEEYERRAEESE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-="F+-A=+-BL%E

19.

206

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland
Natural Water (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information (continued)

These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering the five-year
period when optimum market share is expected to be reached.
Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the
estimated growth rate.

This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial
estimates covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate
of approximately 14.08% (2022: approximately 14.73%). The cash
flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady
2.2% (2022: 3.0%) growth rate. In cases where the actual cash flows
are less or more than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future cash flows estimation or discount
rate, a material reversal or further recognition of impairment may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which such a reversal or further recognition takes place.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any
these assumptions would not cause the carrying amounts of the
CGUs to exceed their recoverable amounts.

As the recoverable amounts of the CGUs is higher than the carrying
amounts, no impairment loss on investments accounted for using
the equity method of these CGUs are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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RK(E)

HBEHBENEE(E)

HEHEEATERAE B AR
BTEHAELEHRETHAE
REMRONBREZ AR E
B BBFHEORERENDE
MRS -

ZEERAERREREHRE Y
B b A 15 H & 3R &7 188 LA R B Al
BEIR R 414.08% (ZE - —F : 4
1473%)5 8 - BROEHEZRS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE_Z_=F1+_A=t-BLFE

19.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Shannan
Yalaxiangbu

The tables below provide the summarised financial information of the
Shannan Yalaxiangbu shown in its financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRSs.

Summarised statement of financial position

19. EREREARNKRE#)

ERBENRAMKERBE - LEH

AEH

TREINUERNED 2 HERR
2 DIREZ LA ZRERABRE

N

HBRREGE

R RAOTHRERIIR -

As at 31 December

W+=A=+-H

2023 2022

—EB-=F —E-F

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT

Current assets RBEE 33,279 34,360

Non-current assets EREEE 448,600 459,885

Current liabilities mEAaRE (40,954) (19,876)

Non-current liabilities FERBEE (299,072) (329,638)
Equity attributable to owners of ARAVER NEEER

the Company 141,853 144,731
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-=H+-R=+-HI%E

19. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 19. FERAERZEARNKREE)
(CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information for a material associate — Shannan EEBENAMBEENBE - LER
Yalaxiangbu (continued) NEHRE)
Summarised statement of profit or loss B k#ZE

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2023 2022

BZE BHE
—E-=HF —EF
T=A=t-B +-A=t+—H
LEE HFE
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETTT

Revenue WA 86,767 65,444
Gross profit E7 37,224 32,463
Adjusted EBITDA* HEIE SR RE A 10,515 9,033
Loss before income tax Br PSR A& 18 (3,029) (3,308)
Income tax credit TSRS 151 327
Loss for the year/period F/ENER (2,878) (2,981)
Total comprehensive loss for year/period F/PNEEEREE (2,878) (2,981)
* Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by excluding the following effects from * AEBETMERBHEATENGE
the loss for the year: (i) finance (cost)/income, net; (ii) depreciation and TEEATREFABEENZE ()
amortisation; and income tax credit. BEKA),/ WL FE  (NTERSE

o RAEHRER -

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial N EEM R B LERN AR B
statements of Shannan Yalaxiangbu adjusted for differences in WERMEINOFIE  ERAEEHE
accounting policies between the Group and Shannan Yalaxiangbu. W BN AR BETERNERE
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FEMBRRME
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19. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Shannan
Yalaxiangbu (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to
the carrying amount of the Group's interest in Shannan Yalaxiangbu
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

19. EREREARNKRE#)

ERBENRAMKERBE - LEH
NEm(E)

HEBEEHBRNE R
REFIFHEEMM R BER M BEREK
AERNARBERILEENE DS
F B T B A S4B

As at 31 December

R+=-BA=+—H
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT

Opening net assets as at 1 January R—A—BHFNEEFE 144,731 147,712
Loss for the year FAEE (2,878) (2,981)
Closing net assets FREEFE 141,853 144,731
Interest in the associate NNl oF s 56,741 57,892
Goodwill S 334,675 595,820
Carrying value REE 391,416 653,712
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19.

210

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Shannan
Yalaxiangbu (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information (continued)

These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering the five-year
period when optimum market share is expected to be reached.
Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the
estimated growth rate.

This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial
estimates covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate
of approximately 14.00% (2022: approximately 14.28%). The cash
flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady
2.2% (2022: 3.0%) growth rate. In cases where the actual cash flows
are less or more than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future cash flows estimation or discount
rate, a material reversal or further recognition of impairment may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which such a reversal or further recognition takes place.

Management performed impairment analysis for the investment in
Shannan Yalaxiangbu. The recoverable amount of the investment is
determined based on value-in-use calculations, which is higher than
fair value less disposal costs. Management assessed the recoverable
amount and recognised an impairment loss of RMB261,145,000
(2022: nil). The main factors that led to the impairment is the
continuous weakness of market performance.
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19.

EREREARNRE®)

ERBENRAMKERBE - LEH
HEMmE)
HBEHBENEE(E)
ZEHEERTERAEREEH AR
ETHERABEEIREMGNEN
IFRRMMEREZHARERE
R - BEAFHENASRENE
FfbEtEREEE -

ZEERAERREREHRE Y
B b A 15 H & 3R &7 188 LA R B Al
BEIRE41400%(ZE - —F : 4
14.28%)5 8 - BB T EHEZRS
RERE22% (ZE-=%:3.0%)
MIBTERERE MREBBEER
EPRIARES  HEAREFEN
BANSEERRRREREMET K
BRI RMEE] Al @ A E AR
Blek i —FSHERRE  BEEEZRE
Bk — PHRNPERBRPER o

EREHRIUERENAMMRERTT
HEDN - RENATKESEHER
FREENTE(RRANEERES
KA)ET - EEEF AR SEL
R REERE AR 261,145,000
(ZZZZF  8) BIRENTE
A&EAMGRAFERS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AN RRM T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
H2-ZT-=f+-A=1+-HLEFE
19. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 19. FERAEREARNKREE)
(CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information for a material associate — Shannan EEREARAMEERBE - LmE
Yalaxiangbu (continued) RER(E)
Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material AR E KRBt E R RIHER S B
o As at 31 December
R+=B=+-8
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E--F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFIT
The Group's share of profit/(loss) REBREETEFR,(EER) 4,275 (801)
The Group's share of total AEERGEEKE(B8)8%E
comprehensive income/(loss) 4,275 (801)
Dividend received for the year FRE B E S 490
Aggregate carrying amount of AEERZERE A AR
the Group's interests in these associates RH4E 398,898 361,623
20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 20, EEFBEE &F
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as BEERBEENELERBEEEN DT
follows: UM

N As at 31 December

R+=A=+—8
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-CF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Deferred tax assets RIERITEE 2,143 4,570
Deferred tax liabilities REREEE (4,977) (6,929)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZZ-=F+-A=+—HIFE

20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The balances of deferred tax assets and liabilities as at 31 December
2023 were not offset because the deferred tax assets and liabilities
related to income taxes were levied by different taxation authorities.

20.

EEBHEEE BE#E)

RZF-_=ZF+-A=+—0 E&&
HEEEMBEGHRILALEE  Jih
REZEECRBEEREERAN

212

The movement of deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year is

as follows:

FIEMATRAREEEZK - FRE
TEHREEERABOEEHNAT

Net Other
impairment Deferred ~ Convertible  temporary
losses income bonds  differences Total
HE Hit
BARHE FEhs  TaERER 2 EREEE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB‘000 RMB'000 RMB‘000
ARETT ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETR
Deferred tax assets EEREEE
As at 1 January 2022 WZE-—%-F—H 3,052 1,604 — 344 5,000
Charged to profit or loss (Note 10) BBk (HF10) (295) (63) - (72) (430)
As at 31 December 2022 and WZE-—F+-R=+-HR
1 January 2023 :gi_i A—H 2,757 1,541 — 272 4,570
Charged to profit or loss (Note 10)  BEZHE (M 10) (2,412) (63) — 48 (2,427)
As at 31 December 2023 R-BZ=%+-A=1-H 345 1,478 — 320 2,143
Deferred tax liabilities EEWEEE
As at 1 January 2022 “E--F-f-H — — (2,686) (5,853) (8,539)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 10) EU\TE@(M‘TEE 0) — — 1,186 624 1,810
Exchange alignment 5% — - (200) — (200)
As at 31 December 2022 and RZE-—%+-A=t-Bk
1 January 2023 —E-=%-F-H — — (1,700) (5,229) (6,929)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 10) ~ zf B (M3 10) — — 1,341 623 1,964
Exchange alignment L - - (12) (12)
As at 31 December 2023 RZE-=Z%+-RA=+-H = = (371 (4,606) (4,977)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

)

MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE_ZT-=

20.

FTZA=T-ALFRE

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2023, certain subsidiaries’ future taxable income
would not be available against which their temporary losses could be
utilised and also the losses of those subsidiaries would not be offset
by the taxable income of other subsidiaries within the Group, as there
is no legally enforceable right to do so. As such, the Group did not
recognise deferred tax assets of approximately RMB39,007,000 (2022:
RMB26,563,000) in respect of losses amounting to approximately
RMB160,655,000 (2022: RMB110,990,000) that can be carried
forward against future taxable income. As at 31 December 2023, tax
losses of approximately RMB160,655,000 (2022: RMB110,990,000)
will expire after five year of assessment on the following dates to
offset the future taxable income:

20.

ELEREBEE B&#)

RZEZ=F+ZA=+—RH &F
B B8 2 B Y R SR FE R B UL A AR
HERUEE MZEWBARNE
BTIUHRASEEMHBERARMNER

BBALE  RRLTEBEEREN
BAA BB RITEN - RAKRELE

FRATEEARARERBTIMANBBROA
R #160,655,000L(ZT=Z=F : A
K #110,990,000 7T ) BERIELFH B E
E#H AR #39,007,0000(—F ==
£ AR®26,563,000T) R-F

“ZEF+-ZAZ+-BEBEAKRER
B A4 AR 160,655,000 (=&
——%F: AR%110,990,0007T) 7
EEBERARIHFEERNTIH
HAfE T -

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—8
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBETT

Expiring in RUTEEER

-2023 ——ZE-=fF — 7,544
- 2024 ——ZUF 6,142 6,142
- 2025 —-—E-AF 45,576 45,576
- 2026 ——E-RE 11,540 11,540
- 2027 - +fF 40,188 40,188
-2028 —-—E-)N\F 57,209 —
160,655 110,990

Deferred tax liabilities of approximately RMB97,867,000 (2022:
RMB136,899,000) had not been recognised for the withholding tax
that would be payable on the distributable retained profits amounting
to approximately RMB1,685,143,000 (2022: RMB2,050,766,000)
of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries. The Group has no intention to
distribute these retained earnings out from the PRC subsidiaries in
the foreseeable future.

KA EFHBIH B QR KA DIk
REBEF 4 AR 1,685,143,000 T
(ZE==%F: AR%2,050,766,000

T ENENRERECHEREHA
R %97,867,000iL(Z T = Z=F : A
R 136,899,0007T) « NEE I AT
BEARERETERBRB RIS
RZEREBF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z--F1+-A=t-HILEFE

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES

21.

e & 5 K

As at 31 December

R+t=-—H=+-H
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

Trade receivables due from third parties EURE=FE S
Less: allowance for ECL W BHEEEEEE

265,320 284,598
(83,422) (94,099)
181,898 190,499

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group's trade receivables due
from third parties were all denominated in RMB. The credit period
is generally 90 to 180 days. The aging analysis of trade receivables
based on invoice dates is as follows:

RZZEZ=FR=ZZF=_=F+=H
=t+—H AEBEERE=FNEH
FTHUARKEE - EEH KA
F180K - ERNEZAMHNEF R
HRERBRDTAT -

As at 31 December

R+=—BA=+—8
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETTT

Within 6 months 6EAM 95,281 53,607
Over 6 months but within 1 year FRiE6EAENEEF 22,400 15,498
Over 1 year but within 2 years BiE1FEIER2F 41,765 94,717
Over 2 years FRiA 2 F 105,874 120,776

265,320 284,598
Less: allowance for ECL B TR EEEERE (83,422) (94,099)

181,898 190,499

Information about the impairment assessment of trade receivables
and the Group's exposure to credit risk can be found in Note 5.1(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

)

MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZZ-=FT-A=t—HIEE

22.

LOAN RECEIVABLES

The carrying amount of loan receivables from money lending business
of the Group was as follows:

22. BRER

AEBRERY 2 R E R REED
T

As at 31 December

R+t=-—H=+-H
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’'000

Loan receivable arising from MEEBES ZERRER
money lending business
Less: allowance for ECL W BHEEEEEE

76,726 —
(1,357) —

75,369 —

As at 31 December 2023, loan receivables are unsecured, interest-
bearing at fixed rates ranging from 7%-8% per annum.

The maturity profile of the loan receivables, net of allowance for
ECL, if any, at the end of the reporting period, analysed by the
remaining period to its contracted maturity, is as follows:

R-ZE-=F+-A=+—H I
EXEEER RETAEREENT
7%-8% 58 °

FBRER(EHBREHREEERER
(B RBERR I BERZESE
WEE B 2 RIBBRATMT -

oA

AR® TR ARETT

As at 31 December

R+=—H=+-H
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-_F
RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARBETT
Within 1 year —FR 75,369 —

During the year ended 31 December 2023, allowance for ECL of
RMB1,357,000 was recognised in respect of loan receivables (2022:
Nil).

Included in the carrying amount of loan receivables as at 31
December 2023 is the accumulated allowance for ECL. Details of the
impairment assessment are set out in note 5.1(b).

Subsequently up to the report date, all the loan receivables have
been subsequently settled upon due date.

REBEZ-Z-_=F+-A=+—HL1
FE REKERERZEHREES
BEEAARM1,357,0000(=F
TZFEE)

RZFB-_=ZF+-A=1T—HHER
EXRAERERRNEEEAN R
B - ARBENGNFEIRNME
5.1(b) °

REFBE  FIBERKEREZER
E'JHHE /EJ °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z--F1+-A=t-HILEFE

23. PREPAYMENTS

23. TAfFE

e

As at 31 December

W+=A=+-H

2023 2022

—EB-=F T F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT
Prepayments for purchase of BERMH - REARDE

raw materials, services and properties, B E K& R TR ZUR

plant and equipment 256,694 207,537
Less: Non-current portion - prepayment for & : JEREND —BEWE -
purchase of properties, plant and B & & AR E TR 5B

equipment (note) (BiaE) (4,756) (8,057)

Current portion REEH D 251,938 199,480

note: These balances represent prepayments made for the purchase of properties,
plant and equipment, the ownership of which has not been obtained at
year end.

The carrying amounts of current and non-current prepayments are
denominated in the following currencies:

i
(3

2
TAH °©

i

FHRHEEABEDE  BELRRE
HAMBRRFERAAES) AN

M RIFRB AN FKEORTENAT

NE#EtE

W I I I I _

As at 31 December

R+=-B=+-8
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥ET T ARET T
- RMB N 256,051 203,947
- HKD BT 551 1,536
- UsSD -E£7T 92 2,054
256,694 207,537
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEUBHRRM T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+_A=t-BLFE

24. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST

24,

UBSREATENAMEREE

As at 31 December

Amounts due from third parties (note (a))
Deposits
Others (note (b))

JEYEE =77 FRIA (M EE (a))
B
H it (M &£ (b))

Less: allowance for ECL

B BHEEEREE

R+=BA=+—8
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-F
RMB'000 RMB’'000

ARBTR ARETTT

959,979 941,548
534 270
87,744 67,802
1,048,257 1,009,620
(41,292) (29,392)
1,006,965 980,228

notes:

(@) As at 31 December 2023, the loans to third party companies with

outstanding principal amounting to approximately RMB959,979,000 (2022:
RMB941,485,000), which bore an annual interest rate of 2.8 to 6% (2022:
2.8 to 5%). Based on the contractual terms, the loans will be repaid before

31 December 2024. The Group does not hold any collateral over the loans.

(b)  As at 31 December 2023, the balance mainly included the dividend
receivables and other receivables from Highland Natural Water of
approximately RMB42,587,000 (2022: RMB34,805,000); other tax
recoverable of approximately RMB1,308,000 (2022: RMB189,000) and
advance to staff of approximately RMB 27,400 (2022: RMB1,313,400).

Information about the impairment assessment of other financial

assets at amortised cost and the Group’s exposure to credit risk can

be found in Note 5.1(b).

Wi

R-ZE-_=FE+-fA=+—0 8
FTE=FREFEELSEENAA
R#959,979,000 L(Z T =4 : A
R#941,485,0007T) 2 B3 - FH X
5286% (=T = —4F:285%):
BEAOEN  ZEXER=-ZT=N
F+_A=+—BHEE ALEY
ARZEERBETMERSL -

R-ZB-=F+-A=+—0 &%
TERRBRERARKEEREM
FEW R IE 4 A R #42,587,0007T(=
T-—&F: AR%34,8050007T) :
Hithrrig R840 A R 1,308,000 7T
(ZZZZF: AR™189,0007) &
BENEIRFOARE27,400(=
T-F  AR®1,313,4007T) ©

BRNERKAENEMEREE
KR ER & R ARBEERRAED
BRERMES. 1(b)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z--F1+-A=t-HILEFE

24. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST (CONTINUED) 24. DEBBRAGENEMESREE
(&)

NEHAATENEMEREENR
HEATIEEEE

[

As at 31 December

The carrying amounts of other financial assets at amortised cost are
denominated in the following currencies:

R+=-B=+-8

2023 2022

—E_=F —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ET T ARBETFT

- RMB - AR 991,832 965,881
- HKD —BT 15,133 14,347
1,006,965 980,228

25. INVENTORIES 25. FE

R

As at 31 December

R+=-B=+—H
2023 2022
—E-=F —EC-CF
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT

Raw materials JRAEL 99,770 90,680
Finished goods - at cost BUAK 14,222 10,705
Work in progress FERm 4,738 5,153

118,730 106,538

BE-T-=F+-A=1+—HLt#F
and was included in “cost of sales” amounted to approximately B BREERBYHAIEEREIN
RMB177,915,000 (2022: RMB140,585,000) for the year ended 31 FERALA/ANKEE177,915,0007T
December 2023. (ZE =% : AR ®140,585,000
) o

The cost of inventories which was recognised as an expense

al
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE_Z_=F1+_A=t-BLFE

26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 26. UAREBEFEEESEHTARR

2023 2022
—E_=F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETTT

Balance at 1 January n—A—BHEH — 2,000

Fair value changes (Note 8) RABEZSE(HES) — (2,000)

Balance at 31 December R+t=-B=+—-BK#&E& = —

All financial asset at FVTPL are denominated in RMB as at 31 RZE-_ZF+-_f=+—HK=ZE

December 2023 and 31 December 2022. —ZHF+ZA=+—H ' UAanEE
STEREEEHT ABENEMEES
BAARBEHE -

Information about the methods and assumptions used in determining BRBERAABEMBNAEREBR

fair value is provided in Note 5.3. B E R ANIFES.3 o

27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 27. REeRFALEEY

[ S

As at 31 December

®+=ZBA=+—H
2023 2022
—E-=F —EC-CF
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETTT

Cash on hand FEBEe 142 424
Cash at bank RITER 10,506 39,142
Restricted bank deposits SR HIERITFR 11,110 18,581

21,758 58,147
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HE-Z-="F+-A=+-BL%E

27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 27. BERBEEEW(HE)

As at 31 December

R+=BA=+—8
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Denominated in: FEE
- RMB —AR%
- UsD —%7T

— HKD — BT

- Others —HAh

19,267 46,738
988 988
1,494 10,413
9 8
21,758 58,147

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’ s cash and cash equivalents
amounting to approximately RMB20,186,000 (2022: RMB47,623,000)
were held in the financial institutions located in the mainland of
PRC. The remaining balances of approximately RMB1,572,000 (2022:
RMB10,524,000) were held in major financial institutions located in
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies
and the remittance of the foreign currencies out of the mainland of
PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC government.

The Group earns interests on cash at bank at floating bank deposit
rates, which range from 0.2% to 2.20% per annum for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: range from 0.001% to 1.35% per
annum).

As at 31 December 2023, bank deposits of approximately
RMB11,110,000 (2022: RMB18,581,000) are restricted mainly as
guarantee for payments of bank acceptances.
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RZTEZ=F+ZA=+—HB &
SENBRERASTENHARE
20,186,000 L(Z T = —F : ARK
47,623,000 7T ) B 72 Bl K BE ) & Bl g
BEE  #HHOARM1,572,000T
(ZZT==F: AR¥10,524,0007T)
HEBFIITRENRE & REER
ﬁ o

MARBEHENSESRALARINEAR
BOMNELRBEAEEL - AETHE
B R EAERESMNES IR RIS ARG -

AEBRFHRITERFIERRITE
ZBEMNE BE-_T-_=F+-A
=S+—HLEFE  ABFENENT
02%E2.20% (ZF=—F : FHX
N F0.001% £ 1.35%) °

RZEBE-=F+-A=+—H %R
HlEITHERLOARE11,110,000 T
(ZZT=—F: AR 18,581,0007T)
TERARRITALEEZNMNTER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEUBHRRM T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F1+_A=t-BLFE

28. TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES

28. BNESZRRENRE

I H’-ﬁ. .3'::-"“-\/?‘"

e

As at 31 December

R+=BA=+—8
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T R AREFIT
Trade payables R B 5K 42,840 68,338
Notes payables ENEE 111,100 178,580
153,940 246,918

RZBE_=FRZZ__F+_A
=t—B ERBEHHNENES
BRI AT -

I

As at 31 December

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the aging analysis of trade
payables based on invoice dates is as follows:

R+=A=+—8H
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETFT
Within 3 months 3EAR 18,834 41,407
Over 3 months but within 6 months B3 EAETBBE6EA 6,588 4,539
Over 6 months but within 1 year BiE6EABTEBGE1F 3,400 4,957
Over 1 year but within 2 years B FETBB2F 5,071 4,102
Over 2 years Hid2F 8,947 13,333
42,840 68,338

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group's trade payables were

all denominated in RMB and were not interest bearing.

RZBE-_=FR-_ZT-_-F+=-A
=t+—RB AEENEZEMFHN

ARBEHE - LETER -

BEHXKERERLT | F§ 2023
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HE-Z-=H+-R=+-HI%E

28. TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 28.

The credit period on trade payables is generally within 90 days.

As at 31 December 2023, the bank acceptance notes amounting
to approximately RMB111,100,000 (2022: RMB178,580,000) were
guaranteed by bank deposits of approximately RMB11,110,000 (2022:
RMB18,581,000).

According to the agreement of bank acceptance notes, maturity
dates of notes payables are based on the following schedule:
RMB111,110,000 on 8 February 2024 (2022: RMB100,000,000 on 25
February 2023, RMB11,110,000 on 10 March 2023, RMB800,000 on
21 June 2023 and RMB66,670,000 on 17 October 2023), respectively.
The amount of RMB111,110,000 (2022: RMB111,110,000) was
repaid subsequently to the end of the reporting period.

29. DEFERRED REVENUE 29.

BNEZRRENRE#)

HEORMNRNEERN —RNIORZ
7 o

RZEZ=F+ZA=+—H &8
HWAAR 111,100,000 (=T ==
F: AR 178,580,000 ) H 48 17
AAEZROAARKE11,110,0007T
(ZZ=——F: AR¥18,581,0007T)
HISRT TR RUEIR o

BRERTALEZERS ENEH
Mgl BAsRMmT: R2F
“HEZANBESNFEAAR
#111,110000c(ZE =2 F: B
—E-ZF-_A-+HAIHHAK
B A A R 100,000,000 B =
EZ--F-ATHIHPHOREBAA
R #11,110,0000: R-_E ==&
NAZT—BRESNZFEAARE
800,000t R—_T-_=F+A++
B2 B &) 518 B A K #%66,670,000
JT)e AR #111,110,000t(= &
— =% AR%111,110,000 L) 6%
ERREBERRBEER -

EEWA

As at 31 December

R+=-A=+—H
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-_F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

Non-current FERE

Government grant BT 47 B 9,019 11,394
Current E

Government grant BUT B 2,374 2,374
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BE-Z-=H+-B=t-HI%E

29.

30.

DEFERRED REVENUE (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group's deferred revenue
was all denominated in RMB.

Tibet Glacier Mineral Water and Tiandi Green, the indirectly wholly
subsidiaries of the Company were granted and received subsidies
from the local government to compensate its efforts to increase its
production capacity in the past years.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, amount of approximately
RMB2,374,000 was credited to consolidated statement of profit or
loss (2022: RMB2,374,000) (Note 8).

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

29.

30.

R

EIEW A (4F)
RZE-_=ZFR-_FE-__F+=A
=t—B AEEMETHRAZIN
AREEHE -

ARARBE2EME QAR
SFOR RR 3 A% 8 39 T X R B E IR
FREERBERFRNERER
T HEIRED -

HEZZT-=F+-A=+—HL*HF
B AR 2,374,0000(ZE ==
£ ANR¥2,374,0007T) D it AEA
Bak(MEs) -

ERAE

As at 31 December

W+=—H=+-8
2023 2022
—E2_= —EBE-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBETFT
Prepaid cards B — 179
Advance from customers BUEFHIA 17,061 34,605
17,061 34,784

As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to approximately
RMB54,955,000.

Contract liabilities arise from the prepaid cards and advance payments
made by customers while the goods are yet to be provided.

A AR®54,955,0007C °

ARaERERNREREAEHRE
i E PR TR FOR o

EHAERERAT | £8§2023 223



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-=H+-R=+-HI%E

30.

224

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

30.

The prepaid cards and advance from customers of the Group are

non-refundable.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised

relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates to

performance obligations that were satisfied in prior periods.

eRAE@)
BN RRAEERRE P REH N

sg ym

RIE o

TRITREERBAFREENE
RAEEENEE  URREBEHE
ERTHERENETEBMNEE -

Advance

Prepaid from
cards customers
A+ HEWEFRAE
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR AR®T R

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Revenue recognised that was included in
the contract liability balance
at the beginning of the year

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Revenue recognised that was included in
the contract liability balance
at the beginning of the year

BE-Z-_=f+t-A=t—-H
IEFE

FARRABEHRNTE R

BE-Z-_—_f+-A=t—-H
IEFE

WA

179 34,605

FNARRABEHRNE ERIRA

771 54,184

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group's contract liabilities

were all denominated in RMB.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z--F#+-A-t+-ALFE
31. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 31, EREARHMEMNRK
B As at 31 December
R+=B=+-8
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-fF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFIT
Salary and welfare payables FEfT BN & R AR A 21,563 24,150
Payables for value added tax and other taxes FEAIL{ET & H b FH 78 7,371 18,904
Accrued operating expenses BRICEER 3,751 948
Payables for purchase of equipment BERBRENRIE 5,979 9,030
Professional service fee payable ERNEEREE 7,678 5,255
Amounts received from a third party ME=F WA R FIE 37,070 58,599
Amounts received from an associate R N BB R R (BTEE 43(0))

(note 43(b)) — 14,500
Deposits from customers BPk& 328 328
Borrowings from third parties (note) BEZHERH) 8,796 4,857
Others Hith 68,326 43,961

160,862 180,532
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z =S+ -A=t+-HL%EE

31. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 31, AREARHMEMNRE)

note: The balances include the following items: MiaE : EAEIELTIBE ¢

—  The borrowings from a third party company with outstanding principal - RE-MEZFRREBRZAEER
amounting to approximately RMB1,787,000 (2022: RMB1,787,000) and SEEHARK787,00L(=ZF
accrued interest of RMB518,000 (2022: RMB384,000). The loan bore an & AR1,787,0007T) & fEE
annual interest at 6% and is repayable on 2 December 2023. During the MEARKS518,000L(ZF ==
year ended 31 December 2023, the amount was fully settled. ARM384,0007T) c ZERFHER

6% RANR_E-_=F+-HA-HE
BoBE-T-_=F+-RA=+—H
IEFE - ZFER RS -

—  The borrowings from a third party company with outstanding principal - RE-MEZAFRAERZAEBER
amounting to approximately RMB9,062,000 and accrued interest of S e BEHARK062,0007T K& FEF
RMB48,000. The loan bore an annual interest at 8% and are fully settled in FEHARKEA8,000T - ZEREF
February 2024. ER8% RER-ZT-_MFE A2

A e

—  The loans from a company which is ultimately held by Mr. Wang Peter - XE-MBHIBAENEBREES
Jian's spouse, with outstanding principal amounting to approximately MARERZREERESBHOAR
RMB2,680,000 and accrued interest of approximately RMB7,000. The loans 2,680,000 R EFT A EHARE
bore an annual interest at 6% and are fully settled in February 2023. 7,0007C © ZERFNER6% RER

TECCE_AREEE-
The carrying amounts of the accruals and other payables are FEREAKEMEMNFOBREAEIT
denominated in the following currencies: FIEHEHE
a As at 31 December
R+ZHA=+—H
2023 2022
—EBC-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTIT

- RMB - AR 86,094 119,592

- HKD -8 74,675 60,940

- UsD —% 93 -

160,862 180,532
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32. BANK BORROWINGS 32. $RITER

As at 31 December

R+=BA=+—8
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000

Non-current FRB
Long-term borrowing from a RERITER - BRERER

bank — Guaranteed and pledged (note )) (BEzE))

Current E

Short-term borrowing from a RERITERN - BRERER
bank — Guaranteed and pledged (note a) (Fizka)

Current portion of long-term borrowing RESRITERORB D —
from a bank — Guaranteed and BRE RER(MED)
secured (note b)

Short-term borrowing from a bank REERITIE R — BRE KRB
- Guaranteed and pledged (note c) (BifsEc)

Current portion of long-term borrowing RESRITERORE D —
from a bank - pledged (note d) BHEAPHFED)

Short-term borrowing from a bank REERITIE R — BRE KRB
— Guaranteed and pledged (note e) (BizEe)

Short-term borrowing from a bank REERITIE R — BRE RER
- Guaranteed and pledged (note f) (BIzES)

Short-term borrowing from a bank REESRITIE R — BRE RER
— Guaranteed and pledged (note g) (BisEg)

Short-term borrowing from a bank REESRITIE R — BRE RER
— Guaranteed and pledged (note h) (BFzER)

Short-term borrowing from a bank — REERSRITIE R — B EIR (D)
Pledged (note i)

Current portion of long-term borrowing RERITERORE D
from a bank - Guaranteed BERE &TEETE?(MTEJ)

and secured (note j)

Total borrowings ERE]

54,000 —
= 100,000

= 72,000

= 98,000

= 82,000

= 100,000
90,000 —
60,000 —
94,500 —
80,000 —
48,000 —
372,500 452,000
426,500 452,000

AR®T R ARETT

BRKERERAT | F§ 2023
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32.

228

BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

All bank borrowings were denominated in RMB as at 31 December

2023

notes:

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

and 2022.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB100,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2022, and guaranteed
by the Company and was secured by the pledge of 35% of a subsidiary’s
and 7% of an associate’s equity interests. The interest rate was based on
the directive interest rate announced by the People's Bank of China Lhasa
Central Subbranch, which was at fixed interest rate 3.65%. According to
the loan agreement, borrowing amount of RMB100,000,000 is fully settled
in 2023.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB75,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2021, and guaranteed
by a subsidiary of the Group and secured by the Group's factory plant and
land use rights. The interest rate was adjusted based on LPR announced
by the People's Bank of China Lhasa Central Sub-branch by adding 0.4%,
of which 2.0% interest is charged in advance, which will be refunded
when the relevant authority in the Chinese Central government refund
the interest allowances to the lender. According to the loan agreement,
borrowing amount of approximately RMB25,000,000, RMB25,000,000
and RMB25,000,000 are required to be repaid on 21 January 2022, 21
July 2022 and 18 January 2023 respectively. Accordingly, borrowing
amount of RMB50,000,000 was recorded as current liability and amount of
approximately RMB25,000,000 was recorded as non-current liability as at
31 December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group repaid the borrowing
amount of approximately RMB3,000,000. The remaining amount of
approximately RMB72,000,000 matured and fell due for repayment. The
Group renegotiated with the bank and extended the maturity date of the
loan to 18 January 2023. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
amount of approximately RMB72,000,000 was fully settled.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

32.

SBITERR(E)
RZE-_=ZFR-_FE-__F+=A
=t—B FERTEFTHAARE
sHE ©

GoE

(a)

REES D AR 100,000,0007T
MERARBEE T -_—F+_H
S+—BLEEHES hmAREIR
HHRE WU —HHEARZ5%H
iR —HERAT7%MREED
B FIRERBEARRITRES L
TOABHETRMNE - BEE M X
3.65% ° REEXHZE  EFABIA
R #100,000,000CER T -=4

2B -

REESEHARIET50000007T
MEZRARNEE_Z-_—F1+_-A
=+—RILEEHES BEAEE-—
BB ARRERE - TUREERN
BB R BREEE R - FIR KR
BRBREARBINEFRLZITAMRD
ERTSMEFENM0.4% ETHE -
HApBELENKR20%FE BRHPH
FRENEBABFHARERARENS
BENRE BREEIBZE EXE
34 A R 25,000,000 AR
25,000,000 K& A R # 25,000,000
TARER-ZZE-__F—-—A=+—
H ZZ-ZftA=-+—HRKZ=F
—=F—A+NAEE Al B=
T-—F+-A=+-H 2EAA
R ¥ 50,000,000 TH BRI AREE
&+ £ AR 25,000,000 7T 8 ZES
RIERBERE -

BE-_Z_—_F+HA=+—HL
FE AEECEEBROARE
3,000,000 Flep e BHOAR®
72,000,000 LEE|Hi{EE - AEEE
HTENHELEERIBATER
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HEZZ-=

FTZA=T-ALFRE

32. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

()

The balances include the following borrowings from banks:

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB100,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2021, and guaranteed
by a subsidiary of the Group and was pledged by 15% of an associate’s
equity interests. The loan is at variable interest rate of 1.85% per annum.
According to the loan agreement, borrowing amount of RMB100,000,000 is
required to be repaid on 18 November 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group repaid the borrowing
amount of approximately RMB2,000,000. The remaining amount of
approximately RMB98,000,000 matured and fell due for repayment. The
Group renegotiated with the bank and extended the maturity date of
the loan to 10 May 2023. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
borrowing was fully settled.

As at 31 December 2021,
approximately RMB110,000,000 was guaranteed by the Company and

the outstanding borrowing amount of

was secured by the land use right of a third party. The interest rate will
be adjusted according to the LPR for one-year loan every twelve months
throughout the repayment period. According to the loan agreement,
unpaid principal of RMB20,000,000, RMB40,000,000 and RMB50,000,000
15 August 2022 and 4
March 2023 respectively. Accordingly, borrowing amount of approximately
RMB60,000,000 was recorded as current liability as at 31 December 2021
and amount of approximately RMB50,000,000 was recorded as non-current
liability as at 31 December 2021.

are required to be repaid on 15 March 2022,

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group repaid the borrowing
amount of approximately RMB28,000,000. The remaining amount of
approximately RMB82,000,000 matured and fell due for repayment. The
Group renegotiated with the bank and extended maturity dates of the loan
amount of approximately RMB8,000,000 and RMB74,000,000 to 15 January
2023 and 4 March 2023 respectively. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the amount of approximately RMB82,000,000 was fully settled.

32. SBITEX
(=R

(@

AREKERARAT | F& 2023

K (#&)
(&)

BRERETIRITER

KEESELH AR 100,000,000
MEZXAREE-_Z=-—F+=-A
E+—B¢¢Fﬁ% CHEARRE—
BB ARIRERE - T h—HE
Qﬂw%%h%%%ﬁuigﬂmﬂ
BHFFEE1.85% - BREE R -
%% A AR #100,000,000 7T 5 {& 3
BRZZE_—_F+—A+/\BEE-

BE-ZT--f+=-A=+—-81
FE AEBECHEEGBROARE
2,000,000t Flr 2 BHOARE
98,000,000 L 2 EE - AEEE
RBETENHETEERINBALER

E-FT-=FRATH - REE=
Z=F+ZA=+—BLLFE " %fE

HEREEE -

%—%:f¢+—ﬂi+fav$E

BSR4 AR 110,000,000 7T £ A&
NARMER  WU—RE=FHL
HfE AR - REFRBHE —F
HEFMHEERBEERTIERETF
EENEARTHAZE - REERR
- AREEAXSL AR20,000000
T AR #40,000,0007T & A R

50,000,000 LB IR =T ==
—A+HEH - T4 NATHH

R-T-=F=AMAEE- B
%AEMwmwmmmhm -

——F+zZA=+-— EWHWQE
E*%AEM%D%&%E%ME%
—ZE-—F+-A=t+—-B3A¥ER
AR -

BE-_Z-__F+-A=+—ARL
FE KAEBECDEEEBROARE
28,000,0007C - Fltp 2 BHARE
82,000,000 c B B HifEiE - A& H
ERFTEFNHAIEABHARE
8,000,0007T & A K % 74,000,000 7T
ERIHANRERE-_T ==
¢ AtRBAR-ZE=-=F=ZAM@
HeRBZE-_T_=F+-A=+—
BEFE BRHEENHOARE
82,000,000 JLHY A
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32. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

230

(e)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB100,000,000
was newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2022 and was
secured by the pledge of 20% Shannan Yalaxiangbu's equity interests.
The interest rate was determined based on LPR announced by the People’s
Bank of China Lhasa Central Sub-branch, of which 2.0% interest is charged
in advance, which will be refunded when the relevant authority in the
Chinese Central government refund the interest allowances to the lender.
According to the loan agreement, unpaid principal of RMB30,000,000,
RMB30,000,000 and RMB40,000,000 are required to be repaid on 23
February 2023, 24 May 2023, and 20 June 2023 respectively. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, the borrowing was fully settled.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB90,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2023, and guaranteed
by the Company and a third party and was secured by the pledge of 35%
of a subsidiary’s equity interest, 7% of an associate's equity interests and
the Group's land use right. The interest rate was based on the directive
interest rate announced by the People’s Bank of China Lhasa Central
Subbranch, which was at fixed interest rate 3.45%. According to the loan
agreement, borrowing amount of RMB90,000,000 is required to be repaid
on 11 October 2024.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB60,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2023, and guaranteed
by the Company and a third party and was secured by the pledge of 35%
of a subsidiary’s equity interests, 7% of an associate’s equity interests and
the Group’s land use right. The interest rate was based on the directive
interest rate announced by the People’s Bank of China Lhasa Central
Subbranch, which was at fixed interest rate 3.45%. According to the loan
agreement, borrowing amount of RMB60,000,000 is required to be repaid
on 18 October 2024.
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32. WRITERA)

Bf5E -

(e)

(&)

REESELH AR 100,000,0007T
MiERARBEE-_T-_—+-A
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BREEFHZ KEELASARE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-Z-=H+-B=t-HI%E

32. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(h)

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB94,500,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2023, and guaranteed
by a subsidiary of the Group and was secured by the pledge of 20%
Shannan Yalaxiangbu's equity interests. The loan is at fixed interest rate of
1.45% per annum. According to the loan agreement, borrowing amount of
RMB94,500,000 is required to be repaid on 31 August 2024.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB80,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2023, was secured
by the land use right of a third party. The interest rate was based on the
directive interest rate announced by the People’s Bank of China Lhasa
Central Subbranch minus 2%, which was at fixed interest rate 1.65%.
According to the loan agreement, borrowing amount of RMB80,000,000 is
required to be repaid on 8 June 2024.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB102,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2023, and guaranteed
by a subsidiary of the Group and secured by the Group's factory plant
and land use rights. The interest rate was based on LPR announced by
the People’s Bank of China Lhasa Central Sub-branch by adding 0.4%,
of which 2.0% interest is charged in advance, which will be refunded
when the relevant authority in the Chinese Central government refund
the interest allowances to the lender. According to the loan agreement,
borrowing amount of approximately RMB18,000,000, RMB30,000,000
and RMB54,000,000 are required to be repaid on 22 May 2024, 22
November 2024 and 22 May 2024 respectively. Accordingly, borrowing
amount of RMB48,000,000 was recorded as current liability and amount of
approximately RMB54,000,000 was recorded as non-current liability as at
31 December 2023.

32. WRITERA)

Bf5E -

(h)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-="F+-A=+-BL%E

32. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 32. RITERE)
As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group's bank RZEZ=FRZT=Z=F+=A
borrowings were repayable as follows: =+—H - FAEBRTERNERD
(I

As at 31 December

R+=BA=+—8
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETTT

Within 1 year 15K 372,500 452,000
Between 1 year and 2 years 1822%F 54,000 —
426,500 452,000
33. CONVERTIBLE BOND - LIABILITY COMPONENT 33. ARRES-8EHD
The Company issued 5% convertible bonds with principal amount of ARBAR_ZEZ—F=ZA%T4%
HKD379,620,000 (equivalent to RMB317,702,000) (“the Convertible £379,620,000%8 JT(H & W A R &
Bonds”) at a total consideration of HKD379,620,000 (equivalent 317,702,000 7T ) B9 5% A ¥R &5 ([ 1
to RMB317,702,000) in March 2021. The Convertible Bonds are BRES ) - 4R(EA379,620,000%8
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, unsecured and with interest T(FEEMN AR 317,702,000 7T) ° 7]
calculated semi-annually. The bonds entitle the holders to convert BIRERABTIHE - BIER - F3F
them into ordinary shares of the Company at any time between the FERFE - BERFEARENES
date of issue of the bonds and the maturity date in March 2024 at FTARZZTWFE= ARIHA ZHN
a conversion price of HKDO0.74 per share (subject to anti-dilutive B UER0.74BTTHERE
adjustments). The bonds can be early redeemed upon certain events BB RESRHE) BEFBRAAR
at the option of the bondholders or the issuer. If the bonds have not RAMERR - BRFHBEALBITAN
been converted or redeemed, they will be redeemed in March 2024 BETREE T EHRRAEBRES o
at par value plus accrued interest. fEH T ERERRIER - EHERZ
ToWF= AREEMNEF 25 E
[ -
At initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component was RNEERE  AES2NARER
estimated at the issuance date using an equivalent market interest RETHHATESREZENED
rate for a similar bond without a conversion option. The residual RHEORETHHERMGE - Fgre
amount is assigned as the equity component and is presented in BRI AERSD  TEERIS
equity heading “other reserve”. The early redemption option is W E & R 27 o IZA0E B
considered as closely related to the host debt. The effective interest RRETEBEYERE - BEHIH
rate of the liability component is 7.69%. ERFERT.69% °
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HEZ_Z_=FT-A=t—HILFE

33. CONVERTIBLE BOND - LIABILITY COMPONENT (CONTINUED) 33. ARRES-8EHD#)
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Convertible Bonds BE_Z_—F+-_A=+—RBL#F
with the principle amount of HKD22,644,000 (equivalent to €+ AN$22,644,0008 T(HHE R A
RMB19,026,000) was converted into 30,600,000 new shares of the R 19,026,000 7T ) /9 A] #& H&F%L‘A
Company at a conversion price of HKD0.74 per share. BRO74ABTHHRREBRALRR

30,600,000 &A% 17

The fair value of the liability component of the Convertible Bonds RZZEZ=F+=-A=+—H A#
at 31 December 2023 amounted to RMB326,137,000 (2022: BREFEEHIIPNAABERARE
RMB342,379,000), which is calculated using cash flows discounted 326,137,000%(;;E::$ CARE
at the rate of 9.74% (2022: 10.51%) and is within level 3 of the fair 342,379,0007C ) * A #9.74% (=
value hierarchy. E--F1051%)FIRTENES

MEFE BROAEBEZANSS

o

=

]

The Convertible Bonds issued in 2021 have been split into the liability RIZZEZ-FHINTRRESFE®
and equity components as follows: DKAERERES AT
o RMB’000
ARBT R

Liability component at 1 January 2022 RZEZZF—-A—HNEEHRS 275,684
Interest expenses MEER 22,504
Interest paid/payable 2 ERFLE (15,313)
Exchange alignment BE 5 A& 25,821
Liability component at 31 December 2022 RZZZZF+ZA=+—AHkK

and 1 January 2023 TE-=F—A—HMEEXY 308,696
Interest expenses MEER 24,165
Interest paid/payable B TEMF B (16,035)
Exchange alignment bEE 5 B 4,528
Liability component at 31 December 2023 R-B-=+-A=+—-HAWEEHS 321,354
Subsequent to the year end, a total aggregate of the principal RELZR®E CEEFSRFEEH
and interest of approximately HKD167,928,000 (equivalent to #1167,928,0008 T(HHE R AR K
RMB152,411,000) have been repaid and the remaining principal has 152,411,0007T) * FIhASBEREA
been extended into short-term loan arrangements. KRR -
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HE-Z-=H+-R=+-HI%E

34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. RA&

Equivalent
Nominal nominal
Number of value of value of
ordinary ordinary ordinary
shares shares shares
ZREER
EBEREE EBREE HE
(thousands) HKD'000 RMB'000
(TR) THET ARBT R
Ordinary shares of HKD0.01 FRO.0TEBINEER -
each, issued and fully paid ERITRAR
Balance as at 1 January 2022 RZE-—F—A—HHEH 2,599,493 25,995 21,618
Share issued upon placing of fo & ¥ AR08 BITHI R 1D
new shares (Note (a)) (P (a)) 459,898 4,599 3,962
Balance as at 31 December 2022 HRZEZ—F+=-H=+—H
T 3,059,391 30,594 25,580
Share issued upon completion SERK AR 18 BT EV R (PR X (b))
of rights issue (Note (b)) 1,019,797 10,198 8,808
Balance as at 31 December 2023 HRZZEZ=F+=-H=+—H
B & ER 4,079,188 40,792 34,388
Notes: i
(@ On 21 July 2022, a total of 459,898,000 placing shares were successfully (a) MZTE-—_—E+A=-+—RH &%
placed to not less than six placees at the placing price of HKD0.425 per 459,898,000 IRELE R D E R ELE T
placing share. Further details were set out in the Company’s announcement TORRNEEBEA  BBEERERE
dated 21 July 2022. ER10.4258 7T - ELFHBEHRAL
AEMA-Z-_—F+tA-+—0H
YN
(b)  On 30 January 2023, a total of 1,019,797,000 new shares were successfully (b) RZTE-Z_=F—-—A=+H8  4#&
allotted and issued at the subscription price of HKD0.385 per rights share. 1,019,797,000 [ 387 & 17 B B Bt 3% J %
Further details were set out in the Company's announcement dated 27 7 REEABRKRHEBKAR?R0.3858

January 2023. T REHBHRARFRBHA-F
“EFE-A-TERAMAE -
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35. SHARES HELD FOR SHARE AWARD SCHEME 35. ARGRBETERENRS
Number of
Ordinary shares
(thousands)
TmREE RMB'000

() ARETTT

Balance as at 1 January 2022, R-ZE=-=Z%-A-8"
31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 —E--“f+Z-H=+—-8"
and 31 December 2023 —E-=f-A-HK
“EIZE+Z A=+t -BNER 65,626 173,037

On 18 August 2017, the Group adopted a share award scheme for
purposes of (i) encouraging or facilitating the holding of Shares
by the Selected Participants; (ii) encouraging and retaining certain
individuals to work with the Group; and (iii) providing incentive for
the Selected Participants to achieve performance goals. Based on the
rules of the scheme, the Group may grant shares of the Company to
eligible participants in the future.

On 8 September 2017, the Group entered an agreement with the
Trustee to establish the Share Award Trust, where the Trustee may
purchase or subscribe ordinary shares of the Company on behalf
of the Group from the open market, based on the instructions of
the Group. The Share Award Trust is consolidated in the Group's
consolidated financial statements as a special purpose entity.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, no share has been granted by
the Group to any parties under the above mentioned share award
scheme.

R-E—tE/\ATN\H  AEEK
m—TER I REE R BEN)HEH
RELET2HEERBRD : ()
FBRBET AL RAREETE - K
REEF2LREBEREWEFEHEE
B o RIBFERR - KRAKEA A
ABRSEERDARAMRD

R-TE—tFNLANR AEEET
FEART AL 10 5% DA R L B ) R B 7E
Bt REAATRBEAEENETAK
REARERAHMGEERREALR
AEER - RO REVEEIERFH A
NEEBRAKBRSHBRRES

R - =R -_E--F+_-A
=+—B AEEHERE ELKH
BEY R AT A A TR BERKG
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36. OTHER RESERVES 36. Hithf#fE
o Convertible
Statutory Currency bonds
Capital surplus  translation equity
reserve reserve reserve  component Total
EE TRRES
X BHLRES NERERE Exds @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR%TT ARMTr ARETrn AR¥ETrn AR%ETR
(note (i) (note (ii)) (note (iii)) (note (iv))
(H&E()) (WaEG))  (WaEGi) (W& (v)
Balance at 1 January 2022 RZEZZF-A-ANEH 32,847 185,498 (47,639) 17,917 188,623
Exchange differences on translation V)8 S8 &R A2 5| &%
from functional currency NEXER
to presentation currency — — (36,512) — (36,512)
Balance at 31 December 2022 WZE--F+-f=+-Hk
and 1 January 2023 “E-CE-A-ANEH 32,847 185,498 (84,151) 17,917 152,111
Exchange differences on translation  EM)a EB &R A2 5| &%
from functional currency MERER
to presentation currency — — 13,802 — 13,802
Balance at 31 December 2023 ~ R=B-=#+-F=+-H
e 32,847 185,498 (70,349) 17,917 165,913
notes: B e -
(i) Capital reserve )y ERRHE

Excess amounts contributed by shareholders on top of the share capital are

recorded as capital reserve. In addition, the reserve is used to record the

differences arisen as a result of transactions with non-controlling interests

that do not result in a loss of control, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HEZZ-=

FTZA=T-ALFRE

36. OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Statutory surplus reserve

According to the provisions of the articles of association of the PRC
subsidiaries, the PRC subsidiaries shall first set aside 10% of its profit
attributable to owners after tax as indicated in their statutory financial
statements for the statutory surplus reserve (except where the reserve
has reached 50% of the entity’s registered share capital) each year. PRC
subsidiaries may also make appropriations from its profit attributable to
shareholders to a discretionary surplus reserve, provided it is approved by a
resolution passed in a shareholders’ general meeting. These reserves cannot
be used for purposes other than those for which they are created and are
not distributable as cash dividends without the prior approval obtained
from the shareholders in a shareholders’ general meeting under specific

circumstances.

When the statutory surplus reserve is not sufficient to make good for any
losses of the PRC subsidiaries from previous years, the current year profit
attributable to the owners shall be used to make good the losses before any
allocations are set aside for the statutory surplus reserve.

The statutory surplus reserve, the discretionary surplus reserve and the
capital reserve of the PRC subsidiaries may be converted into share capital
of the PRC subsidiaries provided it is approved by a resolution passed in
a shareholders’ general meeting and meets other regulatory requirements
with the provision that the ending balance of the statutory surplus reserve
does not fall below 25% of the registered share capital amount. As at 31
December 2023 and 2022, the reserve of the PRC subsidiaries has reached
50% of the entity's registered share capital.

Currency translation reserve

Exchange differences arising from the difference between functional and
presentation currency are recognised in other comprehensive income and

accumulated in the reserve.
Convertible bond-equity component

This represents the equity portion of the Convertible Bonds. The entity shall
transfer the part initially included in other reserve to share premium upon

expiry.

36.

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)
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HE-ZZ

37.

238

SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of significant principal subsidiaries of the Group
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

37.

U= PN
RZEZ=FRZT=Z=F+=A
=t—H AEBEXREIZHBEAR
MBEMT :

Company name

ARER
Indirectly held:
BERE:

Place of incorporation and
business/date

of incorporation/

of legal entities

ERRIRERLY/

Tibet Glacier Mineral Water

Industry Development Co., Ltd*

ERIB Rk EEER
BRAR

Tibet Glacier Mineral
Water Co., Ltd.

Bk BRKBRAR

Beijing 5100 Management
Consulting Co., Ltd.

IRI-ERERANERD

Tibet Glacier Mineral
Water Marketing Co., Ltd.

ERIKIIBRKEHERAA
Tibet Tiandi Green Beverage

Development Co., Ltd.

ERARERRERARD

T

G

Issued/paid-in capital

AMALAY/LEEREY BB/ BERE
2023 2022
ot St S
PRC/1 January 2004/Limited USD16,000,000  USD16,000,000
liability company
wE/-FERF-A-R/ 16,000,000%7%  16,000,000%7T
ERARE
PRC/31 October 2005/Limited ~~ RMB118,000,000  RMB118,000,000
liability company
wE/ZFTRETA=T-B/ ARE N
ERAR 118,000,000 70 118,000,000
PRC/13 July 2007 Limited RMB1,000,000 RMB1,000,000
liability company
t8/-FEtELATZR/  AR1,000000% ARH1,0000007
ERAA
PRC/21 April 2010/Limited RMB3,000,000 RIMB3,000,000
liability company
wE/ZF-TEMAZT-B/ AR30000007% AR%3,0000007
ERAR
PRC/28 April 2009/ RMB200,000,000  RMB200,000,000
Limited liability company
HE/ZEENERAZTNB/ AEH N
BRAH 200,000,000 70 200,000,0007
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Effective interest held

Principal activities

BB AL IEED
2023 2022
ZEC=E B

100% 100%  Investment holding
RERR

100% 100%  Water products
manufacturing and
sales and leasing
2 HEREEKER

100% 100%  Water products market
operation
and management
KEmTHEERER

100% 100%  Water products marketing,
promotion, distribution
and retail
S EE AHR
FEKED

100% 100%  Beer manufacturing
and sales
BEEERHE
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37. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 37. MEBRRE)
ié:/w Place of incorporation and
business/date
of incorporation/
Company name of legal entities Issued/paid-in capital Effective interestheld  Principal activities
AMRIRE$HE/
S HMALAE/ tEEREL BEfT/BERE ERfeER L)1)
Indirectly held: 2023 2022 2023 2022
BEEE: 2= “F--F  CECZE CEoCF
Wealth Keeper Limited Hong Kong/30 October HKD1 HKD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited liability 2012/ Limited liability company
Wealth Keeper Limited Bk/-F-—5tB=tR/ 187 1T REBR
ERAR
Tibet 5100 Water Resources Hong Kong/6 September 2013/ HKD100 HKD100 100% 100%  Investment holding
(HK) Limited Limited liability company
BESI0KER(ER)ERAR  BE/“2-=#AARE/ 10087 100787 RERR
ERAR
Hong Kong Fairly Well Hong Kong/23 May 2016/Limited HKD1 HKD1 100% 100%  Lending service
Capital Limited liability company
EATEARRRLA &#/_3-r"ERAZTZR/ 1%7 187 HERK
ERAR
Center Faithful Limited Hong Kong/2 January 2019/ HKD1 HKD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited liability company
PAELRARAR E#/_3-NE-AzR/ 1%7 187 RERK
ERAR
Tibet 5100 Water Resources Ltd. ~ British Virgin Islands/19 UsD1,000 USD1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
January 2006/Limited liability company
liability company
B# 5100 KERERAR RERAER/TTE 1,000%7% 1,000%7 REZR
—-A+NB/BRAR
* The subsidiary has changed its name from Tibet Zhongji Jiahua Industry Co., * ZHBRARINEBER T _=FNA
Ltd to Tibet Glacier Mineral Water Industry Development Co., Ltd. on 14 THREARTREZEXERAR
September 2023. REBAFERKIBERKEXERER
RAR e

EHAEFRERAT | £82023 239



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 38. ®RERESHERMTE
The Group holds the following financial instruments: AEERATIERMIA:

a As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at amortised cost NERK A ENSREE
— Trade receivables —RWE S 181,898 190,499
— Loan receivables —EWER 75,369 —
- Other financial assets — BB A ENEMEREE
at amortised cost 1,006,965 980,228
- Cash and cash equivalents -RERREEEY 21,758 58,147
1,285,990 1,228,874
Financial liabilities cRAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost DESRK A ENSRBE
- Trade and notes payables -ENE SR NENERE 153,940 246,918
- Accruals and other payables —TRRBAREMEMNK 153,491 161,628
- Bank borrowings —RITIEK 426,500 452,000
- Lease liabilities -MHE&aE 2,182 788
- Convertible bonds -liability —ARRESF-AESH
component 321,354 308,696
1,057,467 1,170,030
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BE-Z-=H+-B=t-HI%E

39. NET DEBT RECONCILIATION 39. BERFEHRYE
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in AEEHFNEBFENDITRE 25 H
net debt for each of the periods presented. RERFENEE -

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—-RHLEE

2023 2022
—E_=F —E-F
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETTT

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 27) RekBReFEBM(NE27) 21,758 58,147
Borrowings — repayable within fER—ER—FREE(HE32)

one year (Note 32) (372,500) (452,000)
Borrowings — repayable after fER—ER—FREE(MF32)

one year (Note 32) (54,000) —
Borrowings from third parties (Note 31)  F=HEH(FHFE31) (8,796) (4,857)
Convertible bonds - liability component — AJ#EEH —BELD (321,354) (308,696)
Lease liabilities (Note 15) HEBE(PHEE5) (2,182) (788)
Net debt BHFE (737,074) (708,194)
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising TR AEEREETDELENEE
from financing activities. Liabilities arising from financing activities MEBFE RMETBHELNEED
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, EREMEBIRKERAEEGZER
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash EMEXRFNEABETHRERA
flows from financing activities. ReneEmasE -
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39. NET DEBT RECONCILIATION (CONTINUED) 39. BEFHEYKRE)
Borrowings
Bank  from third Convertible Lease
borrowings parties Bonds liabilities Total
RITER FZHER ATERES HEAE st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTRE AR%TR AR%TR AR%TR AR%Tx

Balance at 1 January 2022 RZE-—F—f—H

EOFeo (485,000) (5,175) (275,684) — (765,859)
New lease entered AL — — — (1,270) (1,270)
Cash flows RenE 33,000 6,241 — 557 39,798
Foreign exchange adjustments B A — (448) (25,821) (31) (26,300)
Other non-cash movements HiIER &R E — (5,475) (7,191) (44) (12,710)
Balance at 31 December 2022 RZZEZ=ZF+=A

and 1 January 2023 =t+—-BR-ZE-_=%F

—A—H0E% (452,000) (4,857) (308,696) (788) (766,341)
New lease entered AL = = = (2,732) (2,732)
Cash flows ReRe 25,500 (3,788) — 1,449 23,161
Foreign exchange adjustments B 5 — (104) (4,528) (8) (4,640)
Other non-cash movements Hin B2 mE = (47) (8,130) (103) (8,280)

Balance at 31 December 2023 R-ZBE-=F+Z-A4
=+ —-BHEE (426,500) (8,796) (321,354) (2,182) (758,832)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-Z-=H+-B=t-HI%E

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE OF THE 40. AQTRHBERRAERKFHE

COMPANY

(@) Statement of financial position

(a) BMBERRE

As at 31 December

R+t=BA=+-—-8H
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFIT
Non-current asset FRBEE
Interest in subsidiaries RHE R RR R 1,846,270 1,477,375
Current assets REEE
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEED 97 8,705
Prepayment FER A 642 2,742
Total current assets REEEHASE 739 11,447
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables Hth e 63,202 44,636
Convertible bonds - liability component I &% — B EHLD 321,354 —
Total current liabilities REEEAE 384,556 44,636
Net current liabilities hRBEEFE (383,817) (33,189)
Total assets less current liabilities EEEAERREBARS 1,462,453 1,444,186
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Convertible bonds - liability component — A[# & &5 — B & — 308,696
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIBAE 371 1,700
Total non-current liabilities FRBEELE 371 310,396
Net assets EERE 1,462,082 1,133,790
Capital and reserves BEARR#E
Share capital R 34,388 25,580
Reserves 15 1,427,694 1,108,210
Total equity AR 1,462,082 1,133,790
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z =S+ -A=t+-HL%EE

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE OF THE 40. ARAPBMRRRKEEE)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
(@) Statement of financial position (continued) (a) HEMREKE)
note: Movement in the Company’s reserves s« RARREE
for share
Share award Other  Accumulated
premium scheme reserves losses Total
RGGE HESENRG Hitffe 2itEE b
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

Balance at 1 January 2022 RZBZZ§-A-Amks 1,243,985 (173,037) 18,905 (178,392) 911,461
Loss for the year EREE — — — (56,546) (56,546)
Exchange differences on translation YR EBRE RIS

from functional currency to MESEHE

presentation currency - — 90,251 - 90,251
Total comprehensive loss cEEEAE — — 90,251 (56,546) 33,705
Placing of new shares REMRS 164,405 - — - 164,405
Transaction costs attributable to REMRHEENI AN

placing of new shares (1,361) - — — (1,361)
Balance at 31 December 2022 RIZZZF+ZA=1-H

and 1 January 2023 kZZ-=£-f-H

ok 1,407,029 (173,037) 109,156 (234,938) 1,108,210

Loss for the year FREE — - — (39,598) (39,598)
Exchange differences on translation EVIEA St =g

from functional currency MEXZE

to presentation currency = = 32,524 = 32,524
Total comprehensive loss rHEFEEE — - 32,524 (39,598) (7,074)
Share issued upon completion of TREREEITHRG

rights issue 330,300 = = = 330,300
Transaction costs attributable TR SHA

upon completion of right issues (3,742) = = = (3,742)
Balance at 31 December 2023 WZBZ=#+=B=t-H

ioketo3 1,733,587 (173,037) 141,680 (274,536) 1,427,694
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-=F+-A=+-HLFE
41. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 41, EEEFNRES
(@) Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments (a) EZERTFETHAEME

BEERTETHAEHE_Z
=+ A=+ -BILEER

The remuneration of each Director and the chief executive for
the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

ST -
<%//v;‘/,r\//\’/_\\/‘\A/r\//\’/_\"/\,/‘\A/r\//\’/_\"/\/‘\/\/r\//\’/_\\/‘\/vx/r\//\’/\’/_\\/‘\/7
Salary Employer's
allowances, contribution
and benefits Discretionary  to benefit
Name ek Fee in kind bonuses scheme Total
e RER
ik BNER WA HE JHE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR%Tn AR%ETn AR%ETn AR%ETxn
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yan Qingjiang (note viii) BB TR E (i vii) — 835 16 9 860
Mr. Chow Wai Kit (note i) R 5 A (B i) — 1,482 119 16 1,617
Mr. Cheng Gwan Sing (note iii) B3R A (P i) - 2,255 45 16 2,316
Mr. Yue Zhigiang (note vii) EER T (st vi) — 661 — — 661
Chief Executive Officer THAR
Mr. Wang Dong I®%H — 1,514 — 16 1,530
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Jiang Xiaohong ZRIT AL 895 — — — 895
Mr. Xie Kun (note iv) ML (HF) = — — — -
Mr. Wei Zheming (note v) HERLE (M) = = = = —
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Lo Wai Hung BEELE 537 — — — 537
Ms. Lin Ting (note vi) MEL (FizEvi) 135 — — — 135
Dr. Zhang Chunlong (note vi) REEEL(HEv) 2,354 — — 16 2,370
3,921 6,747 180 73 10,921
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-=H+-R=+-HI%E

41. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) 41, EEEARERE)
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued) (a) EBRFETHRAEM2(Z)
The remuneration of each Director and the chief executive for BEERFETHRABHEZE-Z
the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below: —ZHF+ZRA=+—HILFEN
HENESIT

Salary Employer's
allowances, contribution
and benefits  Discretionary to benefit

Name jiE Fee in kind bonuses scheme Total
e 2ER
we EWEF WEEL SRS @t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL  ARBTRL  ARETR ARETR  ARETR

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yan Qingjiang (note viii) BEIEE

(B2 viii) — 1,433 113 15 1,561
Mr. Chow Wai Kit (note ii) BB () — 1,416 113 15 1,544
Mr. Cheng Gwan Sing (note iii) B4R & (i) - 1,035 83 10 1,128
Chief Executive Officer THAR
Mr. Wang Dong TREE - 1,292 - 15 1,307
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Jiang Xiaohong ZBILL 854 — — — 854
Mr. Xie Kun (note iv) HEEE W) — - - - -
Mr. Wei Zheming (note v) HERLE (M) — - - - -
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES

Directors

Mr. Tang Zeping (note i) BERTEE (i) 231 — — — 231
Mr. Lo Wai Hung BEELE 513 — — — 513
Mr. Dai Yang (note i) FIEEE ) 239 — — — 239
Ms. Lin Ting (note vi) ME L (FEvi) 62 — — — 62
Dr. Zhang Chunlong (note vi) REEBEL(FEv) 1,186 — — 8 1,194

3,085 5,176 309 63 8,633
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-Z-=H+-B=t-HI%E

41. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) 41, ESENRERE)
(@) Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments (continued) (a) EERTFETBAEME(Z)
notes: Mgt -

(i)

(ii)

Mr. Tang Zeping and Mr. Dai Yang retired as independent non-
executive Directors on 30 June 2022.

Mr. Chow Wai Kit was appointed as executive Director with
effect with 1 January 2022. The emolument shown above was the
aggregate amount of RMB242,000 (2022: RMB232,000) for his
services as a Director and RMB1,375,000 (2022: RMB1,312,000) for
his services as a Company Secretary.

Mr. Cheng Gwan Sing was appointed as executive Director on 25
May 2022.

(U

(i)

EETEEREBAER-E
CTCFERAZTHEREBEIHE
HITEE -

AERGELIEEZEBNITE
E-RZE-ZF—F—H4&E
Mo LiiMenEREIEEMN
& AR #242,0000(= F
—Z—fF: AR#¥232,0007T)
REFARWENHE ARE
1,375,000 (T - —F: A
61,312,000 7T ) B0 40%8 -

HPREFR T __FHA
“+hHAEZERRITES -

(iv)  Mr. Xie Kun was appointed as non-executive Director with effect vy MEEEEBZERIFNTE
with 1 January 2022. E R-E-—F—F-AB4%
o
(v)  Mr. Wei Zheming was appointed as non-executive Director on 25 () BEBEEER-_ZT-_—_FHA
May 2022. —+RARZAAFRTES -
(vi)  Ms. Lin Ting and Dr. Zhang Chunlong were appointed as independent (viy MEZLIRRFEBELIR-Z
non-executive Directors on 8 July 2022. ZZE+LANBEZEABL
FHTEE -
(vii)  Mr. Yue Zhigiang has been appointed as an executive Director with (vi) EEREEBRZEARPITE
effect from 21 July 2023. ERIE=FLAZ+—
HAEM -
(viii)  Mr. Yan Qingjiang resigned as executive Director on 21 July 2023. (vii) BEILER-_T-=F+A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-="F+-A=+-BL%E

41.

248

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments (continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Group or the five highest paid
employees or senior managements as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of the non-director, highest paid employees and senior
management waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. There was no
arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals, including Directors, as an inducement to
join the Group or as compensation for loss of office other
than those disclosed above. In addition, during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no directors waived any
emoluments.

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no retirement
benefits operated by the Group were paid or made, directly
or indirectly, to or receivable by a director in respect of his
services as a director or other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries
(2022: nil).
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EEENRERE)
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(b)
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HEE SBEEEE T
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SHIERBBMEE - 1IN BE
TR CZER-E-_—F+_A
ST-HLEFE TEEEHE
EAEE -

EEERER
BE-ZT-=%+ZA=+—H
HEE HBREEEIBERNES
IR S fEH A S BIEE MRIK
B NERESBRBREHEL
NAISEMBARZ EHEEN
HA RS M E E RN RIKER
(ZZ——F |-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBHRRM T

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-Z-=H+-B=t-HI%E

41. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

()

(d)

(e)

)

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no payments or
benefits in respect of termination of director's services were
paid or made, directly or indirectly, to or receivable by a
director; nor are any payable (2022: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making available
directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no consideration
was provided to or receivable by third parties for making
available director’s services (2022: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
(2022: nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2022: nil).

EEENRERE)
() EE=ERBEAN

(d)

(e)

(f)

BE_Z-_=F+-ZA=+—H
HEE  SBERESRBRLE
B R E SRR S AEL E A
FIBSLEN - EFMEENFR
SEMRERERK(ZEZZ
FoE)e

HEERBRE=FRHENRE
BE-ZT-=F+ZA=+—H
HEE TEAEEREAE=
FRERE  E=ATEERKK
B(ZZ—=F: &)

ARNUES ES2XEHEE
FREREARTANENR - &
EXREMRZNER
MENES EFXRH)EE
LABERARAEANEN &
EXSEMRH (2T
&) -

EENRG  REREHMEKX
R
RERLRFERIMER - HE
FEARRNAERTTAR BARAR
EENETHREEAEZ(THR
ERSMRE)NESEEXBER
MEARS  THEREH(ZE
TTE |
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-Z-="F+-A=+-BL%E

42. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a) Capital commitments
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, capital expenditures
contracted for but not yet incurred were as follows:

ABNBREE

(a) BEARMEE
RIE-=ZFR-_T-_—F+=
A=+—8 CiIYBEHREL
ZERBAITWT

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+t—HLFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT

Property, plant and equipment mE - WENEE

14,293 4,959

(b) Contingent liabilities

The Group provided financial guarantee net amounting to
RMB245,000,000 to an associate as at 31 December 2023
(2022: RMB265,000,000). The guarantee was provided for
bank borrowings obtained by the associate in the amount
of RMB245,000,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB135,000,000 bank borrowings and RMB130,000,000
bank acceptance note). The period of the guarantee for net
amount RMB160,000,000 is from 27 September 2023 to 27
September 2024 (2022: RMB160,000,000 is from 13 October
2022 to 13 October 2023). The period of the remaining
guarantee amounting to RMB85,000,000 is from 15 July 2021
to 15 July 2024 (2022: remaining guarantee amounting to
RMB105,000,000 is from 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2024).
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(b) HAEE
RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—8"
AEBER—FEEERAREN
% & 1R % 58 A R 245,000,000
THZZEZZF: AR K
265,000,0007C ) © Z ERTD A
—E-=f+-RB=1+—H#¥
ENRIMBHRITERARKE
245,000,0007C & #(= T = =
F ﬁﬁF%AEMBSWOWO
TRRTEALEZARE
130,000,0007C ) » 8 A R &
160,000,000 TCHIFE (R EARR A —
TZFAAZ+HtEHE-E N
FAAZTHER(ZZZZF: A
R # 160,000,000 7T H) # /5 A —
EZZFTRAT=HEZZT==
F+A+T=R) - WBRABHARE
85,000,000 LW ERHR A=Z
——F+ATHBE-_T_MF
+A+RBA(ZE-—F: ftA
21A R 105,000,000 LAY HE(RER
BA-Z-_—F+tA+HAZE=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-Z-=H+-B=t-HI%E

43. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 43. BBARS
Related parties are those parties that have the ability to control the BRI AL SIE S S — A
other party or exercise significant influence in making financial and BRISERRENERTZENAL -
operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they HEEHIEEIMEE R@ET -

are subject to common control.

(@) Transactions with related parties (a) EERAEEFMRS

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+t—HLFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT

Revenue RE TFIEEEHRA
— Rental income from associates —REBERANEEKA 6,744 6,744
— Sales of raw materials and consumables —[AJB & 2 A)$E & KE T
used of water products to associates F R R B R FEM 387 6,032

- Sales of water products to associates —HEKERTHERT 10,955 12,198
- Sales of beer products to an associate  — HERAER T M E QA 292 1,315
Purchase of raw materials and Rk i 1 R A B R AR IR FE A

consumables from associates 186,018 155,992
Financial guarantee for an associate —fRIBE & DRI I HE R

(Note 42(b)) (P 42(b)) 245,000 265,000
Above were the transactions between the Group and associates NEAREEHEBEENR(BERRX
including Highland Natural Water, Fudi Packaging and Life K BHBERERZKEH) 2ME
Water Marketing. The transactions were based on agreed terms MRH ZERHHERBHEANA
among the parties involved. 1% E B ST T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-ZZ

43. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

252

ZFTZA=+-RALEFE

Balances with related parties:

The balances with related parties are as follows:

43,

BEARE (&)

(b)

SR AR

BB T RN T

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—HLFE

Prepayment R RIE

— Fudi Packaging — BB E

- Shannan Yalaxiangbu — B EN
Trade receivables EWE 5K

- Life Water Marketing — 42 KEH

Other financial assets at amortised cost
Amounts due from associates:
- Fudi Packaging

NESRATENEEREE

FE MBS & X R FROR
—BEE

- Highland Natural Water —RRRAK
Dividend receivables from an associate: ~ JEUE &R AIALE -

- Highland Natural Water (Note 24) —BBRRAK(HE24)
Trade payable ERE SR

- Life Water Marketing — 42 KEH

Other payable Ho At fET 318

- Life Water Marketing — 42 KEH

2023
—E-=F
RMB'000
AR¥T

115,583
100

115,683

75

16,300
7,782

34,805

58,887

2022
—E-—F
RMB'000

ARETT

91,176
451
91,627

1,929

13,551

34,805

48,356

2,504

14,500
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE_Z_=F1+_A=t-BLFE

43. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
() Key management compensation
The compensation paid/payable to key management is shown
below:

43,

BBARE (&)

(0 EREBAREHM
B/ N EEEE A B SR
E 1P U

Year ended 31 December

BET-RA=t—-HLEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —TE-F
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETTT

Salaries and other short-term FehEMTHESET
employee benefits 10,921 8,633
44. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 44, BEHBREIE

On 21 February 2024, the Company completed the placing of new
shares under general mandate. A total of 500,000,000 placing shares
have been successfully placed to not less than six placees at the
placing price of HK$0.218 per placing share. The use of net proceeds
for this placing is for partial redemption of the Convertible Bonds and
for general working capital of the Group. Further details were set out
in the announcement of the Company dated 21 February 2024.

45. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board
and authorised for issue on 28 March 2024.

45,

RZEZMFE-_A=Z+—H  ARQA
BRE-—REETKESHRD - &
500,000,000 f% Bt & B% 15 2 B 2h Bid &
FRLRANEEREA  BREEBATR
RER7M0.2188 L - REFMBEHE
FREAREEBERI D TRRES
LCREREEN —REEER - %
FREENARRARAE-ZT_MF=
A-+—B®MAE -

RS M ®RR
BEMBRRCHEZEN T -0
FZAZTN\BHERIRETEE -
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DEFINITIONS

AR

Glossary

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following

expressions shall have the following meanings:

“Allowance for "ECL

financial assets”

“Audit Committee”

"Board”

“Central Pension Scheme”

"CG Code”

“CGUs”

“China” or "PRC"

“Clp”

"CODM"

“Company Secretary’

“Company”

254

" on

4

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

Allowance for expected credit loss on
financial assets;

the audit committee of the Company;

the board of Directors;

a central pension scheme operated by the
local municipal governments;

the Corporate Governance Code set out in
Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules;

the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units);

the People’s Republic of China which,
for the purpose of this annual report,
excludes Hong Kong, the Macau Special
Administrative Region of the People’s
Republic of China and Taiwan;

Construction-in-progress;

the chief operating decision maker;

the company secretary of the Company;
Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (FEI/KERE
fRA7]), a company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands on 8 November 2010 as an
exempted company and the issued Shares

of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange;
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DEFINITIONS
R

“Conceptual Framework”

“Convertible Bonds”

“Defined Contributions
Scheme”

“Director(s)”

“Financial assets at “FVTPL""

“Financial assets at “FVTOCI"”

“Fudi Packaging”

"Group”

“GT Express”

“Highland Natural Water”

"HKD"

the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued by International
Accounting Standards Board in March
2018;

5% convertible bonds with principal

amount of HK$379,620,000 (equivalent to
RMB317,702,000);

the MPF Scheme and the Central Pension
Scheme;

the director(s) of the Company;

Financial assets at fair value through profit

or loss;

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income;

Tibet Fudi Natural Beverage Packaging Ltd.;

the Company and its subsidiaries;

GT Express (Beijing) Information Technology

Co., Ltd.;

Tibet Highland Natural Water Limited,

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong;

[BESAER

[ A

[ ket 8l

(&%)
[TARREEFER
HEFHT ABRH]
NEBEE ]
[TARREEFER
HE BT AEM
EH W 1
EREE]

[fEit k]

[R&H

[BRAAK]

oyl
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BLHERARK
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BRREEAELPRR
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WRABEGEER
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WA BENEAR
BB AL ESL
OB WA
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“Latest Practicable Date”

“Listing Rules”

“LPR"

“MPF Scheme”

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

24 April 2024, being the latest practicable
date prior to the printing of this annual
report for ascertaining certain information
therein;

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities

on the Stock Exchange;

Loan Prime Rate;

Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefit scheme;
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[R&EERATAES]

[ EmARAl

[ESRTERERNE ]

K3 aae
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DEFINITIONS
AR
"HKICPA" Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public ~ [HEEFMAE] BAESHMAE:
Accountants;
"HKSAs" Hong Kong Standards on Auditing; (BB BREITEL
“HLB" HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited  [Biff] BEetMmEBmE
Certified Public Accountants; BRAFIFESETAD ;
“Hong Kong Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited:; [ B AR AT BEBMARSIMABER
or “Stock Exchange” [ B 22 T NG
“Hong Kong"” or “HKSAR” the Hong Kong Special Administrative  [&/# sk HEAREMBES
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DEFINITIONS

“Nomination Committee”

"PPRE"

"PRC subsidiaries”

“Remuneration Committee”

“Reporting Period”

"Risk Management
Committee”

"RMB”

“SFO"

“Shannan Yalaxiangbu

“Share Award Trust”

“Share(s)”

“Shareholder(s)”

“Tibet Life Water
Marketing”

“Trustee”

"

q

the nomination committee of the Company;

Property, plant and equipment;

the Group's subsidiaries located in PRC;

the remuneration committee of the

Company;

the year ended 31 December 2023;

the risk management committee of the

Company;

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC;

the Securities and Futures Ordinance,

Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong;

Tibet Shannan Yalaxiangbu Industrial Ltd.;

share award scheme trust;

ordinary share(s) of HKD0.01 each in the

capital of the Company;

holder(s) of Share(s);

Tibet Life Water Marketing Co., Ltd;

Bank of Communications Trustee Ltd.;
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DEFINITIONS

AR

“Usbh” United States dollars, the lawful currency of
United Stated;

"VAT" value-added tax;

“Water Cards Sales

Arrangement” products to certain distributors or end
customers are made in form of water cards;
%" per cent; and
v for identification purpose only.

References to time and dates in this Annual Report are to Hong Kong time

and dates.

* The English names of the PRC entities, PRC laws or regulations, and the PRC
governmental authorities referred to in this annual report are translations
from their Chinese names and are for identification purposes. If there is any

arrangement under which sales of water

inconsistency, the Chinese names shall prevail.
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